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This Annual Report of the Education Labour Relations 
Council (ELRC) is an important record of achievements 
during the 2011/2012 fi nancial year. I commend this 
report to Parliament and all those with an interest in 
education. 

The Council played an essential role in the launch of the 
Strategic Planning Framework for Teacher Education 
and Development in April 2011, a product of the 
Teacher Development Summit of 2009. The Framework 
places teachers at the centre of ongoing development 
while providing for active teacher participation and 
encouraging the establishment of communities of teacher 
professionals. 

We commend the positive work of the Council in the 
provinces, which supports our goal to establish a quality 
education system. The achievements of the Council 
during the period under review once again confi rm that 
it is our devout passion for education that endows in 
us courage and vision to explore limitless possibilities, 
despite the many challenges we face.  

It is evident that the Council has made great advances 
during the 2011/2012 fi nancial period, and these 
advances were due to the willingness of the Council’s 
employees to work as a team. 

On behalf of the Ministry of Basic Education, I extend a 
warm word of gratitude for all the Council’s efforts and 
wish the ELRC well in its future endeavours. 

Mrs Angie Motshekga, MP
Minister of Basic Education

MESSAGE FROM 
MINISTER OF 

BASIC EDUCATION



It is a great honour to introduce the Education Labour 
Relations Council’s Annual Report for the 2011/2012 
reporting period. The Department of Basic Education is 
pleased to be party to the Council, and welcomes the 
achievements of the Council during the period under 
review. 

The Council continued its efforts to advance the 
delivery of its core services by providing professional 
development and training for its dispute practitioners, 
negotiators, intermediaries and commissioners during 
the period under review. Training was provided on labour 
law, case management and capacity building. A total of 
266 dispute practitioners and panelists were trained in 
the 2011-12 fi nancial year, as opposed to the 151 trained 
in the previous fi nancial year.

The period under review was marred by major unrest in 
the Eastern Cape. The Council contributed to the effort 
to combat the diffi culties experienced in the province, by 
assisting education stakeholders with the reinstatement 
of temporary educators in the province. A Memorandum 
of Agreement was concluded between the Premier of the 
Eastern Cape and the MEC for Education in the Eastern 
Cape as well as other key stakeholders, which directed 
the Chamber’s activities with regard to Post Provisioning 
in the province. The ELRC provided facilitation on Post 
Provisioning Norms (PPN) and the reinstatement of 
temporary educators in the Eastern Cape.

The Council has also undertaken to establish dispute 
prevention committees in the 2012/2013 fi nancial period to 
fi nalise grievances lodged within education departments. 
These activities are in line with the Ministerial objective to 
improve the quality of public education.

I would like to thank the General Secretary of the ELRC 
and the staff of the Council for their resolute efforts 
during this fi nancial year to fulfi ll the core objectives of 
the Council, and for their dedication to the realisation of a 
quality public education sector.

Mr Bobby Soobrayan
Director-General of Basic Education

FOREWORD  BY THE 
DIRECTOR GENERAL



VISION AND MISSION

VISION

To improve the quality of teaching and learning through labour peace.

MISSION & MOTTO

Quality services for excellence in teaching.

ORGANISATIONAL VALUES

The ELRC has adopted the following values:

• Professionalism:  promote behaviour that is generally accepted to be correct 
and proper;

•  Transparency: ensure access to information by citizens;

•  Independance:   the right to making informed decisions independently that 
minimise or avoid confl icts of interest;

• Accountability:   accepting responsibility for decisions taken with allowance 
for corrective action and penalty for wrong doing;

•  Fairness and equity: adjudication of grievances and disputes;

•  Socal Reponsibility:  respond to the social issues of the day;

•  Effi ciency: delivery of quality services economically.



It is with great pleasure to present the Education Labour 
Relations Council Annual Report for the fi nancial year 
1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012, which demonstrates our 
commitment to quality education in the public education 
sector. 

The mandate of the Council is to provide labour relations 
services to key stakeholders in education.

The Council was able to perform its mandatory functions 
with a high level of professionalism.  The performance 
of the council in the Eastern Cape continues to be 
of concern and steps are being taken to assist in the 
resolution of issues that continue to have unintended 
consequences on the overall performance. Workshops 
will be convened to address and revisit the strategic plan 
and intervention strategies in a bid to assist provincial 
chambers to resuscitate their activities. 

I extend my thanks to the ELRC management and staff 
for the strides made during the 2011/2012 reporting 
period. 

 

MS D Sekabate
Chairperson, ELRC

MESSAGE BY THE 
CHAIRPERSON



PREAMBLE

It gives me great pleasure to present the Annual Report 
and achievements of the Education Labour Relations 
Council (ELRC) for the fi nancial year 1 April 2011 to 
31 March 2012.

During the period under review, the ELRC fulfi lled its 
mandate to promote and maintain labour peace in public 
education, by ensuring that the objectives of the Council 
were met with improved effi ciencies in the resolution of 
disputes. The Dispute Management Section managed 
to fi nalise 457 (90%) of disputes during the 2011/2012 
fi nancial year, this is 150 more than the 307 (63%) 
fi nalised in the 2010/2011 fi nancial period.

The ELRC continued to offer support to teachers living 
with and affected by HIV/AIDS, through its PCTA project. 
During the period under review, the ELRC-PCTA focused 
its efforts to reach 500 schools through its network of 
trained master trainers and peer educators across 
the provinces, through a newly developed curriculum 
designed to meet the special needs of educators. The 
ELRC forged closer collaborations with the Department 
of Basic Education (DBE) in a bid to contribute towards 
the attainment of Outcome 1 of the DBE’s Schooling 
2025 initiative, which calls for the improved quality of 
Basic Education. During the 2011/2012 fi nancial period, 
20,987 educators and support staff were reached through 
school based and union events. 

As the Accounting Offi cer of the ELRC, I am satisfi ed 
with the output and delivery of the core business services 
of the Council. This report demonstrates the commitment 
of the Council to the principles of transparency, 
accountability and service delivery.

 

Mr M Govender
General Secretary



ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY’S 

REPORT

ADOPTON OF THE ELRC ANNUAL REPORT AND THE AUDITED ANNUAL 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 1 APRIL 2011 TO 31 

MARCH 2012

The Accounting Offi cer tabled this report to the Accounting Authority at its Annual 

General Meeting (AGM) held on 16 August 2012.

The AGM took place at: Mount Grace Country House Hotel

 Rustenburg Road

 Magaliesburg

At the AGM, the Accounting Authority accepted the report as tabled by the 

Accounting Offi cer.

The Accounting Authority unanimously adopted the report.

The Accounting Authority has perused the Accounting Offi cer’s report and 

is satisfi ed that the ELRC has discharged its responsibilities as a bargaining 

council and has met its obligations in terms of its constitution and the PFMA.

Accounting Offi cer Chairperson
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1.  INTRODUCTION

This is not an audited performance report, but rather presents highlights from the Accounting Offi cer’s report. An audited 

performance report, in terms of the PFMA, will be tabled at the ELRC AGM on 16 August 2012 

This report highlights key activities of the ELRC for the Financial Year 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012. 

1.1  The Council 

The Education Labour Relations Council derives its authority from the Labour Relations Act (Act 66 of 1995) as amended 

and its constitution, and is a registered public entity that complies with the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) of 

1999, and with Treasury Regulations. 

The overriding aim of the ELRC is to provide labour relations services to its key stakeholders in their pursuit of providing 

quality services in public education.

The core business of the Council is:

1. To provide an independent and impartial forum for the resolution of disputes in the sector; and

2. To provide a forum for negotiations and consultations in matters of mutual interest in the sector at both national and 

provincial levels. 

1.2 History 

The ELRC was established in 1994 as an effective platform for negotiations between educators in public education and the 

employer, the Department of Basic Education (DBE). The operations of the ELRC have created a high degree of stability 

in employer-employee relations in public education and it has played a major role in maintaining labour peace in public 

education

The ELRC established nine provincial offi ces in 1995 to assist in processes and forums in the provincial sector. The 

establishment of provincial chambers led to greater accessibility of all parties of the ELRC. 

Some of the ELRC’s major achievements include:

• The new leave distribution for educators;

• The appointment of full-time shop stewards;

• Focus on conditions of employment for educators;

• The ELRC was instrumental in forming the South African Council for Educators (SACE), a body that was mandated 

with the responsibility for developing a code of ethics for educators;

• In 2008 the ELRC expanded the scope of its constitution to include bargaining and dispute resolution for the FET 

sector; and

• The Council also fi nalised an agreement that would pave the way for fair compensation in the education sector. 

The framework for an Occupation Specifi c Dispensation (OSD) for educators was signed on 03 April 2008.
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• The Council concluded the work related to the Teacher Development Summit with Collective Agreement No. 2 

of 2010, “Implementation of paragraph 3.2 of the Teacher Development Summit Declaration”, this agreement 

paved the way for the processes of delinking teacher appraisal for purposes of development from appraisal for 

remuneration and salary progression purposes.

The ELRC has made a signifi cant contribution to labour peace in education. It is in the fi eld of dispute resolution and 

prevention that the ELRC has its core business and in which the greatest successes of the Council can be found. 

The success achieved by the ELRC since its inception in 1994 to date can be attributed to the high value that the Council 

places on professionalism. The ELRC has defi ned the standard for all bargaining councils in the country and will continue 

to be an agent of transformation in the public education sector.

2.  DISPUTE RESOLUTION AND SUPPORT SERVICES

2.1 INTRODUCTION 

For the period 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012 a total of 741 disputes were referred to the ELRC and of these 179 (24%) were 

found to be out of jurisdiction. The increase in the number of referrals in the 2011/2012 fi nancial period cannot be attributed 

to one particular reason, as almost all categories of disputes in the nine provinces experienced an increase.  

2.2 Disputes referred by Province

Of the 741 disputes referred to the Council in the 2011/2012 fi nancial year, 176 were referred from the Western Cape, 166 

were referred from KwaZulu-Natal, 91 were referred from Gauteng, 94 disputes from the Eastern Cape, 40 from the Free 

State, 58 from Limpopo, 43 from the North West, 34 referred from Mpumalanga, 38 were referred from the Northern Cape 

and 1 from national. All provinces experienced an increase in dispute referrals except for the Free State that dropped by 

six referrals compared to the previous fi nancial period.  

Caseload breakdown per province:

Kwazulu-Natal 22%

Gauteng 12%

Western Cape 24%

Eastern Cape 13%

North West 6%

Limpopo 8%

Free State 5%

Mpumalanga 5%

Northern Cape 5%
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2.3 Disputes referred by Issue

Promotion disputes constitute 42% of all disputes declared in the fi nancial year under review. Unfair dismissal disputes 

constituted 26.2% of disputes referred, unfair labour practice disputes constituted 16%, and other unfair labour disputes 

8.4%. Interpretation and Application disputes on the implementation of the Basic Conditions of Employment Act (BCEA) 

made up 7% of disputes referred, and 0.4% of interest disputes were referred during the 2011/2012 fi nancial period.  

2.4 Disputes referred by Jurisdiction

Of the 741 disputes that were received during the period under review, 179 (24%) of these disputes were ruled to be out of 

jurisdiction at referral. Despite an increase of 12 referrals during the 2011/2012 fi nancial period, there has been a decrease 

in real terms of 8% in this category, which signifi es an improvement and shows that applicants are increasingly becoming 

aware of the rules of engagement and adhering to them.

2.5 Disputes by Outcome

The Council received 457 (90.1%) dispute outcomes in 2011/2012 fi nancial year as compared to the 307 (63%) received 

in the last fi nancial year, which signifi es an increase of 150 outcomes. Part of the 457 outcomes received is made up of 

167 arbitration awards, 38 disputes dismissed at arbitration and 21 disputes dismissed at conciliation as compared to the 

142 arbitration awards and 39 disputes dismissed both in conciliation and arbitration of the 418 disputes received and 

determined to be in jurisdiction in the previous fi nancial year.

2.6  Professional Development and Training

In order to improve the quality of services within the ELRC, Council engages in training and professional development of 

its Dispute Practitioners, Negotiators, Interpreters, Intermediaries and Commissioners. 

Training was provided during the 2011/2012 fi nancial period on Labour Law; Practical Labour Law and Case Management 

and Capacity Building. 

The ELRC conducted training for the Intermediaries and the Interpreters that were appointed and confi rmed on the ELRC 

panel for their respective roles for the use of the ELRC and Departments. Training was conducted by the Justice College 

at no cost to the Council. 
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3.  COLLECTIVE BARGAINING SERVICES

Basic Education

A signifi cant achievement for Collective Bargaining was the adoption of the fi nal research report on the appropriateness 

of the current salary structure in public education. Emanating from this report, a draft Collective Agreement: Establishing 

Parity of notches of educators in basic education with notches of the general public servants employed by the State was 

tabled. 

3.1 National

The following collective agreements were concluded:

• Collective Agreement 1 of 2011: Improvement on Remuneration of Markers in National Examinations

• Collective Agreement 2 of 2011: Amendment of Clause 9.3.1 of the ELRC Constitution as certifi ed by the Registrar 

of Labour on 25th April 2007 and as ratifi ed by Collective Agreement No 6 of 2007

• Collective Agreement 3 of 2011: Vote Weights for the Trade Unions that are parties to Council

3.2 Provincial

The following provincial collective agreements were concluded:

• Collective Agreement 1 of 2011 of Mpumalanga Chamber: Permanent Appointment of Serving Temporary 

Educators Occupying Vacant Substantive Posts.

• Collective Agreement 1 of 2012 of Limpopo Chamber.

3.3 Further Education and Training Colleges Sector 

The Further Education and Training Bargaining Unit continued to work tirelessly on matters relating to the conditions of 

service for the lecturers in the employ of the Further Education and Training Colleges. The Generic Contract Task Team 

fi nalised work on three draft collective agreements. 

A signifi cant development for the FETC Sector for the period under review is the amendments to the FETC Act (FETC 

Amendment Bill, 2011) and the Higher Education and Training Laws Act (Higher Education and Training Laws Amendment 

Act, 2010). The Bill is an important piece of legislation, as it would allow for the consolidation, alignment and proper 

coordination of the roles of FET Colleges. 

Parties to the FETC Bargaining Unit also started a discussion on the Draft Policy on Professional Qualifi cations for 

Vocational Education Lecturers. The discussions would serve as the preliminary consultations or comments towards the 

draft policy as public comments were still to be held on the draft policy.
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4.  SUPPORT SERVICES

4.1 Teacher Laptop Initiative 

The Teacher Laptop Initiative (TLI) which is managed by the ELRC, forms part of the cohesive plan by the Department 

of Basic Education (DBE) and other stakeholders in education to improve the quality of education by making resources 

available to teachers and learners in the public education sector. 

The fi rst offi cial launch of the TLI took place on 11th December 2009. This launch consisted of exhibitions by the nine 

accredited suppliers that were selected to participate in the initiative. A mock-up classroom exhibition was arranged, where 

learners and teachers had a practical demonstration of how laptops can enhance learning and teaching in the classroom.

The second launch of the TLI took place on 15th July 2010, at Lotus Gardens Primary School in Pretoria. The anticipated 

rollout and implementation of the initiative was however hindered by the following:

• Government had to review the funding model for the provisioning of the laptops for teachers, as a signifi cant 

number of educators are unable to qualify for fi nance in terms of the National Credit Act; because of the rules of 

profi ling in terms of the Act.

• Banks and fi nance houses were reluctant to fund these and other teachers if there were no state guarantees.

Despite the impediment to the implementation process, the nine provinces provided information on the number of letters 

issued to teachers who qualify for the TLI. 

Province Number of Teachers in Province Number of Letters Issued

Eastern Cape 67 433 0

Free State 23 743 4 807

Gauteng 52 140 11 000

Kwazulu-Natal 86 009 0

Limpopo 53 990 440

Mpumalanga 32 772 29 205

Northern Cape 8 455 6 000

North West 23 862 22 795

Western Cape 26 635 3 500

The General Secretary tabled the updated report on the TLI to the Director-General at a meeting on 9th March 2012.
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5. FINANCIAL AND MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTABILITY

The ELRC, in complying with the PFMA, Treasury Regulations and other Treasury prescripts, is audited by the Auditor-

General. The ELRC’s fi nancial reporting is in accordance with generally recognised accounting practices. 

The Auditor-General performs a total audit, including a review of the performance information of the Council. The Audit 

Committee, an independent committee appointed by the Council, draws its authority from the Audit Committee Charter and 

ensures fi nancial and management compliance and accountability. 

The Accounting Offi cer and the Chief Financial Offi cer of the ELRC presented the Council’s Annual Report to the Basic 

Education Portfolio Committee of the National Assembly in Parliament on 13 October 2011, and its Three-Year Strategic 

Plan for the fi nancial years 2013-2015 on 13 March 2012. 

The sole source of income of the Council is the levy collected from the employer and employees (equal on both sides). 

Once again, Parliament was satisfi ed with the excellent planning and reporting of the ELRC and its contributions to public 

education in South Africa in particular and Africa in general.





S
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COMPLIANCE REPORT

1.1 SUBMISSION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT TO THE EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY

To the Minister of Basic Education

I have pleasure in presenting this report on the work of the Education Labour Relations Council  for the Financial Year ended 
31 March 2012.

Mr M Govender
General Sectretary
Education Labour Relations Council 
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1.2 Applicable Legislation

A number of policies have been implemented and legislation promulgated to create a framework for the transformation of 

education. Key legislation directing the ELRC in its core business include:

• Labour Relations Act (Act 66 of 1995);
• National Education Policy Act (Act 27 of 1996);
• Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999);
• Promotion of Access to Information Act (Act 54 of 2002); 
• Employment of Educators Act (Act 76 of 1998) (Prior to amendment by Act 57 of 2001); and
• Further Education and Training Colleges Act (Act 16 of 2006).

Supporting legislation assisting the ELRC in its employer/business role:

• Basic Conditions of Employment Act (Act 75 of 1997);
• Employment Equity Act (Act 55 of 1998);
• Skills Development Act (Act 97 of 1998); 
• South African Schools Act (Act 84 of 1996);
• South African Council for Educators Act (Act 31 of 2000).

Other mandates:

• Service Delivery Agreement between the Minister of Basic Education and the President;
• Action Plan to 2014 – Gazette No. 752 of 2010

1.3 Litigation And Appeals 

The nature of the business of the ELRC, like the CCMA, is such that some arbitration awards made by the Council are 

taken on review by the Labour Court. During the period under review, the total number of reviews increased from 3 to 11.

The ELRC is always cited as the FIRST RESPONDENT. The ELRC as a matter of course does not oppose these review 

applications unless our conduct is questioned. None were opposed by the ELRC.

1.4 Accounting Offi cer’s Report for the fi nancial year ended 31 March  2012

The Accounting Offi cer’s report forms part of the audited Annual Financial Statements of the ELRC for the year ended 31 

March 2012. 

1.4.1 Principal Activities of the ELRC

The primary business of the council is to promote the maintenance of labour peace in the public education sector through 

the provision of dispute resolution (and prevention) services. To this end, the grievances and disputes of educators and 

offi cials are resolved through conciliation and/ or arbitration. 

The secondary business of the council is to promote the maintenance of labour peace in the public education sector 

through the provision of consultation and negotiations between trade unions and the state as the employer, as represented 

by the Department of Basic Education.
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1.4.2 Organisational Structure: Senior Management

Mahalingum Govender

General Secretary

Lorna Padayachee

Senior Manager

Corporate Services

Cindy Foca

Senior Manager

Collective Bargaining 
Services

Fikile Hugo

Managing Senior 
Commissioner

Dispute Resolution 
Services

Jeff Moshakga

Chief Financial Offi cer

 COMPOSITION OF THE COUNCIL

EMPLOYER

Representing the State as an employer is the collective made up of the Provincial Departments of Education co-ordinated 

by the Departments of Education (Basic Education and Higher Education and Training). 

TRADE UNIONS

CTU-SADTU
• South African Democratic Teachers Union (SADTU)
• Cape Teachers’ Professional Association (CTPA)

CTU-ATU
• National Professional Teachers’ Organisation of South Africa (NAPTOSA)
• Suid-Afrikaanse Onderwysersunie (SAOU)
• National Teachers Union (NATU)
• Professional Educators Union (PEU)
• Public Servants Association (PSA)
• Health and Other Service Personnel Trade Union Of South Africa (HOSPERSA)
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 PROGRAMME 1.1: DISPUTE RESOLUTION SERVICES

PROGRAMME 1.1:  DISPUTE RESOLUTION SERVICES 

1.1.1 Disputes Referred

The Dispute Management and Resolution Section of the ELRC received 741disputes in the 2011-2012 fi nancial year, 210 
more than the 531 disputes referred in the 2010-2011 fi nancial year. Though the number of referrals in this fi nancial year 
is substantially higher than that of the 2010-2011 fi nancial year and the other two past fi nancial years, it is still much lower 
than the highest referral rate of the 2007-2008 fi nancial year, which was 955.

The increase of referrals in this fi nancial year from the last cannot be attributed to any specifi c or particular reason as 
almost all categories of disputes and in all provinces did experience an increase.

1.1.2 Jurisdiction on referrals

A total of 179 (24%) disputes were ruled to be out of jurisdiction at referral as compared to the 167 (32%) ruled as such in 
the last fi nancial year. Though there has been an increase in this fi nancial year of 12 referrals found to be out of jurisdiction 
at screening stage, there has been a decline in real terms of 8% in this category which signifi es an improvement albeit 
small that applicants are increasingly becoming aware of and are adhering to the rules of engagement when coming to 
ELRC dispute processes.

The Dispute Management Section of the ELRC will be embarking on a process of reviving Provincial Dispute Prevention 
Committees in the new fi nancial year. This is to ensure that all grievances are attended to as much as possible and to also 
ensure that disputes that are found to be out of jurisdiction and therefore not handled at ELRC level, do get to be heard 
and handled by the employer party in provinces. This is important because any referral, whether dealt with or ruled to be 
out of jurisdiction, signify some level of discontentment and attending to it will go a long way towards ensuring that there is 
labour peace in the employment environment.
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Jurisdiction of referrals

1.1.3 Condonation Applications

The ELRC received 95 condonation applications in this fi nancial year with 41 granted, 43 denied and 11 of which will be 
processed in the coming fi nancial year of 2012-2013. This brings to a total of 508 and 222 the number of cases both in and 
out of jurisdiction respectively.

Of the 80 condonation applications received in the last fi nancial year 2010-2011, 24 were granted, 42 applications were 
refused and 14 were pending fi nalisation in the new fi nancial year, 2011-2012.

Nature of Disputes Declared
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1.1.4 Dispute referrals per province

Total Number of Disputes Referred By Province

Western Cape referred 176 disputes in the 2011-2012 fi nancial year, ten more than Kwazulu Natal at 166. These two are 
the only provinces that surpassed the 100 referrals-mark in the 2011-2012 fi nancial year followed closely by Eastern Cape 
at 94 and Gauteng at 91. Northern Cape and Mpumalanga are the least referring provinces at thirty-eight and thirty-four 
respectively.

All provinces experienced an increase in dispute referrals except for the Free State that dropped by 6 referrals from the 
previous fi nancial year’s referrals. Four provinces experienced an increase of more than 20 disputes: Western Cape at 53; 
Kwazulu Natal at 51; Eastern Cape at 40 and Northern Cape at 25, collectively contributing 169 (80%) of the 210 increase 
from last fi nancial year referrals.

It is worth noting that whilst the Western Cape compares favourably with other provinces on other dispute categories, they 
are by far the leading province in the Interpretation (and application) and the enforcement of the BCEA categories at 18 
and 25 respectively. It is only the North West with 10 disputes relating to Interpretation and Application that is not that far 
off. The Western Cape situation could be attributed to the fact that it is the only province with an agreement on a procedure 
of handling the educator applications of temporary and permanent incapacity leave at the moment, which generally entitles 
educators to a recourse if this is allegedly not followed to the latter.

1.1.5 Nature of disputes declared

TThe nature of disputes Nature of disputes
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Three hundred and eleven (311) 42% promotion disputes, 196 (26.2%) unfair dismissal disputes, 117 (16%) other Unfair 
Labour Practice disputes, 62 (8.4%) Interpretation and Application disputes, 52 (7%) implementation of the BCEA and 
3 (0.4%) Interest disputes were referred in this fi nancial year.

Promotion disputes in almost all provinces are still out numbering the dismissal disputes except for the Free State Province 
in this fi nancial year where dismissal disputes with 17 referrals, are more that the promotion disputes with 10 referrals. 
Gauteng and Limpopo are also the only other two provinces were the difference is very small between dismissals and 
promotions disputes at 29 against 33 and 17 against 19 respectively whilst the rest of the provinces experienced a huge 
gap between these two categories.

In the 2011-2012 fi nancial year there were 30 unfair dismissal disputes involving a child as a victim referred to Council, 
which constitutes 15% of the total 196 unfair dismissal disputes. Although the disputes involving learners as victims were 
not treated in any way different in this fi nancial year, the dispute section will be treating these as special cases together with 
the promotion disputes with a thirty days target resolution. The aim of the Council is to ensure a speedy fi nalisation of these 
disputes so that there can be more stability at schools and that there will be an educator in class at all times as parties will 
spend a shorter time in dispute processes.

The ELRC experienced a steady increase of clause 23 referrals in terms of the ELRC Constitution, when parties seek to 
enforce the provisions of the BCEA1 and collective agreements of Council, which they would otherwise fail to enforce in 
terms of Section 186(2) of the Labour Relations Act (LRA), Act 66 of 1995. These relate to the strike deductions and the 
refusal to grant temporary and permanent incapacity leave in the main.

The dispute section is also experiencing the following two challenges with regard to Part 4 clause 14.3 of the ELRC 
Constitution that relates to “any act or omission of the School Governing Body acting in terms of s 6(3) of the Employment 
of Educators Act 76 of 1996 with regard to appointments, promotions and transfers”:2

i. Although the clause relate to the act or omission by the SGB with regard to appointments, promotions and transfers 
and it seeks to give the ELRC appointed commissioner powers to remedy that, the problem is that the SGB is 
not a party to the ELRC and thereby not bound by collective agreements of Council and the SGB’s (through their 
national bodies) even refused to be bound by it even when they were invited for such.

ii. In terms of the Reddy judgement3 handed down in 2003, the ELRC does not have jurisdiction to hear a matter 
relating to the powers of the SGB in making recommendations to the employer until the employer acts on such a 
recommendation. The dispute when lodged after the decision of the employer will then be against that decision 
of the employer and not the SGB recommendation as the employer would have accepted responsibility of any 
alleged irregularity that transpired in the disputed process. 

The current reading of the ELRC Constitution however, gives an impression that parties to the ELRC can and they do refer 
disputes relating to appointments and transfers, which makes the amendments to the constitution very necessary in order 
to clarify all provisions of it on all other aspects as well.

We received three disputes of interest in this fi nancial year two of which were referred by South African Democratic 
Teachers Union (SADTU) in the Eastern Cape Province against the alleged non-consultation on the declaration of the 
educator post establishment by the MEC for the 2012 academic year as well as the non-appointment of temporary teachers 
for the same academic year by the employer. The two disputes were consolidated and a certifi cate of non-resolution issued 
and the trade union SADTU embarked on a strike action from late 2011 and continued to the beginning of the academic 
year in 2012 until a deal was brokered by the COSATU General Secretary that led to a facilitation process under the 
auspices of the Collective Bargaining Section of the ELRC.

1 The Basic Conditions of Employment Act 75 of 1997
2 Collective Agreement No. 1 of 2006
3 Reddy V KZN Department of Education and Culture (2003) 24 ILJ 1358 (LAC)
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The third interest dispute was that from the Suid-Afrikaanse Onderwysersunie (SAOU) on the employer’s refusal to bargain 
on an obligation to create an Occupation Specifi c Dispensation (OSD) for Psychologists, Therapists, Councillors and 
others. However, the dispute was later withdrawn.  

1.1.6 Dispute processes conducted

A total of 1279 dispute processes were conducted in this fi nancial year for both conciliation and arbitration hearings as 
compared to the 1013 conducted in the last fi nancial year. 513 conciliation processes were conducted, 9 more than the 
508 cases determined to be in-jurisdiction. The difference could be attributed to few conciliation hearings sitting more than 
once as a result of agreement between parties in the hearing as the Dispute Section would not ordinarily allow conciliation 
hearings to be postponed and a certifi cate of non-resolution mostly gets to be issued if this situation arises. 766 arbitration 
processes were conducted in this fi nancial year, 81 more than the 685 processes conducted in the last fi nancial year, 
where 418 cases were determined to be in-jurisdiction4 and 328 conciliation processes were conducted.

The information above then indicates the average rate5 of events conducted to fi nalise disputes increased from 2.5% in the 
last fi nancial year, to 2.7% in the current fi nancial year. The dispute section will be calculating the number of postponements 
that have a fi nancial bearing in the new fi nancial year, with the assistance of fi nance section, to assess their impact on the 
calculation of this average.

1.1.7 Dispute outcomes

The Council received 457 (90%) dispute outcomes in this fi nancial year as compared to the 307 (63%) received in the last 
fi nancial year, which signifi es an increase of 150 outcomes. Part of the 457 outcomes received is made up of 167 arbitration 
awards, 38 disputes dismissed at arbitration and 21 disputes dismissed at conciliation as compared to the 142 arbitration 
awards and 39 disputes dismissed both in conciliation and arbitration of the 418 disputes received and determined to be in 
jurisdiction in the previous fi nancial year.

4 394 in-jurisdiction cases determined at screening with 24 condonation applications granted make up the 418 cases for 2010-2011 fi nancial year
5 The average rate is determined by dividing the total number of processes conducted with the total number of cases in jurisdiction.
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1.1.8 Cases carried over to the next fi nancial year

At the end of this current fi nancial year 195 (38,3%) cases are still in process and are being carried over to the next fi nancial 
year the bulk of which (170) are the 2011-2012 fi nancial year referrals (147 of which were referred in the last quarter) with 
the other 25 being from other fi nancial years up to 2005-2006 as per the table below. This signifi es a reduction of 11,7% 
when compared to the 50% (200) carry-over of cases from the last fi nancial year of 2010-2011. Although a proper and 
acceptable bench mark is still to be established on the number of cases to be carried over per fi nancial year and that it is 
an accepted fact that there will always be cases carried over due to, amongst other factors, referrals received late in the 
last quarter of the fi nancial year, a percentage less than half of the referrals per fi nancial year is an indication of progress 
being made towards the eradication of backlogs in the resolution of right disputes in the ELRC.

CARRIED OVER CASES PER FINANCIAL YEAR  

05/06. 06/07. 07/08. 08/09. 09/10. 10/11. 11/12. TOTAL

KZN 0 0 1 1 1 0 30 33

FS 0 0 0 0 0 4 11 15

GP 0 1 1 0 1 7 33 43

EC 1 0 0 0 0 1 8 10

WC 0 0 0 0 0 1 31 32

MP 0 0 0 0 2 2 5 9

NC 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 12

LP 0 0 0 0 0 0 29 29

NW 0 0 0 0 0 1 11 12
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1.1.9 Dispute Prevention

The objective of Council in dispute prevention is to intervene and resolve grievances, some on a large scale, before they 
develop into disputes and get to be referred to Council. This is seen as means and ways of encouraging and maintaining 
labour peace in the Public Education Sector in line with the Ministerial Strategic Objective of improving quality public 
education. 

The ELRC engages in several activities as a result:

i. Together with organised labour, the provincial department of education and the SGB’s the ELRC assisted in the 
fi nal placement of the 42 remaining displaced educators in the Eastern Cape through facilitators appointed for this 
purpose. This process started in the last fi nancial year and the fi nal report was handed to the department after 
completion.

ii. The ELRC engaged parties in KZN for the better part of this fi nancial year in preparation of the placement of their 
displaced educators due to several factors and have facilitators appointed for this purpose. This process will start 
in the new fi nancial year, as the Chamber has to deal with logistical arrangements in this regard.

In preparation for the 2012-2013 budget, the Dispute Section ensured that there is an amount set aside for the establishment 
and resuscitation of Dispute Prevention Committees and these committees must ensure that all grievances lodged with the 
departments get to be attended to and fi nalised. This is seen as a means of reducing the number of referrals to Council 
on rights disputes.

In engaging in the dispute prevention activities, Council will always guard against taking the position of any of the parties 
involved in the grievance. This is such that the Council’s neutrality and objectivity are maintained at all times.

1.1.10  Performance Report

Effi ciency Target
Actual 
10/11

Actual 
11/12

Performance Result

Screening Out Defective 
Referrals at the referral 
stage

90% 100% 100% Achieved

Pre-Hearing 
Jurisdictional Screening 
(Condonation, 
Jurisdiction, Sec 14 
Disputes)

90% 99.5% 100% Achieved

Conciliation set within 
30 days

90% 88% 90% Achieved 

Settlement Rate 10% 20% 18% Achieved

Arbitrations Finalised 70% 40% 48% Not Achieved
The 22% shortfall in fi nalisation of arbitrations is 
due largely to adjournments, postponements and 
hearings having to be set afresh as panellists 
failed to give an award and where such awards are 
handed in well after the mandatory 14 days due to 
closing arguments brought in late.
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Effi ciency Target
Actual 
10/11

Actual 
11/12

Performance Result

Late Awards 0% 7.6% 3% Not Achieved
Awards are delayed by quality controlling, extension 
requests from commissioners or commissioners 
submitting late. The Dispute Management Section 
constantly reminds commissioners of late awards 
and issue letters of demand when awards are 
outstanding. 

Postponements 
requested (prior to 
hearings)

5% 11.5% 9% Not Achieved
This is mainly due to party requests and some had 
to be done by Council as refusal to do so would 
result in same being granted by commissioners as 
parties would attend and agree on postponement 
whilst accommodation and transport would have 
been paid at huge costs.

Adjournments 10% 9.5% 9.2% Achieved

Turn-around times 
conciliation (days)

30 days 60 days 60 days Not Achieved
Parties agree to an adjournment of conciliation 
with a hope of getting mandate to settle instead of 
fi nalising conciliation as settlement can still happen 
at any stage of the dispute. 

Turn-around times 
arbitration (days)

180 
days

180 
days

12 
Months

Not Achieved
Postponements, adjournments, a number of 
witnesses, subpoenas, contempt rulings against 
witnesses and pursuing such with the Labour Court, 
failure by commissioners to fi nally issue awards, 
leading to the matter having to be set down again in 
front of a different panellist all lead to the target not 
being met.

Turn-around times 
arbitration (promotion & 
appointment) (days)

30 days 60 days 90 days Not Achieved
See above comment.

Turn-around time: 
Payment of invoice from 
date received

14 30 days 30 days Not Achieved
Whilst a 3 days target of processing invoices is 
achievable, the actual payment gets to be delayed 
between departments and must be addressed in the 
new fi nancial year.

Quality Control of 
Awards

100% 100% 100% Achieved

Quality Control of 
Rulings and settlement 
agreement

100% 100% 100% Achieved
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Objective
Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

(a) ORDINARY DISPUTES - ULP and DISMISSALS

To minimise 
the granting of 
postponements at 
the hearing) so that 
affected parties rights 
are not prejudiced by 
the delays

Postponement 
Rulings issued 
by Panellists with 
Costs

100% Not Achieved There were few costs orders 
issued but most of our 
Panellists have not awarded 
parties with costs orders when 
it was necessary to do so 
against parties who apply late 
or come to these hearings not 
prepared to proceed. 

To minimise 
the granting of 
postponements prior 
to the  hearing) so that 
affected parties rights 
are not prejudiced by 
the delays

Postponements 
granted only 
in compelling 
circumstances by 
GS

10% Achieved

To ensure compliance 
with statutory 
time frames for 
conciliations to be 
heard

Conciliations 
concluded by 
Panellists within 30 
days of fi rst hearing

90% Achieved

To ensure that 
arbitrations 
concerning 
dismissals and 
Promotions/ 
Appointment are 
concluded timeously.

Dismissal  and 
Promotion and 
Appointments 
arbitrations 
concluded within 
180 days

80% Not Achieved at the moment these hearings 
are dragging more than 
180 days, due to parties 
represented legally and 
dragging these matters. in 
promotion disputes applicants 
don’t cite or provide the 
council with details of 
successful incumbents who 
have substantial interests. 
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(a) ORDINARY DISPUTES - ULP and DISMISSALS

To ensure that 
arbitrations 
concerning ULP are 
fi nalised timeously

ULP arbitrations are 
concluded
Within 90 days

Within 90 
days

Not Achieved At the moment these ordinary 
disputes are dragging more 
than 90 days due to parties 
represented legally, but there 
is improvement and urgency to 
fi nalise these disputes. 

To ensure quality of 
awards, rulings and 
settlement agreements

Awards, Rulings 
and settlement 
agreements are 
quality  controlled 
and approved

100% Achieved

To ensure Rulings; 
Orders and Awards are 
timeously completed

All Awards to be 
submitted within 14 
days

80% Not Achieved The Panellists are not 
submitting the awards within 
14 days the reasons are 
attributed to the volume of 
evidence presented at the 
hearings, late fi ling of closing 
arguments and some panelists 
are simply complying but the 
registrar do issue letters of 
demand.  

To ensure that Rulings; 
Orders and Awards are 
served on the parties to 
the dispute timeously

Within 3 days of 
approval

100% Achieved
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(b) SPECIAL DR HEARINGS - involving the child as a victim or a witness

To inform the parent or 
guardian of the child of 
their rights

Parent or Guardian 
informed before 
14 days of the DR 
process

100% Achieved

To appoint Specialist 
or Senior Panellist 
to conduct the DR 
process

Specialist or Senior 
Panellist appointed

100% Achieved

To appoint an 
Intermediary to assist 
the child in the DR 
process

Intermediary 
appointed

100% Achieved

To ensure venues 
conducive for these 
types of Hearings are 
hired

Special venue 
secured

100% Achieved

To promote expeditious 
DR hearings 

Hearings concluded Within 6 
months

Not Achieved These hearings drag 
beyond 6 months due 
to number of witnesses, 
legal representatives, 
intermediaries, adjournments 
and postponements. 

To fi le AWARD with 
SAPS Child Protection 
Unit; SACE; Sexual 
Offenders Register

Award issued to 
SAPS; SACE

Within 14 
days of 
receipt

Not Achieved The procedure is still to 
be clarifi ed as to whose 
responsibility it is to fi le these 
awards. 
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(c) ENFORCEMENT OF RULINGS; ORDERS; CONCILIATION AGREEMENTS AND ARBITRATION AWARDS

To ensure the 
enforcement and 
certifi cation of awards, 
rulings, orders and 
conciliation agreements

Upon application 
Awards, Rulings 
and settlement 
agreements are 
certifi ed by the 
General Secretary

Reports received 
from HODs i.r.o. 
implementation of 
Awards; Rulings 
and Orders

Recommendations/
Implementation 
Orders issued by 
GS

100%

Within 30 
days of 
service

Within 21 
days of 

receipt of 
Report

Not Achieved

Not  Achieved

Not Achieved

The function is being taken 
away from the Councils and 
CCMA by the labour court.

(d) ENFORCEMENT OF BCEA PROVISIONS OR RIGHTS

To issue a NOTICE of 
implementation

Notice issued Within 14 
days of 
receipt

Achieved

To conduct an 
arbitration if above 
NOTICE is ignored or 
rejected

Arbitration 
Scheduled

Within 60 
days of 
original 
receipt

Achieved

To issue an 
ORDER to HOD or 
MEC compelling 
implementation, if 
applicable

ORDER served on 
HOD and/ or MEC

Within 14 
days of 
receipt

Not Achieved There was no order issued 
to the HOD or MEC for non-
compliance in the period under 
review. All matters related to 
non-compliance order that 
remained unresolved were 
referred to arbitration.
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(e) ENFORCEMENT OF COLLECTIVE AGREEMENTS (CA)

To, upon application, 
issue a NOTICE of 
implementation of a 
specifi c CA

Notice Issued Within 14 
days of 
receipt

Not Achieved The Council did not receive 
any disputes on enforcement 
of collective agreements in the 
period under review

To appoint a LABOUR 
INSPECTOR if above 
NOTICE is ignored or 
rejected

Labour Inspector 
Appointed

Within 45 
days of 
original 
receipt

Not Achieved The Council has not appointed 
the Labour Inspectors for this 
purpose.

To conduct an 
arbitration if above 
NOTICE is ignored or 
rejected

Arbitration 
Scheduled

Within 60 
days of 
original 
receipt

Not Achieved There was no dispute referred 
to arbitration 

To issue an 
ORDER to HOD or 
MEC compelling 
implementation, if 
applicable

ORDER served on 
HOD or MEC

Within 14 
days of 
receipt

Not  Achieved The General Secretary did 
not issue any order for non-
compliance.

To ensure LABOUR 
INSPECTOR monitors 
compliance with 
ORDER

Compliance Order 
Report issued to 
parties

Within 21 
days of 

service of 
ORDER

Not Achieved
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(f) RESOLUTION OF MUTUAL INTEREST DISPUTES

To consult parties and 
appoint MEDIATOR

Mediator appointed Within 14 
days of 

receipt or as 
agreed to by 
the parties

Achieved

To conduct the 
MEDIATION to 
persuade the parties to 
reach a settlement

Mediation 
conducted

Within 30 
days or a 

longer time 
as agreed 
to by the 
parties

Achieved

To fi nalise a 
SETTLEMENT 
AGREEMENT, if 
applicable

Settlement 
Agreement 
concluded

As agreed 
to by the 
parties

Not Achieved There was no settlement 
reached by parties in 
conciliation/mediation 
processes and the union 
exercised its right to embark 
on industrial action in the EC.

To issue a certifi cate 
of non-resolution if 
no agreement was 
possible

Certifi cate issued Within 30 
days or a 

longer time 
as agreed 
to by the 
parties

Achieved

To issue an ADVISORY 
AWARD in the case 
of a refusal to bargain 
dispute

Advisory Award 
fi nalised and served 
on parties

Within 14 
days of 

receipt or as 
agreed to by 
the parties

Not Achieved The dispute was withdrawn by 
parties after the matter was 
tabled in the chamber.

To engage in further 
facilitation to prevent 
strike or lock-out

Further facilitation 
conducted

As agreed 
to by the 
parties

Not Achieved The union withdrew the 
dispute.
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(g) LABOUR COURTS (LC) HEARINGS OF ELRC MATTERS

To ensure that parties 
serve their LC notices 
on GS only

GS or Acting GS 
accepted service 
of LC notice of 
motions of the 
applicant

100% Achieved

To fi le initial notice (to 
abide or to clarify or 
defend) to LC

Initial notice served 
on the parties and 
fi led in LC

Within 14 
days of 
receipt

Achieved

To fi le Panellist’s 
clarifying Affi davit 
with LC and serve on 
Parties

Panellist’s Affi davit 
served on parties 
and fi led in LC

Within 21 
days of 
receipt

Achieved

To fi le electronic copies 
of hearings with the 
Registrar of LC

Electronic copies of 
hearings fi led with 
the Registrar of LC

Within 30 
days of 
receipt

Not Achieved Currently the council sends 
hard copies to the registrar 
of the labour court not the 
electronic copies. 

To fi le fi nal notice (to 
abide or to clarify or 
defend) to LC

Final notice served 
on the parties and 
fi led in LC

Within 30 
days of 
receipt

Achieved

To comply with any 
order of the LC

Order complied with
Hearings reheard 
with Senior 
Panellists

Within 21 
days of 
receipt

Achieved
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FURTHER EDUCATION AND TRAINING (FET)

Cases referred

During the period under review a total of 43 FETC disputes were referred to Council as compared to 64 disputes referred 
in the previous fi nancial year 2010/2011. Of these, 30 were in jurisdiction, 8 were out of jurisdiction and 5 had condonation 
applications still to be determined.

Cases Refereed In jurisdiction Out of Jurisdiction Condonation Total

43 30 8 5 43

Nature of disputes referred

Of the total number of disputes referred, 16% related to Appointments and Promotions, 26% to other Unfair Labour Practices, 
Unfair Dismissal disputes accounted for 42% of disputes referred, Interpretation & Application disputes accounted for 9%, 
BCEA accounted for 5% and Mutual Interest disputes accounted for 2%.

ULP
Prom/App

Other-ULP Unfair 
Dismissal

BCEA Interpretation
Application

Mutual
Interest

Total

7 11 18 2 4 1 43
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Condonations

During the period under review the Council received and processed 5 condonation applications and 2 were granted, 1 was 
refused and 2 are still pending the outcome.

Received Granted Refused Pending Total

5 2 1 2 5

Processes Conducted

During the period under review 2011/2012, a total of 104 processes were conducted by Council in the FETC as compared 
with 132 processes in the last fi nancial year 2010/2011 as in the table below: 

Conciliation/Pre Arbitration Arbitration Total

31 73 104
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Dispute by Outcomes

During the period under review a total of 34 outcomes were received as per the table below. 

Withdrawn 
Conciliation

Dismissed
Conciliation

Settled
Conciliation

Withdrawn
Arbitration

Dismissed
Arbitration

Settled
Arbitration

Awards Total

3 3 3 4 1 3 17 34

At the end of the current fi nancial year 2011/2012 only 5 disputes from this sector (4.8%) are still continuing in process and 
carried over to the new fi nancial year 2012/2013.

Settlement rate

Of the 104 events scheduled, 3 were withdrawn at conciliation, 3 settled at conciliation, 4 withdrawn at arbitration and 
3 settled at arbitrations bringing the number to 13 and the settlement rate to 13% as compared with 11.8% settlement rate 
achieved in the previous fi nancial year of 2010/2011.

Postponements and Adjournments

In the period under review the Council has only granted 5 postponement requests from the parties and 10 adjournments 
were granted in the hearings by panellists at their discretion.

Postponement Adjournment Total

5 10 15



E
LR

C
 2011/12 A

nnual R
eport

Page 44

 PROGRAMME 1.2 PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

In order to improve quality of services within the ELRC, Council engages on training and professional development of its 
Dispute Resolution Practitioners, Negotiators, Interpreters, Intermediaries and Panellists. 

• In this fi nancial year, the dispute section engaged in the following training and professional development services:
• Council started with the Master’s Degree in Labour Law (LLM) for the employer delegation with the Nelson 

Mandela Metropolitan University (2-year program). Eight students registered for the course.
• Council conducted training on Practical Labour Law short course for the CTU-ATU and the second phase of this 

course will continue in the next fi nancial year. Twenty students registered for the course.
• Training of 90 SADTU shop stewards in Limpopo on case management and capacity building for all of their 

districts was conducted.
• Council conducted training for 120 NATU members on case management for their case managers.
• Council conducted the annual training and developmental workshops for the Dispute Resolution Practitioners and 

panellists in all provinces. One hundred and sixty eight practitioners were trained. 
• During the period under review, the ELRC conducted training for the 12 Intermediaries and Interpreters who 

were recently appointed and confi rmed on the ELRC panel for their respective roles for the use of the ELRC and 
Departments, if they so wish, at their expense. Training was conducted by the Justice College at no cost to the 
Council except for accommodation and transport for the delegates. 

• Practical Labour Law training was also offered to 70 Dispute Resolution Practitioners in conjunction with NMMU 
and the ETDP-SETA. The course was completed in the 2011/2012 fi nancial period and the graduation ceremony 
was held on 26 November 2012.
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 PROGRAMME 2.1: COLLECTIVE BARGAINING - NATIONAL 

2.1.1 General Public Education

Basic Education

The performance of Council in terms of predetermined objectives for bargaining activities has not met the targets set. The 
Executive Committee expressed concern on the slow process of fi nalising bargaining matters and have taken steps to 
remedy the situation.

The task team working on RPL had concluded their work and recommendations would be tabled. Still serving on the 
agenda of Council, is the report on the work of the task teams as listed below:

(1) Anomalies and Backlog Task Team
(2) Job Evaluation Task Team
(3) Research Task Team

Of note was that the fi nal research report on the appropriateness of the current salary structure in public education and the 
model was adopted by Council. Emanating from this report, a draft Collective Agreement: Establishing Parity of notches of 
educators in basic education with notches of the general public servants employed by the State was tabled. 

The following collective agreements were concluded:

• Collective Agreement 1 of 2011: Improvement on Remuneration of Markers in National Examinations;
• Collective Agreement 2 of 2011: Amendment of Clause 9.3.1 of the ELRC Constitution as certifi ed by the Registrar 

of Labour on 25th April 2007 and as ratifi ed by Collective Agreement No 6 of 2007; and
• Collective Agreement 3 of 2011: Vote Weights for the Trade Unions that are parties to Council.

Provincial Chambers

The overall of performance of the chambers, excluding EC and KZN, was pleasing. The achievement rate of fi ve chambers 
was over 80% whilst one achieved 73% and the other 60%. 

In the case of KZN the predetermined objectives were replaced by priority issues. Much time was devoted to the plight of 
un/under qualifi ed educators, the effective handling of the post provisioning norms and the issue of displaced educators 
which were considered as signifi cantly impacting on the delivery of quality public education in the Province.

The implementation of Section 100 (b) of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa impacted on the functions of 
the Eastern Cape Provincial Education Labour Relations Council Chamber. Discontent with Section 100 (b) as well as 
uncertainty of its implementation created uncertainty about the role of the EC Department of Education in the Chamber.  

Of signifi cance was the Memorandum of Agreement concluded between the Premier of the Eastern Cape and key 
stakeholders, which directed the Chamber for specifi c performance in terms of which the ELRC provided facilitation on 
PPN and monitoring of the reinstatement of temporary educators. 

Due to the above, all other predetermined objectives of the EC Chamber could not be addressed.
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The following Provincial collective agreements were concluded:

• Collective Agreement 1 of 2011 of Mpumalanga Chamber: Permanent Appointment of Serving Temporary 
Educators Occupying Vacant Substantive Posts

• Collective Agreement 1 of 2012 of Limpopo Chamber.

Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for 
Variance

PREPARATION FOR COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

Matters of Mutual Interest
To identify items of mutual 
interest that requires 
negotiation to conclude 
collective agreements

Issues placed on 
agenda of Council and 
negotiations take place

30 June to 
September 
2011

Achieved

Implementation of 
Collective Agreement 2 
of 2009
(1) Teacher Appraisal Task Team 

recommendations 
fi nalized

By 30 June 
2011

Achieved

(2) Education Management 
System (EMS) for 
School and Offi ce 
Based Management

Task Team 
recommendations 
fi nalized

By 30 June 
2011

Achieved

(3) Teaching and Learning 
Specialists and Senior 
Teaching and Learning 
Specialists

Task Team 
recommendations 
fi nalized

By 30 June 
2011

Achieved

(4) Job Evaluation for 
Offi ce Based Educators

Task Team 
recommendations 
fi nalized 

By 30 June 
2011

Achieved

Annual Conference
To convene an annual 
conference

Annual conference 
convened.

By 30 
November 
2011

Not Achieved Matter to be 
fi nalized in the new 
fi nancial year.

Bargaining Workshop 
(Principals)
To convene a bargaining 
workshop.  To identify 
matters and to agree on 
processes and timeframes

Workshop convened By 28 
February 2012

Not Achieved Workshop delayed 
until the new 
fi nancial year.

Bargaining Workshop 
(Negotiators)
To convene a bargaining 
workshop.  To identify 
matters and to agree on 
processes and timeframes

Workshop convened By 30 March 
2012

Not Achieved Workshop delayed 
until the new 
fi nancial year.



E
LR

C
 2011/12 A

nnual R
eport

Page 50

Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for 
Variance

Bargaining Workshop 
(Provincial Leaders)
To convene a national 
workshop on the matters 
for collective bargaining for 
provincial chambers

Workshop convened By 30 March 
2012

Not Achieved Workshop delayed 
until the new 
fi nancial year.

FACILITATION OF COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

Post Provisioning Norms 
Workshop
To conduct a workshop for 
parties on Post Provisioning 
Norms

Workshop convened By 31 May 
2011

Not Achieved To be achieved in 
the new fi nancial 
year

Ratifi cation of 
Agreements
To recommend collective 
agreements for ratifi cation 
upon receipt.

Collective Agreements 
ratifi ed by Council

31 March 
2012

Achieved

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

Implementation of 
Collective Agreement 
2 of 2009
(1) Teacher Appraisal

Collective Agreement 
concluded

By 30 
September 
2011

Not Achieved Draft Collective 
Agreement tabled.

(2) Education Management 
System (EMS) for 
School and Offi ce 
Based Management

Collective Agreement 
concluded

By 30 
September 
2011

Not Achieved Draft Collective 
Agreement tabled.

(3) Teaching and Learning 
Specialists and Senior 
Teaching and Learning 
Specialists

Collective Agreement 
concluded

By 30 
September 
2011

Not Achieved Matter held in 
abeyance pending 
the fi nalization and 
approval of the 
salary structure 
report

(4) Job Evaluation for 
Offi ce Based Educators

Collective Agreement 
concluded

By 30 
September 
2011

Not Achieved The 
recommendation 
by the task team is 
to revisit terms of 
reference related to 
the establishment 
of CM 1, 2 and 3 
posts; matter to be 
concluded in the 
next fi nancial year.
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for 
Variance

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT (continued)

Appointment of Panelists
To review the existing 
panel of conciliators and 
arbitrators

Collective Agreement 
on appointment 
of panelists here 
applicable.  Collective 
Agreement ratifi ed at 
Council.

By 31 October 
2011

Not Achieved Collective 
Agreement was 
tabled at Bargaining 
but was referred 
to the Legal 
Committee; matter 
to be fi nalized in the 
next fi nancial year.

Vote Weights
To establish the vote 
entitlement of parties to the 
Council 

Collective Agreement 
signed in Council (Vote 
weight agreement)

By 31 March 
2012

Not Achieved Labour parties 
requested that the 
vote weights be 
reviewed; matter to 
be concluded in the 
next fi nancial year.

RESEARCH

Training and Development 
of Teachers
To commission research on 
the effective methodology 
for training and 
development of teachers – 
as per Collective Agreement 
1 of 2008

(1) Research 
framework 
established and 
commissioned

(2) Research 
conducted

(3) Research report 
received and 
analysed

30 June 2011

30 September 
2011

30 November 
2011

Not Achieved Research Task 
Team has not 
fi nalized its work.  
Matter to be 
concluded in the 
new fi nancial year.

Post Provisioning Norms
To commission international 
research on post 
provisioning norms issue

(1) Research 
framework 
established and 
commissioned

(2) Research 
conducted

(3) Research report 
received and 
analysed

30 June 2011

30 September 
2011

30 November 
2011

Achieved

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

The framework is 
still to be approved 
before research can 
commence.
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for 
Variance

RESEARCH (continued)

Professional Matters
To commission research on 
Professional matters

(1) Research 
framework 
established and 
commissioned

(2) Research 
conducted

(3) Research report 
received and 
analysed

30 June 2011

30 September 
2011
30 November 
2011

Achieved

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

Still awaiting 
approval of the 
terms of reference

MONITORING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF COLLECTIVE AGREEMENTS

To receive reports 
from provinces on the 
implementation of collective 
agreements

Communiqué issued to 
the MECs and HODs 

Reports received from 
provinces

Recommendation 
drawn from the report 
and tabled in Council

14 days after 
the signing of 
the collective 
agreement.
Within 30 
days after 
a collective 
agreement 
has been 
concluded

Not Achieved No collective 
agreement adopted 
that required 
implementation. 

CONSULTATIONS

To provide dispute 
prevention (monitoring 
activities) in respect of PPN 
by:
• To monitor HOD 

consultations on the 
distribution of posts.

Reports received from 
the provinces

By 31 October 
2011

Achieved

PREVENTION OF MUTUAL INTEREST DISPUTE

(1) To prevent breakdown 
in Collective Bargaining 
processes by 
encouraging parties to 
bargain.

(2) To proactively provide 
facilitation to get parties 
to the negotiating table.

• Successful 
conclusion 
of Collective 
Agreement or 
Consultation

• No declaration of 
matters of mutual 
interest disputes

• No disruption 
to teaching and 
learning

Achieved
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2.1.2  Higher Education and Training Colleges Sector

The Further Education and Training Bargaining Unit continued tirelessly working on matters relating to the conditions of 
service for the lecturers in the employ of the Further Education and Training Colleges. The Generic Contract Task Team 
fi nalised working on three draft collective agreements as follows:

• Generic Contract of Employment for Post Level 1 Lecturers appointed in terms of the FETC Act 16 of 2006
• Policy on Recruitment and Selection for Lecturing Staff in the Public FET colleges
• Permanent Appointment of serving Temporary and Contract Lecturers who have been in the employ of Further 

Education and Training Colleges for a period of 12 months or longer.

Of importance to note for the Sector for the period under review are the amendments to the FETC Act (FETC Amendment 
Bill, 2011) and the Higher Education and Training Laws Act (Higher Education and Training Laws Amendment Act, 2010). 
The Bill is an important piece of legislation, as it would allow for the consolidation, alignment and proper coordination of 
the roles of FET Colleges. Apart from regularising the employment of college staff, this would ensure stability and would 
enhance retention of staff employed in the Further Education and Training Colleges Sector.

The purpose of the Bill is to remove legislative competence in respect of further education and training and adult education 
training from the functional areas of concurrent national and provincial competence. It seeks to remove all references to 
provincial authorities by assigning the functions of the MEC to the Minister and the functions of the Head of Department to 
the Director-General.

The passing and the promulgation of the Bill would have implications for the FETCBU as a bargaining unit within the ELRC. 
It is envisaged that the following factors might have to be effected:

• The establishment of a Higher Education and Training Bargaining Unit within the ELRC where both functions 
(FETC and AET) will be discussed to be called the Higher Education and Training Bargaining Unit.

• That the Higher Education and Training Bargaining Unit would be self-sustainable on issues relating to programmes, 
but that the Education Labour Relations Council would continue to provide secretariat and support services.

• The establishment of a STANCO for the unit, which would deal with issues relating to governance including 
fi nancial matters relating to the Unit.

The matter that was fl agged by the parties to the FETCBU was the composition of parties to the envisaged HET Bargaining 
Unit.

After the Bill was published, most of the items on the agenda of the FETC Bargaining Unit were put on hold pending the 
promulgation of the Act as that would bring about changes which would have a direct link to the conditions of service of the 
lecturers bargained for at the level of the FETCBU.   

Parties to the FETC Bargaining Unit also started a discussion on the Draft Policy on Professional Qualifi cations for 
Vocational Education Lecturers. The discussions would serve as the preliminary consultations or comments towards the 
draft policy as public comments were still to be held on the draft policy.

The policy seeks to contribute to the availability and development of quality lecturers for the vocational education sector by 
identifying a suitable set of higher education qualifi cations that could be used for the preparation and further development 
of vocational education lecturers.

It is envisaged that the policy would be gazetted by the end of July 2012.

Parties to the FETC Bargaining Unit are committed to moving with speed in terms of achieving all the objectives they had 
set out for themselves relating to the conditions of service for the lecturer, once the Act is promulgated, in the new fi nancial 
year.
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

PREPARATION FOR COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

To identify matters of mutual 
interest that requires collective 
bargaining for 2012/13

To identify residual matters 
relating to:
• The transfer of those 

employees that had 
transferred from the State to 
the College Councils back to 
the state

Issues placed on the 
agenda of Council 
and negotiations take 
place

By 30 June 
2011

Not Achieved Pending the 
promulgation of the 
Act.

To establish the vote 
entitlement of parties to 
Council 

 Collective Agreement 
signed in FETCBU 
and ratifi ed in Council

By 31 March 
2012 

Not Achieved Vote weights 
determination for the 
sector is based on 
Basic Education vote 
weights. 

Labour parties within 
Basic Education have 
requested that vote 
weights be reviewed.

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING (INCLUDES NEGOTIATIONS AND CONSULTATIONS)

To negotiate about matters 
relating to the conditions of 
service of lecturers employed 
in the Further Education and 
Training Colleges

To negotiate on residual 
matters relating to:

• The transfer of those em-
ployees that had transferred 
from the State to the College 
Councils back to the state

Collective Agreement 
signed in FETCBU 
and ratifi ed in Council

By 31 March 
2012

Not Achieved Pending the 
promulgation of the 
Act. 

FACILITATION OF COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

To facilitate the implementation 
of the amended FETC Act

Task teams convened 
to facilitate the 
implementation of the 
amended FETC Act

Consultations on 
Section 197 transfer 
matters take place

By 31 March 
2012

Not Achieved Pending the 
promulgation of the 
Act. 
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

MONITORING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF COLLECTIVE AGREEMENTS

To monitor the 
implementation of collective 
agreement 1 of 2010

To monitor the implementation 
of the residual matters relating 
to:

• The transfer of those em-
ployees that had transferred 
from the State to the College 
Councils back to the state

Communiqué issued 
to the 50 FET colleges 
within 14 days after 
the signing of the 
collective agreement

Responses received 
back from the 50 
Colleges in relation 
to the implementation 
of the collective 
agreement 30 days 
after the expiry of the 
implementation of the 
collective agreement. 

Recommendations 
drawn from the reports 
and tabled in Council

100%

50%

Achieved

Achieved

Not Achieved Pending the 
promulgation of the 
Act. 

PREVENTION OF MUTUAL INTEREST DISPUTES

To prevent breakdown 
in Collective Bargaining 
processes by encouraging 
parties to bargain.

To proactively provide 
facilitation to get parties to the 
negotiating table

Successful conclusion 
of collective 
agreement or 
consultation

No declaration of 
matters of mutual 
interest disputes

No disruption to 
teaching and learning

By 31 March 
2012

By 31 March 
2012

By 31 March 
2012

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved
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 PROGRAMME 2.2: Collective Bargaining – Provincial

EC

2.2.1 EASTERN CAPE

INTRODUCTION

This report refl ects on the performance of the Provincial Chamber for the period 01 April 2011 to 31 March 2012. There has 
been a huge setback in the Chamber performance resulting from the non-sitting of chamber task teams / sub committees; a 
scenario that has not changed to date as issues that have been reported as outstanding have not to date been concluded: 
(viz) the guidelines for the operation of chamber task teams/ committees.

Another factor that has emerged is the impact of the operations of Chamber given the invocation of the Section 100 (b) 
by Cabinet in respect of the Eastern Cape Department of Education. The intervention affected communication protocols 
on mutual interest issues involving Unions and the Employer as a party to the PELRC. Parties are looking forward to 
receiving delegations of authority and MoU from which a determination will be made on matters that affect operations of 
the Provincial Chamber. 

The Chamber has also, through the Chairperson and Provincial Secretary, been part of MTEF/PPN Budget Workshops and 
MTEF/PPN Consultation convened by the Eastern Cape Department of Education. SADTU disputed the manner in which 
the DoE has managed the 2012 MTEF/PPN consultation, citing the reason thereof to be the fact that it is the PELRC that 
convenes the consultative meetings and the DOE becomes the Party to the Chamber just like other parties. Therefore, 
SADTU could not be part of the MTEF processes as convened by the DOE as well as in terms of the issue of inviting CTU 
SADTU to the said process.

Special Chamber meetings were convened in the fourth quarter to craft way for a Facilitation process led by ELRC appointed 
facilitators on Reinstatement of Temporary Educators and Post Provision Norms. Under the guidance of the facilitators, 
Parties engaged robustly on these two issues and they are on the verge of signing a Provincial Collective Agreement. 

Out of the sixteen (16) objectives as outlined in the operational plan, none have been achieved. The account provided in 
the paragraphs above provides reasons for the non-performance of the chamber. 
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target Performance Result

Reason for Variance

1. Collective Bargaining (Negotiation & Consultation)

1.1 Matters of mutual 
interest 
Conclude collective 
agreements on identifi ed 
matters of mutual interest

Collective 
agreements 
concluded (if 
applicable)

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved

1.2 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Principals)
To convene a workshop 
to identify matters and to 
agree on processes and 
timeframes

Workshop 
convened 

28 February 
2012

Not Achieved No meetings could 
be convened for 
reasons outlined in 
the introduction of the 
report.

1.3 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Negotiators)
To convene a workshop 
to identify matters and to 
agree on processes and 
timeframes

Workshop 
convened

By 31 March 
2012

Not Achieved No meetings could 
be convened for 
reasons outlined in 
the introduction of the 
report.

2. Consultations

2.1 Post Provisioning
To convene a workshop 
op the indicative budget 
for post provisioning in 
the Provincial Education 
Department

Reports Tabled at 
Chamber

By 30 
September 
2011

Not Achieved No meetings could 
be convened for 
reasons outlined in 
the introduction of the 
report.

2.2 Post Provisioning
a) To receive 

reports on the 
consultations on 
the creation of 
posts 

b) To receive 
reports on the 
consultations on 
the  distribution of 
posts 

Reports tabled at 
Chamber 

Reports tabled at 
chamber

30 September 
2011

30 September 
2011

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

No meetings could 
be convened for 
reasons outlined in 
the introduction of the 
report.



E
LR

C
 2011/12 A

nnual R
eport

Page 58

Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target Performance Result

Reason for Variance

3. Information Sharing

3.1 Employee Wellness

3.1.1 HIV & AIDS 
To receive reports on the 
implementation of HIV/AIDS 
Policy in Schools

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved No meetings could 
be convened for 
reasons outlined in 
the introduction of the 
report.

3.1.2 Grievances 
To receive reports on the 
level of grievances and 
the process of resolving 
grievances 

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved No meetings could 
be convened for 
reasons outlined in 
the introduction of the 
report.

3.1.3 Integrated Employee 
Health and Wellness
To receive reports on 
integrated approach on 
employee health and 
wellness programmes of the 
ECDEO

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved No meetings could 
be convened for 
reasons outlined in 
the introduction of the 
report.

3.2. Performance Management

IQMS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of IQMS 

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved No meetings could 
be convened for 
reasons outlined in 
the introduction of the 
report.

3.3. Skills Development

To receive reports on skills 
development

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved No meetings could 
be convened for 
reasons outlined in 
the introduction of the 
report.

3.4. Employment Equity

To receive reports 
on consultations on 
2010/11Equity targets

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved No meetings could 
be convened for 
reasons outlined in 
the introduction of the 
report.
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target Performance Result

Reason for Variance

3. Information Sharing (continued)

3.5. Professional Matters

3.5.1 Inclusive Education 
To receive reports on the 
implementation of Inclusive 
Education LSEN policies in 
schools

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved No meetings could 
be convened for 
reasons outlined in 
the introduction of the 
report.

3.5.2 Conditions 
of Service for ECD 
practitioners/ educators
To receive reports on the 
improvement of conditions 
of service for ECD 
practitioners / educators

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved No meetings could 
be convened for 
reasons outlined in 
the introduction of the 
report.

3.5.3 Curriculum
To receive reports on the 
management plan for the 
monitoring 

(i) of examination centres
(ii) marking centres

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved No meetings could 
be convened for 
reasons outlined in 
the introduction of the 
report.

4. Monitoring

4.1 Temporary Educators
To monitor the conditions 
of service of Temporary 
educators

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved The matter is being 
attended to. To be 
concluded in the next 
fi nancial year. 

4.2 Post Provisioning
To monitor the effect of post 
provisioning in the province

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved No meetings could 
be convened for 
reasons outlined in 
the introduction of the 
report.
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FS

2.2.2  FREE STATE

INTRODUCTION

During the period under review, there has been a tremendous improvement in terms of the chamber’s performance as the 
achievement rate was at 77.8% at the end of the fi nancial year 2011/2012.

The signifi cant achievements for the year under review include the following:

• Post provisioning consultation that took place in line with prescripts, which culminated in fi nal post establishments 
being released to all districts on 9th September 2011, thus concluding the consultation process before 30th 
September 2011. 

• The presentation highlighted the educator learner ratio of 1: 28 for 2012 and an increase on learner numbers from 
609 137 to 613 999 as compared to the continuous decline that had been witnessed in previous years.

• Free State Collective Agreement 1 of 2009 implementation report highlighted that a total of 335 temporary 
educators qualifi ed for the conversion into permanent posts in the year under review.

• Utilisation of temporary educators and payment of their salaries has been continuous to ensure that each class 
had a teacher.

• Skills Development, Equity Targets and Employee Wellness, there was consistent reporting throughout, which 
highlighted achievements and challenges.

Another signifi cant achievement and highlight worth noting is in respect of the advertising and fi lling of posts, whereby six 
vacancy lists were published with a total of 1 329 posts advertised in 2011.   

After lengthy deliberations on how implementation would unfold in respect of incentives for educators, consensus was 
reached that only farm school educators who qualifi ed as per Government Gazette No. 30678 will receive incentives, and 
subsequently payment was effected accordingly.  

The following table is refl ective of objectives, performance results and reasons for variance as per the operational plan for 
the period under review. 
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target Performance Result

Reason for Variance

1. Collective Bargaining (Negotiation & Consultation)

1.1 Matters of mutual 
interest 
To conclude collective 
agreements if matters 
of mutual interest were 
identifi ed

Collective 
Agreements 
concluded (if 
applicable)

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

1.2 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Principals)
To convene a workshop 
to identify matters and to 
agree on processes and 
timeframes

Workshop 
convened

By 28 
February 
2012

Not Achieved Matter could not 
be dealt with as 
anticipated. It would 
only be convened in 
the 2012/13 fi nancial 
year. 

1.3 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Negotiators)
To convene a workshop 
to identify matters and 
agree on processes and 
timeframes

Workshop on 
Post Provisioning 
related matters 
convened

31st March 
2012

Achieved

2. Consultations

2.1 Post Provisioning
To convene a workshop 
on the indicative budget 
for post provisioning in 
the Provincial Education 
Department

Workshop 
convened

30 September 
2011

 Achieved

2.2 Post Provisioning
a) To receive 

reports on the 
consultations on 
the creation of 
posts 

b) To receive 
reports on the 
consultations on 
the distribution of 
posts 

Reports tabled at 
chamber 

Reports tabled at 
chamber

30 September 
2011

30 September 
2011

Achieved

Achieved
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target Performance Result

Reason for Variance

3. INFORMATION SHARING

3.1 Employee Wellness

3.1.1 HIV & AIDS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of HIV/ADS 
Policy in Schools

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.1.2 Grievances
To receive reports on the 
level of grievances and 
the process of resolving 
grievances

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.2 Performance Management

IQMS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of IQMS

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.3 Skills Development

To receive reports on skills 
programmes

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.4 Employment Equity

To receive reports on 
consultations on 2010/2011 
equity targets

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

 Achieved

3.5 Professional Matters

Advertising and Filling of 
educator posts
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the 
advertising and fi lling of 
educator posts

Reports received 
and analysed by 
the Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012
31 March 
2012

Achieved
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target Performance Result

Reason for Variance

4. Monitoring

4.1 Temporary Educators
To monitor the extent of 
utilisation of temporary 
educators

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber and 
submitted to the 
General Secretary

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

4.2 Permanent 
appointment of temporary 
educators
To receive a report from 
DoE on conversion of 
temporary educators in 
terms of FS CA 1/2009

Report received 
and analysed by 
the Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

4.3 Post Provisioning
To monitor the effect of post 
provisioning in the Province

Reports received 
and analysed by 
the Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

 Achieved 
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GP

2.2.3  GAUTENG

INTRODUCTION

This report stipulates the Chamber’s performance during the period under review.  Both parties to the Chamber worked 
hard towards achieving its objectives as stipulated in the Annual Performance Plan, supported by the functioning and 
interaction of task teams. 

Employee parties were afforded an opportunity to give their input in relation to the presentations made by the employer. 
The Circular on Filling of vacancies of educator Posts (CS) at schools from 1 April to 31 December 2011 (Ordinary and 
LSEN) was adopted and distributed.

Circular and Guidelines on the management and usage of Information, Communication and Technology (ICT’s) in schools 
were adopted. 

In addition, the employer presented the Gauteng Primary Literacy Strategy (GPLS) Coaches Practice Manual, which was 
adopted in the Chamber.  The objective of the Manual was to provide coaches with a set of consistent tools and to ensure 
a consistent approach to coaching teachers in Gauteng. 

The employer presented the proposed training dates for Intersen (grade 4-7); Intersen CAPS training and GPLS Intermediate 
phase (English teachers).  The purpose of the presentation was to seek support from Labour for the strategy and its 
implementation thereof as well as to reach an amicable agreement with Labour on the dates and times or the programme. 

The employer also presented Grading of Institutions 2012 for Special Schools as well as the post establishment and the 
grading of Therapists posts. 

During the period under review, most predetermined objectives were achieved at the expected timeframes.  The Chamber, 
in its quest and commitment to delivering good and quality service, would follow up and ensure that objectives not achieved 
would be attended to.
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target Performance Result Reason for Variance

1. Collective Bargaining (Negotiation & Consultation)

1.1 Matters of mutual 
interest 
To conclude collective 
agreements if matters 
of mutual interest were 
identifi ed

Collective 
Agreement 
concluded (if 
applicable)

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

1.2 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Principals)
To convene a workshop 
to identify matters and to 
agree on processes and 
timeframes

Workshop 
convened

March 2012 Achieved

1.3 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Negotiators)
To convene a workshop 
to identify matters and to 
agree on processes and 
timeframes

Workshop 
convened

March 2012 Achieved

2. Consultations

2.1 Post Provisioning
To convene a workshop 
on the indicative budget 
for post provisioning in 
the Provincial Education 
Department

Workshop 
convened

30 June 2011 Achieved

2.2 Post Provisioning
a) To receive reports on 

the consultations on 
the creation of posts 

b) To receive reports 
on the consultations 
on the distribution of 
posts 

Reports tabled at 
chamber 

Reports tabled at 
chamber

30 September 
2011

30 September 
2011

Achieved

Achieved
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target Performance Result Reason for Variance

3. Information Sharing

3.1 Employee Wellness

3.1.1 HIV & AIDS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of HIV/ADS 
Policy in Schools

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.1.2 Grievances
To receive reports on the 
level of grievances and 
the process of resolving 
grievances

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved 

3.2. Performance Management

IQMS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of IQMS

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved 

3.3. Skills Development

To receive reports on skills 
programmes

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved No reports were 
tabled. The employer 
would liaise with the 
secretariat of the 
Skills Development 
Committee to present 
a report in the 
Chamber meeting 
scheduled for April.

3.4. Employment Equity

To receive reports on 
consultations on 2010/2011 
equity targets

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved A workshop would 
take place in April to 
address this issue.

3.5. Professional Matters

3.5.1 NCS Training
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the training 
plan

Training plan 
endorsed by the 
Chamber

30 June 2011 Achieved

3.5.2 Advertisement and 
fi lling of promotional 
posts
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the 
advertisement and fi lling of 
promotional posts

Management plan 
endorsed by the 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target Performance Result Reason for Variance

3. Information Sharing (continued)

3.5. Professional Matters

3.5.3 Inclusive Education
To receive reports on the 
implementation of Inclusive 
Education (LSEN) policies 
in schools

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.5.4 Appointment of 
foreign educators
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the 
principles and provisions 
that governs recruitment 
and employment of foreign 
educators

Reports and 
circular tabled and 
endorsed in the 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved The Chamber agreed 
to put this item on 
hold, pending legal 
advice on how to 
proceed with the 
matter.

4. Monitoring

4.1 Temporary Educators
To monitor the extent of 
utilisation of temporary 
educators

Reports received 
and analysed 
by chamber and 
submitted to the 
General Secretary

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

4.2 Post Provisioning
To monitor the effect of post 
provisioning in the province

Reports received 
and analysed by 
chamber 

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved
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KZN

2.2.4 KWAZULU-NATAL

INTRODUCTION 

The period under review was eventful and productive in that Parties had dealt with key issues, which impacted on quality 
Education in KwaZulu-Natal.

It must be remembered that the normal functioning of Chamber was interrupted for the better part of 2009 and continued 
in 2010, which consequently and to some extent, had a ripple effect on the modus operandi of the KZN Chamber during all 
four quarters of the period under review. 

The predetermined objectives, which had been identifi ed and catered for in the operational plan, had been replaced by 
priority issues, which were identifi ed during the era of the Special Task Team and even beyond that. 

Parties seek solace from the fact that the work of the ELRC essentially comprises of, on the one hand, providing Parties 
with the forum to conduct ongoing negotiations and dispute prevention / resolution on the other. Therefore and whilst being 
identifi ed as additional items which marked a deviation from the pre-determined plan, these are nevertheless issues which 
fall within the broader purview of negotiation and/or dispute prevention and resolution, hence dealing and dispensing with 
issues within the mandate of the ELRC as a bargaining council.

Some key features which Parties had devoted much time to were the plight of un/under qualifi ed educators (+/- 14000), 
the effective handling of the post provisioning norm to ensure the smooth functioning of schools, and the issue of displaced 
educators. Barring the PPN process, the plight of un/under qualifi ed educators and displaced educators might be unique 
to KZN but they are defi nitely issues, which signifi cantly impact on the delivery of quality Public education in this Province. 

Parties worked tirelessly to formulate a new agreement to deal and expeditiously dispense with the backlog of displaced 
educators. 
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The ELRC has taken a lead role in this process with providing the Parties the opportunity to formulate a new agreement, 
followed by the Provincial Secretary co-ordinating the entire process and by offering Parties commissioners/facilitators 
to fi nalise these cases. This poses a demanding and challenging time for the PELRC KZN to ensure that the process is 
successfully completed. This process remains work in progress and has carried over into the new fi nancial year. 

It is also pleasing to note a signifi cant increase in the number of educators who visit or telephone the offi ce seeking advice 
on a range of labour related queries. 

The Provincial Secretary also provided training to trade union parties by way of workshops on their request so as to 
enhance the capacity to effectively deal with dispute prevention and resolution. 

The Parties have also fi nalised a new organogram for the KZN DoE to streamline its functioning and ensure effective 
service delivery. 

Whilst the agenda of chamber were refocused, there were many items identifi ed on the normal operational plan that had 
been achieved. (As refl ected in table below) 

The Provincial Secretary has constantly reminded Parties of the need to make every effort to ensure the normal functioning 
of chamber continues unabated and more important, that the work of the KZN Chamber remains in sync with the pre-
determined objectives.   Parties are very keen therefore, to plan and prepare for the next operational planning workshop 
for the forthcoming period. 

Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

1. Collective Bargaining

1.1 Matters of mutual 
interest 
To conclude collective 
agreements if matters of 
mutual interest were identifi ed

Collective 
Agreement 
concluded (if 
applicable)

1) Agreement on 
an Expedited 
Process to 
Eradicate 
the Backlog 
of Displaced 
Educators

2) Sifting
3) Guidelines for 

promotions

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

Achieved

1.2 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Principals)
To convene a workshop to 
identify matters and to agree 
on processes and timeframes

Workshop 
convened

By 28 
February 
2012

Not Achieved Not tabled and 
discussed. Other 
issues took 
precedence.
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

1. Collective Bargaining (continued)

1.3 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Negotiators)
To convene a workshop to 
identify matters and to agree 
on processes and timeframes

Workshop 
convened

By 31 March 
2012 

Not Achieved Not tabled and 
discussed. Other 
issues took 
precedence.

2. Consultations

2.1 Post Provisioning
To convene a workshop on 
the indicative budget for post 
provisioning in the Provincial 
Education Department

Workshop 
convened

By 30 June 
2011

Achieved 

2.2 Post Provisioning
a) To receive reports on 

the consultations on 
the creation of posts.

b) To receive reports 
on the consultations 
on the distribution of 
posts

Reports tabled at 
chamber 

30 
September 
2011

30 
September 
2011

Not Achieved Matter will be tabled 
for discussion on 
post creation and 
distribution for 2012. 
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

3. Information Sharing

3.1 Employee Wellness

3.1.1 HIV & AIDS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of HIV/ADS 
Policy in Schools

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved Not tabled and 
discussed. Other 
issues took 
precedence.

3.1.2 Grievances
To receive reports on the level 
of grievances and the process 
of resolving grievances

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012
 

Achieved

3.2 Performance Management

IQMS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of IQMS

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved Not tabled and 
discussed. Other 
issues took 
precedence.

3.3 Skills Development

To receive reports on skills 
programmes

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved Not tabled and 
discussed. Other 
issues took 
precedent.

3.4 Employment Equity

To receive reports on 
consultations on 2010/2011 
equity targets

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved Not tabled and 
discussed. Other 
issues took 
precedence.

3.5 Professional Matters 

NCS (Gr9-10-12) 
To negotiate the provision of 
program

Report on outcomes 
of negotiations held

By 31 March 
2012 

Not Achieved Not tabled and 
discussed. Other 
issues took 
precedence.

4. Monitoring

4.1 Temporary Educators
To monitor the extent of 
utilisation of temporary 
educators

Reports received 
and analysed 
by chamber and 
submitted to the 
General Secretary

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved Not tabled and 
discussed. Other 
issues took 
precedence.

4.2 Post Provisioning
To monitor the effect of post 
provisioning in the province

Reports received 
and analysed by 
chamber 

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved Not tabled and 
discussed. Other 
issues took 
precedence.
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LP

2.2.5 LIMPOPO

INTRODUCTION

The Limpopo Chamber of the ELRC has maintained a continued consistent improvement in the achievement of its 
objectives. This Chamber achieved 86% of its objectives compared to the 85% achievement in the previous fi nancial 
year. 

Among others, the achievement of Chamber was as follows:

The remarkable milestone of Chamber was the signing of Collective Agreement No.1 of 2012 on the implementation 
of the 2012 schools’ post establishments. Chamber monitored the payment of the 1% pay progression for the 2010 
IQMS implementation for the majority of qualifying (evaluated) educators. Schools were trained in phases on School Self 
Evaluation. Outstanding payments for the 37% in lieu of benefi ts to temporary educators in terms of the PSCBC Resolution 
No.1 of 2007 were made. Deserving (qualifying) temporary educators who’ve exited the system before being paid their 
outstanding 37% in lieu of benefi ts would be located with the aid of the schools at which they were appointed and be paid. 
An additional number of identifi ed school posts would start receiving incentives (allowances) for “remoteness and poverty” 
in the next fi nancial year.

Chamber monitored and adopted the implementation reports on vacancy lists volumes No. 1, and No. 3 of 2010 and No. 
1, 2, and 3 of 2009 for the fi lling of the promotional posts. The implementation of the Limpopo Collective Agreement No.1 
of 2008 on guidelines for sifting, shortlisting and interview procedures was also monitored.

Chamber adopted:

• The Consolidated (LDoE) Curriculum workshop programmes for 2012 and endorsed the approach of administering 
Common Task Assessments on grade 12 classes in each of the fi rst three terms.

• The Employment Equity targets for 2012 

Advocacy workshops were conducted to support the district IQMS and Dispute Prevention task teams mainly on their terms 
of reference for their effective performance. 
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Chamber was working on the improvement of the performance of the dispute prevention task team by urging the employer 
party to table, in task team meetings, composite reports from all districts as per the Chamber decision. 

Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

1. Collective Bargaining

1.1 Matters of mutual 
interest
To conclude collective 
agreements if matters of 
mutual interest were identifi ed

Collective 
Agreement 
concluded (if 
applicable)

By 30 March 
2012

Achieved

1.2 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Principals)
To convene a workshop to 
identify matters and to agree 
on processes and timeframes

Workshop 
convened

By March 
2012

Not Achieved Some matters were 
identifi ed in meetings 
outside of Chamber 
and adopted by 
Chamber.

1.3 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Negotiators)
To convene a workshop to 
identify matters and to agree 
on processes and timeframes

Workshop 
convened

By March 
2012

Achieved

2. Consultations 

2.1 Post Provisioning
To convene a workshop on 
the indicative budget for post 
provisioning in the Provincial 
Department of Education

Workshop 
convened

By 30 June 
2011

Not Achieved The budget for 
2011-2012 post 
provisioning was 
dealt with outside of 
Chamber and the 
outcomes thereof 
were adopted by 
Chamber.

2.2 Post Provisioning
a) To receive reports on 

the consultations on 
the creation of posts.

b) To receive reports 
on the consultations 
on the distribution of 
posts

Reports Tabled at 
Chamber

Reports tabled at 
Chamber

By 30 
September 
2011

By 30 
September 
2011

Achieved

Achieved
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

3. Information Sharing 

3.1 Employee Wellness

3.1.1 HIV & AIDS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of HIV/AIDS 
Policy in Schools

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.1.2 Grievances
To receive reports on the level 
of grievances and the process 
of resolving grievances

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.2 Performance Management

IQMS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of IQMS

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.3 Skills Development

To receive reports on skills 
programmes.

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.4 Employment Equity

To receive reports on 
consultations on 2010/2014 
Equity targets

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.5 Professional Matters

Curriculum
To monitor the implementation 
of the curriculum in various 
learning areas

Report tabled 
and adopted in 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

4. Monitoring

4.1 Temporary Educators
To monitor the extent of 
utilisation of temporary 
educators

Reports received 
and analysed 
by chamber and 
submitted to the 
General Secretary

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

4.2 Post Provisioning
To monitor the effect of post 
provisioning in the province

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

4.3 Provincial Collective 
Agreements
To monitor the implementation 
of Collective Agreements:

(i) No. 1 of 2008 (Sifting, 
shortlisting and 
interview)

(ii) No. 1 of 2009 
(Appointment of Grade 
12 Markers)

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved
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MP 

2.2.6 MPUMALANGA 

INTRODUCTION

Parties bargained over the future of temporary educators in that there were those who have been in the system for too 
long and occupied substantive posts but remained temporary in their status of employment. After thorough engagement 
over the matter, all parties agreed that the status of temporary educators who qualifi ed to be converted into a permanent 
position be effected through the conclusion of a collective agreement No 1 of 2011. This agreement necessitates that those 
temporary educators who qualify and in substantive posts be appointed on a full time basis.

The MTEF that relates to the Post Provisioning Norms was successfully fi nalised with all parties agreeing to its 
implementation.

All programmes and plans that are facilitated through the section in Teacher Education and Development which will be 
utilised in monitoring and supporting the implementation of IQMS’s developmental programmes were ratifi ed and adopted. 
Further to this parties accepted and endorsed reports on the outcomes of the 2011 school visits and the capturing of IQMS 
scores for pay progression.

An ACE programme that deals with professional networks has been developed and is currently being implemented in the 
entire province. This programme is aimed at equipping principals of the underperforming schools with regard to matric 
results and ensures that there is mentoring on leadership, administrative and management capacity.

Parties were able to share information on curriculum development issues as follows:

An intervention plan and strategy for the improvement of learner performance in Maths, Physics, Accounting and 
Economics, and the improvement of performance of schools which are regarded as dysfunctional have been developed 
and are currently being implemented.

Reports on the CAPS training programmes conducted by teacher formations, which were reported to have successfully 
run and concluded with high effi ciency, were tabled in chamber. Further training programmes and plans were developed, 
accepted and supported by all parties for their implementation.
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

1. Collective Bargaining (Negotiation & Consultation)

1.1 Matters of mutual 
interest
Collective Bargaining
To conclude collective 
agreement if matters of 
mutual interest were identifi ed

Collective 
Agreement 
concluded (if 
applicable)

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved 

1.2 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Principals)
To convene a workshop to 
identify matters and agree on 
processes and timeframes.

Workshop 
convened

March 2012 Achieved 

1.3 Collective Bargaining 
workshop (Provincial 
Negotiators)
To convene a workshop to 
identify matters and agree on 
processes and timeframes

Workshop 
convened

March 2012 Not Achieved Workshop was 
postponed to the next 
fi nancial year. 

2. Consultations 

2.1 Post Provisioning
To convene a workshop on 
the indicative budget for post 
provisioning in the Provincial 
Education Department

Workshop 
convened

October 2012 Achieved

2.2 Post Provisioning
a) To receive reports on 

the consultations on 
the creation of posts 

b) To receive reports 
on the consultations 
on the  distribution of 
posts 

Reports tabled at 
chamber 

Reports tabled at 
chamber

30 
September 
2011

30 
September 
2011

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

Meetings were not 
convened owing to the 
impasse between the 
employer and CTU-
SADTU
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

3. Information Sharing 

3.1 Employee Wellness

3.1.1 HIV & AIDS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of HIV/AIDS 
Policy in Schools

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.1.2 Grievances
To receive reports on the level 
of grievances and the process 
of resolving them

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved Reports not received.

3.2 Performance Management

IQMS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of IQMS

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.3 Skills Development

To receive reports on skills 
programmes

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved Reports not received.

3.4 Employment Equity

To receive reports on 
consultations on 2010/2011 
equity targets

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.5 Professional Matters

Curriculum
To received reports on the 
implementation of the NCS 
programmes

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

4. Monitoring

4.1 Temporary Educators
To monitor the extent of 
utilization of temporary 
educators

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

4.2 Post Provisioning
To monitor the effects of post 
provisioning in the province

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved
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NC

2.2.7 NORTHERN CAPE

INTRODUCTION

For the period under review there was signifi cant improvement in the achievement of the Chamber. As at the end of the 
fi scal year 2011/12 the overall performance was at 75%.

For the fi nancial year 2011/12 the MTEF consultation process was completed successfully. For the fi rst time in the history 
of the Chamber parties managed to meet the legislative requirements to complete the process by 30 September 2011. 
On 27 September 2011 the staff establishments were send to the schools enabling them to do their planning for the next 
academic year.

Given the magnitude of the outstanding Policy Incapacity Leave Ill Retirement (PILIR) cases a task team was established 
and the affected educators were visited individually. The outstanding cases were seventy-three (73). Due to the approach 
taken the number of cases came down remarkably. 

Although temporary educators were paid late the majority received their salaries by March 2012. Out of the 113 temporary 
educators that were not paid 96 received their salaries.

A vacancy list was published in 2011 for fi lling on 1 January 2012. However, some of the post level 1-educator posts were 
not fi lled. 
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

1. Collective Bargaining (Negotiation & Consultation)

1.1 Matters of mutual 
interest
To conclude collective 
agreements if matters of 
mutual interest were identifi ed

Collective 
agreement 
concluded (if 
applicable)

By 28 
February 
2012

Achieved

1.2 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Principals)
To convene a workshop 
to identify matters and to 
agree on processes and time 
frames.

Workshop 
convened

By March 
2012

Achieved

1.3 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Negotiators)
To convene a workshop 
to identify matters and to 
agree on processes and time 
frames.

Workshop 
convened

By March 
2012

Achieved

2. Consultations

2.1 Post Provisioning
To convene a workshop on 
the indicative budget for post 
provisioning in the Provincial 
Education Department

Workshop 
convened

30 June 2011 Not Achieved The workshop was 
postponed to the next 
fi nancial year. 

2.2 Post Provisioning
a) To receive reports on 

the consultations on 
the creation of posts 

b) To receive reports 
on the consultations 
on the  distribution of 
posts 

Reports tabled at 
Chamber

Reports tabled at 
Chamber

By 30 
September 
2011

Achieved
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

3. Information Sharing

3.1 Employee Wellness

3.1.1 HIV & AIDS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of HIV/AIDS 
policy in schools

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved Scheduled meetings 
did not materialize due 
to the unavailability of 
parties.

3.1.2 Grievances
To receive reports on the level 
of grievances and the process 
of resolving grievances

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.2 Performance Management

IQMS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of IQMS

Implementation 
reports tabled and 
endorsed by the 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

PMDS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of PMDS

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved The meeting has been 
scheduled for the next 
quarter.

3.3 Skills Development

To receive reports on skills 
programmes

Reports endorsed 
by the Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.4 Employment Equity

To receive reports on 
consultation on 2011/12 
equity targets

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved The meeting will be 
scheduled in the next 
quarter.

3.5 Professional Matters

3.5.1 Early Childhood 
Development (ECD)
To interact with reports on 
the development in ECD 
(recruitment, employment and 
training of ECD practitioners)

Reports endorsed 
by the Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved Due to unavailability 
of partied scheduled 
meetings did not sit.

3.5.2 Curriculum
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the NCS

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

3. Information Sharing (continued)

3.5 Professional Matters

3.5.3 Advertising and fi lling 
of educator posts
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the 
advertising and fi lling of 
educator posts

Agreement reached 
on vacant funded 
posts

Endorsement of the 
management plan

Vacancy list 
published

By 30 
September 
2011

Achieved

4. Monitoring

4.1 Temporary Educators
To monitor the extent of 
utilization of temporary 
educators

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

4.2 Post Provisioning
To monitor the effect of post 
provisioning in the province

Reports received 
and analysed by the 
chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved
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NW 

2.2.8 NORTH WEST

INTRODUCTION

This annual performance report covers the period 1st April 2011 to 31st March 2012 and provides a true refl ection of 
the performance of North West provincial chamber as per the approved and agreed upon annual performance plan. 
The chamber experienced a period of lull from the middle of November 2011 to the middle of March 2012 which was 
characterized by impasse between the Employer party and “CTU” SADTU and also characterized by a lot of postponement 
of meetings by parties interchangeably. The chamber however was able to successfully convene all the meetings as per 
the adopted year planner including the special chamber meetings and the party principal’s meeting to assist in resolving 
the impasse. The only hope the chamber has is that the impasse would be successfully resolved bilaterally outside the 
chamber as per party principal’s decision. 

In the fi nancial year under review, the chamber recorded 87% achievement rate as compared to the 73% achievement rate 
of the previous fi nancial year (2010 to 2011). The standardized annual performance plan consisted of 15 objectives and 
North West chamber has been able to deal successfully with thirteen (13) objectives. Signifi cant to the chamber was that 
the impasse did not derail the chamber’s focus in dealing with the business of the chamber. 

In conclusion, parties to chamber have demonstrated commitment in compromising and returning to bargaining with the 
spirit of maintaining labour peace within the education sector in the province by vigorously, robustly and successfully 
engaging each other for common understanding. 
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The table below indicates the implementation report, which refl ects the achieved objectives and the once that were not 
achieved during this fi nancial year under review together with the reasons for variance.

Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

1. Collective Bargaining (Negotiation & Consultation)

1.1 Matters of mutual 
interest
To conclude collective 
agreements if maters of 
mutual interest were identifi ed

Collective 
agreement 
concluded
(if applicable)

30 June 2011 Achieved

1.2 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Principals) 
To convene a workshop to 
identify matters and to agree 
on processes and timeframes

Workshop 
convened

By 28 
February 
2012

Not Achieved The prevailed situation 
(impasse) within the 
provincial Chamber 
was not conducive 
for a workshop to be 
convened.

1.3 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Negotiators)
To convene a workshop to 
identify matters and to agree 
on processes and timeframes.

Workshop 
convened 

By 31 March 
2012

Not Achieved The prevailed situation 
(impasse) within the 
provincial chamber 
was not conducive 
for a workshop to be 
convened. 

2. Consultations

2.1 Post Provisioning
To convene a workshop on 
the indicative budget for post 
provisioning in the Provincial 
Education Department

Workshop 
convened

By 30 
September 
2011

Achieved 

2.2 Post Provisioning
a) To receive reports on 

the consultations on 
the creation of posts 

b) To receive reports 
on the consultations 
on the  distribution of 
posts 

Reports tabled at 
Chamber

Reports tabled at 
Chamber

By 30 
September 
2011

Achieved
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

3. Information Sharing 

3.1 Employee Wellness

3.1.1 HIV & AIDS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of HIV/ADS 
Policy in Schools

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved 

3.1.2 Grievances
To receive reports on the level 
of grievances and the process 
of resolving grievances

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved 

3.2 Performance Management 

IQMS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of IQMS

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.3 Skills Development

To receive reports on skills 
programmes

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.4 Employment Equity

To receive reports on 
consultations on 2011/2012 
equity targets

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.5 Professional Matters

3.5.1 Early childhood 
development (ECD)
To interact with reports on 
the developments in ECD 
(recruitment, employment and 
training of ECD practitioners)

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved 

3.5.2 Inclusive Education
To receive reports on the 
implementation of Inclusive 
Education (LSEN) policies in 
schools

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved 

3.5.3 Educator Professional 
Development on Curriculum
To receive, analyse and 
interact with information 
on educator professional 
development on curriculum.

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

4. Monitoring

4.1 Temporary Educators
To monitor the extent of 
utilisation of temporary 
educators

To monitor the conditions 
of service of temporary 
educators

To monitor the payment 
of salaries of temporary 
educators

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber 

April 2011 to 
March 2012

April 2011 to 
March 2012

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved 

Achieved

Achieved

4.2 Post Provisioning
To monitor the effect of post 
provisioning in the Province

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved
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WC

2.2.9 WESTERN CAPE

INTRODUCTION

This Annual Report gives a transient view of the Chamber’s goals, objectives and challenges and the extent to which the 
chamber had satisfactorily achieved its objectives.

The period under review had disruptions due to the employer party reneging on commitments. This left the chamber to be 
inactive from 12 April 2011 – 14 June 2011. For chamber to achieve its goals, tight time frames were afforded to parties to 
engage in productive meetings. 

Planning during the past year ensured that the chamber worked within its budget, meetings were timeously scheduled, and 
the business of meetings was generally concluded within the allocated timeframes. Chamber priorities on some occasions 
deviated from the operational plan but it was unavoidable and resulted in changes to the meeting schedules.

The objectives as identifi ed by the chamber were successfully achieved within the allocated timeframe, as well as one 
additional objective during the year.  This is plausible as Parties were committed to ensure that burning issues were 
addressed in the interest of all to enhance labour peace and improve the quality of learning and teaching in line with the 
QLTC principles. 

The most important achievement for the 2011/2012 fi nancial year was the signing of a Collective Agreement on the 
management of the procedures with regard to the Policy and Procedures on Incapacity Leave and Ill-health Retirement 
(PILIR). Chamber also managed to monitor the placing of Funza Lushaka bursary holders and addressed the affect that it 
may have on temporary educators in the province
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

1. Collective Bargaining

1.1 Matters of mutual 
interest
To conclude collective 
agreements if matters of 
mutual interest were identifi ed

Collective 
Agreement 
concluded (if 
applicable)

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved 

Collective 
agreement signed 
on 13 December 
2011

1.2 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Principals) 
To convene a workshop to 
identify matters and to agree 
on processes and timeframes

Workshop 
convened

By 28 
February 
2012

Not Achieved Matters were dealt 
with at the strategic 
planning session. 

1.3 Collective Bargaining 
Workshop (Provincial 
Negotiators)
To convene a workshop to 
identify matters and to agree 
on processes and timeframes.

Workshop 
convened 

By 31 March 
2012

2. Consultations

2.1 Post Provisioning
To convene a workshop on 
the indicative budget for post 
provisioning in the Provincial 
Education Department

Workshop 
convened

By 30 
September 
2011

Not Achieved Workshop not achieved 
due to the unavailability 
of Parties. 

2.2  Post Provisioning
a) To receive reports on 

the consultations on 
the creation of posts 

b) To receive reports 
on the consultations 
on the  distribution of 
posts 

Reports tabled at 
Chamber

Reports tabled at 
Chamber

By 30 
September 
2011

Achieved
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Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

3. Information Sharing

3.1 Employee Wellness

3.1.1 HIV & AIDS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of HIV/ADS 
Policy in Schools

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.1.2 Grievances
To receive reports on the level 
of grievances and the process 
of resolving grievances

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.2 Performance Management

IQMS
To receive reports on the 
implementation of IQMS

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.3 Skills Development

To receive reports on skills 
programmes

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

3.4 Employment Equity

To receive reports on 
consultations on 2010/2011 
equity targets

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved



E
LR

C
 2

01
1/

12
 A

nn
ua

l R
ep

or
t

Page 91

Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

4. Monitoring

4.1 Temporary Educators
To monitor the payment 
of salaries of temporary 
educators

Reports received 
and analysed 
by chamber and 
submitted to the 
General Secretary

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

4.2 Post Provisioning
To monitor the effect of post 
provisioning in the province

Reports received 
and analysed by 
Chamber

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved
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 PROGRAMME 2.3: GOVERNANCE SUPPORT SERVICES

Objective
Key Performance 

Indicator
Target 

Performance 
Result

Reason for 
Variance

Standing Committee
To receive and approve 
the reports of the various 
standing committees 

Approval of the 
recommendations

1 April 2011 – 30 
March 2012

Achieved 

Quarterly Reports
To receive and ratify the 
Quarterly Reports of the 
Accounting Offi cer

Quarterly Reports 
Ratifi ed for 
submission to 
Executive Authority

1 April 2011 – 30 
March 2012

Achieved

Annual Reports
To receive and ratify the 
Annual Report of the Council 
(1st April 2010 – 31 March 
2011) from the Accounting 
Offi cer

Annual Report 
ratifi ed, submitted to 
the AGM in July 2011 
for Adoption.

July 2011 Achieved

Strategic Planning
To prepare strategic planning 
for the Council

Strategic planning 
approved by 
Executive Authority 

June 2011 Achieved

Implementation
To implement research and 
monitor progress made

Approval of proposals March 2012 Not Achieved The research 
task team is still 
working on the 
recommendations 
to be submitted to 
Council, after which 
EXCO will approve 
the proposals 
for any research 
commissioned by 
Council.

Budget
To determine the budget 
of the Council and 
recommendation such to the 
Executive Authority

Comments with 
changes to approved 
budget for 2012/2013

September 2011 Achieved
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Objectives
Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

To convene the 
ELRC Annual 
General Meeting in 
compliance with the 
ELRC Constitution, 
Section15.2

Annual Report, Audit 
Committee Report, and 
Report of the Auditor 
General adopted and 
recommended to the 
Executive Authority

Chairpersons and 
Members of Audit 
Committee and 
Executive Committee 
appointed

29 July 2011 Achieved
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

Objectives
Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

To receive and 
approve the reports of 
the various standing 
committees 

Approval of the 
recommendations

1 April 2011 to 
31 March 2012

Achieved

To receive and ratify 
the Quarterly Report 
(1st Jan to 31st March 
2011) of the Accounting 
Offi cer

Quarterly Report 
Ratifi ed for submission 
to Executive Authority

1 April 2011 to 
31 March 2012

Achieved

To receive and ratify 
the Annual Report of 
the Council (1st April 
2010-31 March 2011) 
from the Accounting 
Offi cer

Annual Report ratifi ed, 
submitted to the 
AGM in July 2007 for 
adoption. 

1 April 2011 to 
31 March 2012

Achieved

To prepare strategic 
planning for the Council

Strategic planning 
approved by Executive 
Authority

1 April 2011 to 
31 March 2012

Achieved

To determine the 
budget of the Council 
and recommend 
such to the Executive 
Authority

Comments with 
changes to proposed 
budget for 2011-12

1 April 2011 to 
31 March 2012

Achieved

To implement research 
and monitor progress 
made. 

Approval of proposals 1 April 2011 to 
31 March 2012

Not Achieved No proposals were 
submitted   

To arrange workshops 
for the development 
of the budget of the 
Council.

Workshops held in 
provinces

1 January 2012 
to 31 March 
2012

Not Achieved New framework to be 
rolled out in the new 
fi nancial year
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AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Objectives
Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

To receive the quarterly 
performance report of 
the Council from the 
Accounting Offi cer

Quarterly report 
approved

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

To monitor the Risk 
Assessment and 
Management in the 
Council 

Risk Management 
report approved

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Not Achieved Risk assessment was 
postponed to the next 
fi nancial year.

To monitor 
implementation of the 
Fraud Prevention Plan

Fraud prevention report 
submitted

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

To monitor the 
implementation of the 
Compliance audit 

Compliance audit 
report submitted

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

To monitor the incidents 
of Unauthorised, 
Fruitless and Wasteful 
Expenditure

No Unauthorised, 
fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure.

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

To monitor internal 
audit function

Internal audit follow-up 
report approved

July 2011 Achieved

To monitor internal 
audit function

Internal audit plan 
approved

January 2012 Achieved

FINANCE SUB-COMMITTEE (GOVERNANCE)

Objectives
Performance 

Indicator
Target

Performance 
Result

Reason for Variance

To receive and interact 
with the Quarterly 
Report (1st Jan to 31st 
March 2011) of the 
Accounting Offi cer

Quarterly Report 
recommended to 
EXCO

April 2011 to 
March 2012

Achieved

To receive and interact 
with the Annual Report 
of the Council (1st April 
2010-31st March 2011) 
from the Accounting 
Offi cer

Annual Report 
recommended to 
EXCO for approval 

June 2011 Achieved
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OTHER COMMITTEES 

Investments Sub Committee

To monitor the investment 
portfolio of the Council; and

To ensure that the investments 
are in accordance with the 
Treasury Regulations.

All funds invested with 
CPD (SARB)

30 April 2011 Achieved

Budget Sub Committee (Joint Finco-Exco)

To prepare the Councils 
Strategic Plan and Budget for 
the MTEF

To monitor expenditure against 
the allocated budget

Strategic plan approved 
by the Governing Body

Draft budget endorsed by 
the Governing Body

No Unauthorised 
expenditure.

June 2011

August/
September 2011

Achieved

Achieved

Human Resources Sub Committee

Upon request to assist and or 
to conduct interviews, and to 
recommend the appointment 
of certain categories of 
employees to the General 
Secretary, the Executive 
Committee and the Council, as 
the case may be

Recommendation to 
the General Secretary, 
Executive Committee

When the need 
arises

Achieved

To receive and interact with 
grievances of the staff against 
the General Secretary and to 
advise the General Secretary 
and the Executive Committee

General Secretary and  
the Executive Committee

When the need 
arises

No need arose

To consider and to develop 
proposals on matters that may 
impact on human resource 
policy regarding the Council 
staff; and to advise the 
General Secretary and the 
Executive Committee, as the 
case may be

General Secretary and 
the Executive Committee 
advised

When the need 
arises

Achieved
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Interview Sub Committee

Upon request, to assist and or 
to conduct interviews

Interviews conducted When the need 
arises

No need arose

To recommend the 
appointment of certain 
categories of employees to 
the General Secretary, the 
Executive Committee and the 
Council, as the case may be

Recommendations to the 
Executive Committee or 
the General Secretary

When the need 
arises

No need arose

Legal Sub Committee

To attend to such legal matters 
referred to it by the Executive 
Committee or the General 
Secretary

Recommendations to the 
Executive Committee or 
the General Secretary

When the need 
arises

Achieved

To recommend to the General 
Secretary and the Executive 
Committee on policy matters 
and in respect of dispute 
prevention and resolution

Recommendations to the 
Executive Committee or 
the General Secretary

When the need 
arises

No need arose

Bid Evaluation Sub Committee

To deal with procurement 
above R 500 000.00 or any 
other limit prescribed by the 
National Treasury

When the need 
arises

No need arose

To evaluate bids by verifying 
the ability/capability of a 
bidder to execute the relevant 
contracts

Bids evaluated When the need 
arises

No need arose

To verify tax clearance 
certifi cates issued to a bidder 
by the South African Revenue 
Service

Tax clearance certifi cated 
verifi ed

When the need 
arises

No need arose

To submit a report and 
recommendation(s) regarding 
the award of the bid(s) to the 
adjudication committee

Recommendation to the 
Bid Adjudication Sub 
Committee

When the need 
arises

No need arose
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Bid Adjudication Sub Committee

To deal with procurement 
above R 500 000.00 or any 
other limit prescribed by the 
National Treasury

When the need 
arises

No need arose

To verify whether the highest 
scoring bidder has the 
capability and resources 
to carry out the contract as 
offered in the bid

Highest scoring bidder 
capability and resources 
verifi ed

When the need 
arises

No need arose

To select the best bid taking 
into account all the relevant 
legislation

Best bid selected When the need 
arises

No need arose

To make a recommendation to 
the Accounting Offi cer on the 
best bid

Recommendation to the 
Accounting Offi cer

When the need 
arises

No need arose

To maintain a proper fi ling 
system of documents and 
minutes for record and audit 
purposes

Proper fi ling system 
maintained

When the need 
arises

No need arose
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EDUCATION LABOUREDUCATION LABOUR
RELATIONS COUNCILRELATIONS COUNCIL

Mr N Dolopi
(CTU-SADTU)

Mr D Lerm
(CTU-ATU)

Ms S Geyer
(DBE)

Mr S Faker 
(DBE)

Ms JM Peane
(CTU-SADTU)

Mr H Hendricks
(CTU-ATU)

Mr M Galorale
(CTU-SADTU)

Mr M Govender
(ELRC)

Ms D Sekabate
(Chairperson)

ELRC EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
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 PROGRAMME 2.4: DISPUTE PREVENTION SUPPORT SERVICES

INTRODUCTION

Collective Agreement No. 2 of 2007 – Shop Stewards in Education – enables the ELRC to deliver dispute prevention 
support services in public education, and the appointment of trade union offi cials to facilitate negotiations, consultations, 
dispute resolution and dispute prevention.

OBJECTIVE

To facilitate and provide a non-partisan forum for the prevention and resolution of disputes

ALLOCATION AND DISTRIBUTION OF SHOP STEWARDS

As stipulated in Clause 3.3.3 of the Agreement, the distribution of shop stewards shall take into cognisance the size of the 
province and the vote weights of the admitted trade unions in that province. The determination for the succeeding years 
shall be based on the vote weights calculated as at the 30th September of the preceding year, and shall be valid for the 
period 1 January to 31 December of each calendar year. 

This clause has since been replaced by clause 4.3. of Collective Agreement number 1 of 2010, which stipulates that 
“despite clause 3.3.3. (e) in Collective Agreement 2 of 2007: Shop Stewards in Education, the vote weight of this agreement 
shall be used to determine the distribution of shop stewards for the year 2011. 

EC FS GP KZN LP MP NC NW WC TOTAL

CTU-SADTU 7 6 10 8 5 6 5 7 7 61

CTU-ATU 3 4 9 5 4 3 2 2 5 37

TOTAL 10 10 19 13 9 9 7  9 12 98
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ACHIEVEMENTS

Shop Stewards’ work during the period under review covered the following areas:

• Represented educators in disciplinary and Con-Arb (Dispute Resolution) hearings;

• Represented unions in negotiations and consultations – provincial level;

• Involved in the HIV/AIDS intervention programmes;

• Assisted and communicated with educators about education, employment and Trade Union related matters;

• Assisted Trade Unions in monitoring the employer’s compliance with provisions of Collective Agreements and 
workplace-related laws; and

• Reported any alleged contravention of a workplace-related provision of any law and any Collective Agreement 
binding on employer and employee, the Trade Union and responsible authority or agency.
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Simon Thindisa
Provincial Manager:  

Limpopo

Kingsley Phele
Provincial Offi cer: 

Limpopo

Dolin Singh 
Provincial Manager:  

KwaZulu Natal

Andisha Maharaj
Provincial Offi cer: 
KwaZulu Natal

Sharon Cawa
Provincial Manager:  

Gauteng

Jeani Tsheko
Provincial Offi cer: 

Gauteng

Rose Sefotlhelo
Provincial Manager:

Free State

Susan Mone
Provincial Offi cer:

Free State

Nosisa Siwendu 
Provincial Manager:  
Eastern Cape 

Nceba Make 
Provincial Offi cer: 
Eastern Cape 

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING SERVICES
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Frans Mashilo
Committee Offi cer:

Cindy Foca
Senior Manager
Collective Bargaining 
Services

Ayanda Ngobeni
Manager FETC
Collective Bargaining Services

Frederick Moloisi
Provincial Manager:  

North West

Codlyn Joubert
Provincial Offi cer:

Western Cape

William Monaise
Provincial Offi cer:

North West

Ursula Rasego
Provincial Manager:  

Northern Cape

Pulane Mofoti
Provincial Offi cer: 
Northern Cape

Piet Ubisi 
Provincial Manager:  

Mpumalanga

Brenda Nkosi
Provincial Offi cer: 

Mpumalanga

Michelle Milne
Manager BE

Collective Bargaining Services

Grace Neewat
Provincial Manager: 

Western Cape

      





Executive Services

PROGRAMME 3
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 PROGRAMME 3.1: MANAGEMENT, INTERVENTION AND 
  FACILITATION SERVICES 

3.1.1 Teacher Laptop Initiative 

The Teacher Laptop Initiative (TLI) is managed by the ELRC and forms part of the cohesive plan by the Department of 
Basic Education (DBE) and other stakeholders in education to improve the quality of education by making resources 
available to teachers and learners in the public education sector. The objective of the initiative is to improve information 
and communication technology (ICT) in teaching and learning. 

In line with its mandate to serve the needs of the public education sector, the ELRC in consultation with the DBE and 
combined teacher unions, CTU-SADTU and CTU-ATU, established a task team in April 2009 to drive the initiative. 

This initiative was gazetted in the Government Gazette (GG) No. 32207 of 8 May 2009 to guide the initiative with regards 
to policy related matters, payment of laptop allowances to teachers, specifi cations of laptops, pricing, etc.

The task team investigated different models of laptops and types of software with the objective of acquiring them directly 
from the manufacturers and suppliers respectively. The objective was for teachers to acquire the laptops over a period of 
3-5 years. 

The fi rst offi cial launch of the TLI took place on 11th December 2009 at the Sheraton Hotel in Pretoria. This launch consisted 
of exhibitions by the nine accredited suppliers that were selected to participate in the initiative. A mock-up classroom 
exhibition was arranged, where learners and teachers had a practical demonstration of how laptops can enhance learning 
and teaching in the classroom.

The second launch of the TLI took place on 15th July 2010, at Lotus Gardens Primary School in Pretoria. The anticipated 
rollout and implementation of the initiative was however hindered by the following:

• Government had to review the funding model for the provisioning of the laptops for teachers, as a signifi cant 
number of educators are unable to qualify for fi nance in terms of the National Credit Act; because of the rules of 
profi ling in terms of the Act.

• Banks and fi nance houses were reluctant to fund these and other teachers if there were no state guarantees.

Product Package

The packages consist of appropriate hardware with prescribed minimum specifi cations, school administration, national 
curriculum and other software, as well as Internet connectivity, insurance and fi nance, as per the requirements of GG 
32207. 

TLI Task Team Criteria

The TLI Task Team determined the following criteria:

1 One stop shop

2 Consortium must be lead by laptop / connectivity supplier

3 Direct guarantees for full 5 years by manufacturer / connectivity supplier(repair /replacement)

4 Must include all specifi ed software

5 Provide good / better / best offerings where the total may not exceed R390 per month 

6 Connectivity must be “top up” not open

7 Stop order fi xed for fi ve years
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Consultative research indicated that packages in the market place consisting of bundles as specifi ed in GG 32207 were 
more expensive than the R390 monthly payment. The bundles in the market place did not provide for insurance, fi nance 
and pre-loaded software.

PROVISIONALLY ACCREDITED SUPPLIERS IN 2009

The ELRC worked hard on the accrediting process to ensure that all suppliers were accredited and qualifi ed for stop order 
deduction codes.  

The 12 provisionally accredited suppliers that participated in the fi rst phase of the TLI were:

1 Dell / Latitude Dell

2 Hewlett-Packard Hewlett-Packard

3 Lenovo Lenovo

4 MTN Sahara  / Dell/Acer

5 Pinnacle Technologies Pro-line/ Hewlett- Packard  /Lenovo/Compaq

6 Sahara Systems Sahara 

7 Telkom Mercer

8 Mustek Mercer/Toshiba

9 Vodacom Lenovo / Hewlett-Packard / Sahara

10 LG LG

11 Cell-C Sony & Samsung

12 Fujitsu Fujitsu

STRATEGIC PARTNERS 

The software suppliers were appointed as strategic partners to the initiative because they are providing software and 
reinvesting in the initiative towards the professional development of teachers.

The list of software suppliers and their packages are: 

1 Microsoft Microsoft Windows 7 Pro operating system / Microsoft Offi ce enterprise / Microsoft Digital 
Literacy Curriculum / Microsoft Live @ Edu email address activated against individual 
PERSAL numbers 

2 Symantec Digital Security Software 

3 Adobe Adobe Digital Schools collection
Adobe Presenter Package

4 Intel Intel Skoool (School) training material

5 Other  Connectivity Software / Policy materials

Insurance 

All consortiums have insurance build into their offerings to ensure that the teacher’s laptop is covered for any eventuality. 
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Finance 

A very broad spectrum of fi nancial institutions are involved in this initiative, namely:

• Standard Bank
• IBM Global Finance
• African Bank
• Ithala Bank
• First Equity Risk Management Services
• ABSA
• MTN
• Vodacom

Dimension Data

• Di-data developed a centralised registry to be used by both the provincial education departments and the 
consortiums.

• All Microsoft licenses will be supplied and managed by Di-data as one of Microsoft’s largest global partners. They 
would also manage the Adobe licenses for the teacher package.  

• The centralised system is to assist in the identifi cation of the teacher.
• The system would be used by the provincial Education Departments to issue letters to qualifying teachers, which 

would have a unique number in an effort to prevent fraud.

Intel

• Will test all products with Intel Processers. 
• Will test all laptops offered to teachers to ensure that they comply with the minimum specifi cations. 

Processes 

The accredited suppliers will identify outlets or one-stop shops where a teacher may purchase the complete package, 
which will include the fi nance agreement.

The monthly repayment for the whole package will not exceed R390. The qualifying teachers will receive a monthly 
allowance of R130.00 (taxable) and are required to fund the difference between the allowance and the monthly repayments 
of the package. The repayments are spread over a period of fi ve years.

Identifi cation of qualifying teachers

• The provincial education departments will identify teachers that qualify and provide the list to Dimension data to 
load onto the central registry. 

• The initiative will be rolled out based on fi nancial resources available within the Provincial Education Departments.  
• According to GG32207, provincial education departments will implement allowance based on the preference list 

of senior educators. The DBE has already communicated to provinces that principals would be the fi rst group of 
educators eligible to purchase a laptop.
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Purchasing Process

• The provincial education department will issue the qualifying teacher with letter containing a unique number using 
the centralised system developed by Di-data.

• The authentic qualifying letter would be shown to the accredited service provider
• The educator and accredited service provider will enter into an agreement
• The service provider will issue the teacher with a certifi cate that must be send through to the PED to activate the 

educator’s allowance. Failure of the service provider to issue a certifi cate will result in the service provider not 
being paid for their sale. 

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT  

In 2010 a Teacher Laptop Initiative - Teacher Professional Development Committee was formulated to ensure that teachers 
receiving laptops through the programme would receive appropriate training to ensure the effective use of the technology 
to support administration and importantly, enhance the teaching and learning approaches.  The committee comprises 
representatives from the teacher unions, strategic TLI partners and the Department of Basic Education, all of whom 
contributed ideas and time towards formulating the approach and courseware. 

A strategy was agreed on and a plan produced by the committee, along with relevant curriculum for each phase of the 
training that was to be done. Part of the funding was due to come from reinvestment schemes provided by Microsoft, Adobe 
and Symantec. However, to date there has been no money received to carry out the training as very few laptops have 
actually been sold to teachers. The committee remains dedicated to ensuring that teachers that receive laptops benefi t 
from training, and as soon as funding is available, we are ready to implement.

The Teacher Professional Development Strategy aims to support the Department of Basic Education’s Quality Learning 
and Teaching Campaign. 

Teacher Professional Development sub-committee for TLI

A task team has been formally established to plan and manage implementation of teacher professional development in 
support of effective use of the teacher laptops. This team comprises the Department of Basic Education, the Teacher 
Unions and ELRC, and the strategic consortia partners. 

Training model and strategy

Phase 1: Advocacy sessions 

2-3 hour advocacy sessions incorporated into the launch event in each of the provinces, to promote and demonstrate the 
value of the initiative including the following:

• Overview of the Teacher Laptop Initiative – who qualifi es, costs and subsidy available for teachers, what is 
included in the consortium offerings, teacher training, how to order a laptop (and potentially make this process 
available at the sessions).

• Demo of software, curriculum content and training included 
• Value of a teacher laptop - how the laptop with the resources and content will support teacher administration and 

enhance teaching and learning

Facilitators: SchoolNet personnel and SchoolNet trainers; DBE representatives; Union representatives
Audience: teachers who are considering buying a laptop through the Teacher Laptop Initiative
Approximate timing: following the launch on 15 July to September 2010
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Phase 2: Orientation/introductory session 

One day of optional face-to-face training using existing experienced trainers, introducing all interested teachers who have 
purchased a laptop through the TLI, to the operation of the laptop and navigation through resources and content available 
on the laptop.  These will be run in each of the provinces when there is a critical mass of teachers, based on the information 
provided through the DiData Central Registry. This course information will be provided in print and downloadable format as 
an alternative option to attending the course.

Facilitators: Facilitator training sessions to be run by authorised training providers (SchoolNet SA).
Audience: teachers have bought a laptop through the Teacher Laptop Initiative
Approximate timing: September 2010 onwards once teachers have received laptops. 

Phase 3: Depth Scale Model - ongoing teacher professional development

71 Teacher 
Centres

Recipient 
Teachers

Provincial ICT 
Resource 
Centres

Recipient 
Teachers

Teacher Union 
Professional 
Development 

Institutes

National Training 
Entity to run 

Master Training

Recipient 
Teachers

Provincial DoE 
Trainers

Recipient 
Teachers

Individual 
Teacher 

Champions/
Trainers

Recipient 
Teachers

Other

Recipient 
Teachers

• SchoolNet SA will create a critical mass of national facilitators in order to scale continuous training. The national 
facilitators will be selected from current provincial trainers; trainers from provincial ICT Resources or Teacher 
Centres; trainers from Unions; champion teachers in provinces.

• Cisco Master training will need to be conducted by accredited Universities. 
• Facilitators need to pass training certifi cation in order to conduct training, to maintain standards.
• Training will happen at either a teacher centre, union offi ce or school depending on proximity and critical mass of 

teachers.
• Teachers to maintain minimum standards set out for training to be recognised towards teacher professional 

development point system.
• Recommend that facilitators train in pairs until they are confi dent enough to train alone.
• Pair experienced facilitators with newly recruited facilitators.
• Training to be mandatory for principals with laptops because there should be management buy-in and support.
• Focus teacher training on novice teachers while also providing intermediate level training.  
• Monitoring and evaluation of trained teachers – facilitators and teachers complete evaluation reports.
• Certifi cates for teachers attending training who have met all requirements. 

Facilitators: Facilitators from institutions/organisations outlined above
Audience: ongoing teacher professional development 
Approximate timing: January 2011 onwards 
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All training initiatives will be supported by programming broadcast on Mindset Learn (available on Dstv, TopTV and Sentech 
Vivid). This support will be of the following nature:

• General awareness building and communication about the initiative (keeping up momentum throughout the life of 
the initiative)

• Provision of some types of training
• Support to teachers between formal training events
• Examples of best practice from “expert” teachers
• Broadcast of recorded training sessions as “refreshers”

Mindset is able to make this platform available at no charge (excluding video production and media ingest costs) for a 
period of 12 months ending in July 2011, after which time a review will take place.

Training requirements

• Teachers to bring laptops (which will already include course curriculum, software and connectivity)
• Teacher registration and attendance 
• Data projector
• Suffi cient desks and chairs 
• Connectivity
• Suffi cient plug points
• Refreshments 

Awareness

Use marketing avenues to communicate training sessions:

• Mindset Learn on Dstv, TopTV and Sentech Vivid;
• Websites – Thutong, ELRC, SACE, consortia websites, union websites;
• District circulars/memos;
• National and regional newspapers;
• Teacher email addresses from Windows Live ID;
• Union publications; 
• Payslips printed by Persal; 
• Conferences – e-Schools Conference, Education Week, NEPAD conference; 
• Networking Academy Safari.

Potential estimated budget 

The ELRC will set up a separate bank account to receive any donations or reinvestment monies from partners, all of which 
will contribute towards the execution of the Teacher Professional Development programme.  The amount of combined 
reinvestment funds totals approximately R120 per teacher. The estimated cost of training is based on a rate of R150 per 
teacher per day.  The average course duration is three days. 

The ELRC has established a Training and Development account to receive reinvestment funds from Microsoft, Symantec 
and Adobe. 

1. Microsoft South Africa will reinvest $12 per laptop sold.
2. Adobe South Africa will reinvest $1.5 per laptop sold.
3. Symantec South Africa will reinvest R20 per laptop sold.
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Teacher professional development learning pathway

The Teacher Laptop Initiative will focus on the Entry, Adoption and Adaptation levels of the national policy. Courses primarily 
at the Novice and Intermediate levels will therefore be offered to teachers as part of the Teacher Laptop Initiative.  

Possible Training Methods

• Self-Learning:  The Training and Development Committee is currently developing self-learning material for 
teachers to access at ease on their new laptops.

• Train the Trainer:  The aim is to train one trainer per school who in turn could assist his / her colleagues at the school. 
The educator concerned would also be able to act as a troubleshooter for the initiative. This would 
be purely voluntary and therefore not a role that requires compensation but rather recognition 
through certifi cation and accreditation of the teacher.

Novice
-  Microsoft Partners in Learning ICT 

Skills for Teachers

-  Microsoft Partners in Learning ICT 
Skills for Principals

- Intel Teach Getting Started

-  Microsoft Partners in Learning ICT 
Skills for Teachers

-  Microsoft Partners in Learning 
Subject Specifi c Training

-  Mindset Subject Specifi c Training

-  Microsoft Digital Literacy 
Curriculum

Intermediate
-  Microsoft Partners in Learning 

One Step Further

-  Microsoft Partners in Learning 
Resource Based Teaching

- Intel Teach Elements - Self Study

 • Project Based Approaches
 •  Assessment in 21st Century 

Classrooms
 •  Collaboration in the Digital 

Classroom

-  Adobe Digital Careers Teaching 
Resources

Advanced
-  Adobe Educational Leaders

-  Cisco Networking Academy IT 
Essentials - PC Hardware and 
Software

-  Intel Teach Thinking with 
Technology

-  Microsoft Partners in Learning 
Innovation Workshop

 - Intel Teach Essentials
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ROLLOUT LAUNCHES 2009 TO 2011

NATIONAL ROLLOUT

The fi rst offi cial launch of the TLI took place on 11th December 2009 at the Sheraton Hotel in Pretoria. The second national 
Rollout Launch of the TLI took place on 15th July 2010 at Lotus Gardens Primary School in Pretoria West. The second 
rollout launch had a key focus on training and development, particularly ICT, computer literacy and pedagogy as well as 
brief demonstrations on connectivity (Email and internet) to illustrate the different ways that ICT can be incorporated in the 
classroom. The wide range of products that teachers could choose from was also displayed at the rollout launch. 

PROVINCIAL ROLLOUT LAUNCHES

In addition to the National Rollout Launch, the ELRC facilitated the provincial launches in support of the Provincial 
Education Departments and the teacher trade unions. The MEC and HOD of Education, teacher trade union leaders and 
local teachers in the different provinces attended all these launches. 

Kwazulu-Natal: The rollout launch was held on 26 July 2010 at Adams College in Amazintoti. Over 200 teachers attended 
the launch, which was extensively covered by the local media. 

Mpumalanga: The Mpumalanga launch was held on 02 October 2010 at Sitintile High School in Kanyamazane (Nelspruit).  
This was the fi rst launch held as an open day to attract more teachers to the event. The launch was held on a Saturday, 
in a bid to ensure that normal schooling was not disrupted. The teachers responded positively to the launch and indicated 
that they were excited about receiving their laptops.

Limpopo: This launch was one of the most successful launches as it had 1400 teachers who attended, with representation 
from all districts in the province. The launch was held on 14 October 2010 at Millennium Combined School in Seshego 
Polokwane. 

Gauteng: This launch was also a success and was attended by 2500 school principals. The launch was held on 26 
October 2010 at Gallagher Estate. The principals indicated that they could not wait to receive the laptops, as it would assist 
them in communicating with the department and their staff much quicker than before.  

Western Cape: The rollout launch was held on 30 October 2010 at Cape Teachers Institute in Kuilsriver. More than 600 
teachers attended the launch and a live demonstration was held, using lesson simulation to demonstrate how the laptops 
would benefi t both the teachers and the learners.    

Other Provinces: Two other Provincial Education departments have also requested to host rollout launches, namely Free 
State and North West. 

FREE STATE

A meeting was set to be held on the 24th of November 2011 between the Free State HOD, MEC and the ELRC General 
Secretary to discuss a possible date of issuing laptops to Free State educators. However, the meeting was cancelled due 
to an HR Conference that took place from 23-25 November 2011.
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PROVINCIAL 2011 TLI ROLLOUT 

The following information was received from provinces on the number of letters that had been issued, or intend to be issued 
to teachers who qualify for the TLI.

Eastern Cape: The total number of teachers in the province is 67 433. No letters were issued to teachers.

Free State: The total number of teachers in the province is 23 743. The province issued 4 807 letters to teachers by the 
end of September 2011.

Gauteng: The total number of teachers in the province is 52 140. The province issued 11 000 letters to teachers by the 
end of October 2011.

Kwazulu-Natal: The total number of teachers in the province is 86 009. The province did not issue letters to teachers due 
to funding problems. However, the Provincial Departmental Chief Financial Offi cer indicated that they would still apply for 
extra funding from National Treasury to fund the Project.

Limpopo: The total number of teachers in the province is 53 990. The province issued 440 letters to teachers by the end 
of October 2011. 

Mpumalanga: The total number of teachers in the province is 32 772. The province issued 29 205 letters to teachers by 
the end of January 2011 and these letters are still valid.

Northern Cape: The total number of teachers in the province is 8 455. The province issued 6 000 letters to teachers by 
the end of October 2011.

North West: The total number of teachers in the province is 23 862. The province issued 22 795 letters to teachers by the 
end of July 2011.

Western Cape: The total number of teachers in the province is 26 635. The province issued 3 500 letters to teachers by 
the end of December 2010, and all the letters are still valid.   

INFORMATION SOURCES

The TLI Task Team looked at various methods to ensure that we provide information to the teachers and the general public 
through various sources like websites, print advertisements, radio interviews, and telephone enquiries. 

Websites

The Task Team initiated the creation of a TLI website, which is continuously reviewed to ensure that it serves the needs of 
teachers. Last updated in 2009.

The teacher trade unions created links of their websites on the TLI website to ensure that their members and the general 
public can gain access to the relevant information on the initiative.

FAQ:  A list of frequently asked questions has been developed through the phone calls received from teachers regarding 
the TLI. This is posted on the TLI website and will be updated regularly to ensure that they remain current.

Radio Interviews 

Radio Interviews were conducted on the following radio stations:

• SABC Radio Stations
• Jozi
• Ligwalagwala 
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Launches

The national and provincial launches provide information to the people in that particular area and province. The TLI Task 
Team seeks to ensure that the information is fi ltered down to the educators. The exhibitions of the laptops at the launches 
also allow teachers to make informed decisions about the laptops that they will purchase.  

Workshops 

The HR Manager’s Meeting, co-ordinated by the Department of Basic Education, was used to inform the HR managers in 
the provincial education departments about the initiative. 

Other 

It became evident that the electronic sources of communication were not adequate to communicate to teachers. The Task 
Team is considering circulars as a mode of communication. Provincial education departments would then have to distribute 
it to all teachers, to ensure that the teacher that does not have access to computers and/or Internet, have all the information 
on the TLI.

CURRENT ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESSES 2011

The following current administrative processes are applicable to the TLI:

• The Provincial Departments of Education will approve the criteria for eligibility;
• The “Letter of Eligibility” will be based on compliance with criteria;
• The Provincial DoE will issue a “Letter of Eligibility” to educators in a permanent capacity that are interested in 

participating in the TLI;
• The Provincial DoE will provide Dimension Data (DD) with a schedule of Teachers interested in participating in 

the TLI;
• Dimension Data will issue a letter of authority with the Provincial DoE Logo and unique tracking number/bar code 

on each letter;
• Dimension Data will send letters of authority to teachers via the school;
• The letter will stipulate the fi nal date by which the teacher must take up the offer i.e. within three months;
• Dimension Data will forward copies of all letters issued and schedule of all recipients to the Provincial DoE;
• The accredited Service Provider will use the certifi cate of purchase to activate the teacher’s e-mail account;
• The completed application form and the supporting documentation must be submitted to the Principal, who is 

required to validate the application and complete the prescribed form: validation of laptop possession by the 
Principal (Code of Conduct for Educators);

• The completed documentation must be forwarded to the Housing Allowance Section of the relevant HR Component. 
The Provincial DoE will process applications for the payment of the laptop allowance.  
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FORMALLY ACCREDITED SERVICE PROVIDERS IN 2011/12

Below is a list of the formally accredited service providers to the TLI in 2011/12:

NO. COMPANY NAME YEAR ACCREDITED

1. MUSTEK Mr. Garry Hodgson    2009-2011

2. PINNACLE Mr. Elandre Fourie 2009-2011

3. FUJITSU Mr. Donovan Titus 2009-2011

4. DELL(LAPTITUDE) Ms. Chipo Msimanga 2009-2011

5. IBURST (LG) Mr. Hendrick Mathebula 2009-2011

6. CELL C Mr. Ron Goldstein 2009-2011

7. LENOVO Mr. Danie Minnie 2009-2011

8. TOSHIBA Mr. Jacques Bukasa 2011

9. NEOTEL(Talk Talk) Mr. Thurston James 2011

Still awaiting compliance from the following service provider:

NO. COMPANY NAME YEAR PARTICIPATED

1. TELKOM & 8.TA Mr. Simon Masoko 2011

Below is a list of service providers that previously participated directly in the TLI and are no longer direct participants:

NO. COMPANY NAME YEAR PARTICIPATED

1. SAHARA Mr. Lloyd Timcke 2009

2. MTN Mr. Joseph Ncube 2009-2011

3. SANTAM Ms. Patience Baloyi 2009-2011

4. VODACOM Mr. Elton Chettiar 2009-2011

Below is a list of service providers that provided support services to the TLI:

NO. COMPANY NAME YEAR 

1. DIDATA Mr. Ismail Desai 2011

2. INTEL SA Mr. Hannes Steyn 2011

3. SYMANTEC Mr. Trompt De Witt 2011

4. ADOBE SA Mr. Leonard Rabotapi 2011

5. HYPHEN Ms Julian Augustus 2011

6. MICROSOFT SA Mr. Reza Bardien 2011

7. School Net  SA Ms. Omashani Naidoo 2011

CONCLUSION

The General Secretary tabled an updated report on the TLI to the Director-General at a meeting on 9th March 2012.
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 PROGRAMME 3.2: FINANCIAL AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
  (COMPLIANCE AND INVESTIGATION SERVICES)

Goal / Objectives
Performance 

Indicator
Timeframe Performance Result

Financial Policies and 
Procedures
To review and update the fi nancial 
policies and procedures in line 
with GRAP
To monitor and enforce 
compliance with fi nancial policies 
and procedures

Revised fi nancial 
policies and 
procedures 
approved by 
Executive 
Committee 
Report submitted 
to GS

31st March 2012

Quarterly

Not Achieved
Document has been revised 
but new standards, policies, 
etc. from changes in legislation, 
regulations and government 
policies still needs to be 
factored in.

Supply Chain Management 
To review and maintain the 
procurement policy in line with 
the supply chain management 
requirements.  
To monitor and enforce 
compliance.

Revised 
procurement 
policy approved by 
accounting offi cer 

Report submitted 
to GS

31st March 2012

Quarterly

Not Achieved
Document has been revised 
but new standards, policies, 
etc. from changes in legislation, 
regulations and government 
policies still needs to be 
factored in.

Fraud Prevention Plan
To review, advocate and monitor 
the fraud prevention plan

Revised fraud 
prevention plan 
approved by 
accounting offi cer

Advocacy conducted

Quarterly Achieved

Risk Management
To review and monitor the risk 
management strategy and plan

Risks managed Ongoing Achieved

LRA, PFMA and Treasury 
Regulations
To monitor and enforce 
compliance with the LRA, PFMA 
and Treasury regulations

Compliance report 
submitted

Performance reports 
(inclusive of fi nancial 
statements) 

Monthly

Quarterly

Achieved

Internal Audit
Minimise negative internal audit 
comments

No critical fi ndings 
on internal audit 
report

June 2011 Achieved
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Goal / Objectives
Performance 

Indicator
Timeframe Performance Result

External Audit
To eliminate repeated audit 
comments
To address items on the 
management report

No repeated items 
on management 
report
Report submitted 
to the Accounting 
Offi cer

September 2011

December 2011

Not Achieved 

To develop strategic , annual 
performance plan and budget 
for 2012/13

Draft document 
including budget 
tabled to governing 
body.
Finalised strategic, 
annual performance 
plan and budget  
submitted to Council 
and Executive 
Authority for 
approval

June 2011

30 September 2011

Not Achieved.  
The transition to the new 
framework involved conducting 
workshops for members to 
understand how the plan must 
be developed.

To lodge collective agreements 
in terms of section 54(3)(a) of 
The Labour Relations Act

Collective 
Agreements lodged 
with Registrar of 
Labour Relations 
DOL

Within 30 days Achieved

Information Technology
To install adequate information 
systems and update all 
information systems

Availability of 
computers and the 
necessary software 
to all staff

Quarterly Achieved

Financial & Organisational 
Management
To monitor budget against 
expenditure

Variance report 
submitted to 
departments

10th day of each 
month

Achieved
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 PROGRAMME 3.3: MOBILISING EMPLOYEE SERVICES 
  (HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT)

INTRODUCTION

The Human Resources report summarises the employment relations activities of the ELRC during the period 1 April 2011 
to 31 March 2012. Human Resource issues include: recruitment, resignations (turnover), vacancies, employment equity, 
personnel expenditure, leave, skills development and labour relations.

The Council has seventy (70) posts on the approved establishment and fi fty eight (58) funded posts.  Due to the cost 
implication during the period under review the Accounting Authority of the ELRC has mandated the Human Resource 
sub- committee to review the organogram by 30th June 2012. This will be undertaken through a process of job grading 
exercises utilizing the EQUATE system of the public service.  The review shall consider job creation and critical skills 
and posts required by the ELRC to effi ciently and effectively utilize its human resources to deliver its various programme 
objectives.

RECRUITMENT AND RESIGNATION (TURNOVER) 

During the period under review, the Council made six new appointments. The following positions were fi lled: Finance Clerk; 
Cleaner; Executive Support Client Liaison (PA); Collective Bargaining Services Committee Offi cer(x2) and Receptionist. 
The Admin Offi cer: North-West successfully applied and was appointed in the post of Collective Bargaining Services: 
Committee Offi cer which became an internal transfer. The newly appointed receptionist unfortunately tendered her 
resignation in the month of her appointment which was end of July 2011, due to her previous employer offering a better 
career opportunity.

There were seven resignations; Admin Offi cer: Gauteng, Provincial Manager: Eastern Cape, Human Resource Manager, 
Receptionist, Senior Offi cer: Administration; Manager Administration and Senior Offi cer: Executive Support and Client 
Liaison (PA)

Reasons why staff leave the employment of the Council 

Termination Type Number % of Total

Resignation 7

TOTAL 7 14%

The turnover was due to resignation. Reason for resignation is due to better career opportunities. Overall, the Council was 
unable to maintain a low turnover rate.   
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Staff Complement

Department
Number of 

Posts

Current 
Number of 
Employees

Number of 
Terminations

New 
Appointments

Number Of 
Vacancies

Programme 1
Dispute Resolution & 
Prevention Services

9 7 0 0 2

Programme 2
Collective Bargaining 

Services
24 20 3 2 4

Programme 3
Corporate Services

15 11 2 2 4

Programme 4
Executive Offi ce

10 5 3 2 5

TOTAL 58 43 8 6 15

Turnover Rate by Programme

Programme
Number of 
Posts Per 

Programme
Appointments Terminations 

Permanent 
Employees

Turnover 
Rate

Programme 1                           
 Dispute Resolution & 
Prevention Services

9 0 0 7 0%

Programme 2                         
Collective Bargaining 
Services (National & 

Provincial)

24 2 3 20 13%

Programme 3                                 
Corporate Support 

Services
15 2 2 11 15.4%

Programme 4                     
Executive Offi ce

10 2 3 5 37.5%

Overall Turnover 

TOTAL 58 6 8 43 16%

There was an overall turnover rate of 16% during the period under review. 
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Turnover Rate by Race and Gender

Race and Gender
Permanent 
Employees

Appointments 
and Transfers into 

Council

Terminations and 
transfers out

Turnover Rates

African     

Male 18 3 2 10%

Female 13 3 4 23.5%

Indian    

Male 3 0 0 0%

Female 3 0 1 25%

Coloured    

Male 0 0 0 0%

Female 4 0 0 0%

White    

Male 0 0 0 0%

Female 2 0 1 33.3%

VACANCIES

The Council currently has the following 15 vacant posts: 

DEPARTMENT POST

Programme 1
Dispute Resolution &
Prevention Services

Manager: Training and Development 
Manager: Disputes

Programme 2
Collective Bargaining Services 

(National & Provincial)

Provincial Manager: Eastern Cape
Administrator
Provincial Support offi cer x 2

Programme 3
Executive Offi ce

Executive Services Manager
Internal Auditor/Compliance Manager
Senior Offi cer: Executive Support and Client Liaison (PA) 
Human Resource Manager
Receptionist/Administration

Programme 4
Corporate Support Services

Manager: Admin
Senior offi cer: Admin
Finance Clerk x2
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EMPLOYMENT EQUITY

The ELRC recognizes its responsibility as a public entity to equalize opportunities for those people who are socio-
economically and educationally disadvantaged – defi ned as blacks (comprising of African, Indian and Coloured persons), 
women and the disabled. 

As an organization with more than fi fty staff compliment, the ELRC is required to meet the regulated quotas. As the ELRC 
grows and expands, we endeavour to ensure that the Council maintains the African / Indian / Coloured (AIC) ratios as 
regulated and in doing so develop and up skill our formerly disadvantaged population. 

The following tables refl ect current employment equity situation of the ELRC

Employees by Occupational Levels

Total number of employees (including employees with disabilities) in each of the following occupational levels: Note: 
A=Africans, C=Coloureds, I=Indians and W=Whites

Occupational                    
Levels

MALE  FEMALE  TOTAL

A C I W  A C I W  

Top Management 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3

Senior Management 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 3

Professionally qualifi ed and 
experienced specialists and mid 
management

5 0 1 0 4 2 0 1 13

Skilled technical and 
academically qualifi ed workers

7 0 1 0 6 2 2 1 19

Semi-skilled and discretionary 
decision making

2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 3

Unskilled and defi ned decision 
making

2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 3

GRAND TOTAL 18 0 3 0 13 4 3 2 43

Summary of Occupational Levels by Race and Gender

The ELRC currently has fi ve employees at senior management level, two being Indian and four Africans, four male and two 
female. The majority of the employees currently fall under our professionally qualifi ed and experienced specialists and mid-
management and skilled technical and academically qualifi ed workers. This is owing to the fact that provincial managers 
and support offi cers form the bulk of those levels. Efforts have been made to maintain a reasonably equal distribution 
amongst senior managers in both race and gender categories. To date, the ELRC has managed to attract and maintain a 
quality workforce that is refl ective of the diverse cultures of our country. 
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Recruitment by Race and Gender

During the period under review April 2011 – March 2012, the Council employed three African males and three African 
females.

Gender Ratios

The male to female ratio is 51% females and 49% males.

Race Ratios

The current AIC ratios are Africans 31(72%), Coloureds 4(9%), Indians 6(14%) and Whites 2(5%).

Performance Targets and Performance Results

Employment Equity (EE) targets set by the ELRC with regard to persons with disabilities was unfortunately not achieved. 
The target to employ at least three individuals with disabilities has only partially been achieved. Two employees with 
disabilities are currently working at both the ELRC national offi ce, as well as one of its provincial offi ces. 
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FOREIGN NATIONALS

The Council employed no foreign nationals during the period under review. 

JOB EVALUATION

There were no jobs evaluated during the period under review.

PERFORMANCE REWARDS

Staff assessments were conducted and a report was approved by the Executive Committee.  Performance rewards were 
paid out to staff in November 2011 to the value of R 461,417 for the fi nancial year 2010 period. 

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT

As a public entity, the Council prides itself on the importance that it places on development and up skilling of its staff. During 
the period under review the Council continued to show commitment to skills development relating to the acquisition of job 
specifi c skills, emanating from performance assessments. During the period 01 April 2011 – 31 March 2012, the Council 
spent a total of R185, 078 on skills development workshops and educational studies for a total of 17 employees 

The Council has contributed to the development of the unemployed by working with the ETDP SETA internship programme.  
In the period under review, the Council has trained and developed three (3) interns in the following service areas: media 
and communication; dispute resolution and prevention and human resources. 

DISCIPLINARY HEARINGS

No disciplinary hearings during the period under review.

INJURY ON DUTY

None of the 43 (forty-three) ELRC employees reported any injuries on duty.

EMPLOYEE WELLNESS PROGRAMMES

Employee wellness is an important part of the HR practice as it not only promotes healthy living, but also enables the Council 
to assist staff members who fi nd themselves in diffi cult situations and in need of stress management, debt counseling, 
substance abuse treatment, etc. 

In the third quarter of the period under review the ELRC banker Nedbank, conducted debt counseling sessions and 
personal fi nancial management. 

Social Events

We celebrated numerous social events such as Heritage day, Spring Day, Mother’s Day, Father’s day, year-end activities 
and team building sessions.
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PERSONNEL EXPENDITURE 2011/12

For the purpose of this report the salary levels column in the tables include the following ELRC positions.

Salary Level 13 – 16

General Secretary

Chief Financial Offi cer

Managing Senior Commissioner Dispute Resolution Services (DRS) 

Salary Level 9 – 12

Senior Manager Collective Bargaining Services (CBS)

Senior Manager Corporate Services (CSS)

Registrar

Manager Administration

Manager Finance

Manager Human Resources

Manager Collective Bargaining Service

Provincial Managers

Media Offi cer: CIRA

Salary Level 6 – 8

Executive Support Client Liaison (PA)

Case Management Offi cer: DRS 

Creditors/Debtors Clerk

Committee Offi cer Collective Bargaining Services 

Senior Administrator Dispute Resolution

Logistics and Events Coordinate 

Salary Level 4 – 5

Provincial Admin Support Offi cers

Receptionist 

Offi cer Administrator Corporate Services

Driver 

Salary Level 2 – 3

Cleaners

Supervisor Cleaners
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Expenditure Personnel Costs per Salary Band

SALARY
LEVEL

NUMBER
EMPLOYEES

PERSONNEL
EXPENDITURE

% OF TOTAL
PERSONNEL COST

TOP MANAGEMENT 
(Level 13-16)

3 2,364,741 17%

HIGHLY SKILLED SUPERVISION 
(Level 9-12)

15 6,995,669 49%

HIGHLY SKILLED 
PRODUCTION (Level 6-8)

11 2,857.292 20%

SKILLED  (Level 3-5) 11 1,780,582 12%

UNSKILLED (Level 1-2) 3 315,273 2%

TOTAL 43 14,313,557 100%

In the period under review, the Council paid R14 313 557 in total remuneration to fulltime employees. Of the total 
remuneration paid 17% was paid to top management, 49% was paid in salaries to the highly skilled supervision level, and 
20% was paid to the highly skilled production level, 12% to the skilled level and 2% to the unskilled level. An average of R1 
192 797 per employee was paid in gross salaries. The total remuneration comprised of the basic salary, housing allowance, 
travel allowance, bonuses, employer’s portion of medical aid and provident fund.

LEAVE CATEGORIES

Leave Categories April 2011 to March 2012

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Annual 163 156 330 188

Sick 50 63 16 65

Study 84 27 48 19

Family Responsibility 10 9 2 10

Total annual leave taken for the period under review was eight hundred and thirty seven (837) days which is equivalent to 
19 days leave taken per employee.

One hundred and ninety four (194) days were taken for sick leave, which is a huge decline of 43% compared to past 
fi nancial years.

Study leave of one hundred and seventy eight (178) days were taken which is 21% increase to the previous fi nancial year.  
This increase is based on block classes attended and workshops. 

Total family responsibility leave of thirty-one days (31) taken in the period under review refl ect an increase of 41% to the 
previous fi nancial year due to unforeseen circumstances.
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During the period under review, leave was monitored and reported. Leave Audit was conducted to ensure that leave was 
utilized as prescribed in the Human Resource Policy.

Study leave was granted to staff and monitored by the submission of examination and assignment dates.  Sick leave was 
closely monitored to identify trends so that necessary action be taken. Family responsibility leave was granted for very 
special cases mainly relating either to death or illness of family members as per Human Resource Policy. Late coming 
decreased during the reporting period and zero tolerance target for late coming was met. Attendance is reported on daily, 
weekly and on a monthly basis. Attendance registers are completed and balanced monthly and any inconsistencies are 
dealt with in a timely manner.

Performance Targets and Performance Results

Employees are entitled to annual leave with full pay during each leave cycle of 12 (twelve) months, commencing on 
1 January of each year. The main purpose of annual leave is to provide periods of rest for employees. Employees at the 
ELRC are entitled to 22 (twenty-two) working days leave per annum, 15 (fi fteen) of the 22 (twenty-two) days must be taken 
during the 12 month leave cycle and the remaining accumulated days must be taken no longer than 6 (six) months after 
the expiry of the relevant leave cycle. Unless otherwise agreed, such leave credits may be forfeited.

For the period under review, targets have been achieved as indicated above, with a few exceptions. We have implemented 
measures to monitor accumulated leave and ensure that staff take the leave entitled to them.

Employees are entitled to sixty (60) working days sick leave with full pay over a three (3) year cycle.  Unused sick leave 
shall lapse at the expiry of the three (3) year cycle.

The decline in sick leave compared to past fi nancial years is attributed to departmental managers closely monitoring the 
sick leave patterns. 
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Goal/Objectives
Performance

Indicator
Timeframe Performance Result

1. RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION

1.1 Phasing in of posts 
as per the 2011/2012 
organogram

Improved service delivery, due 
to increased staff compliment.

Not Achieved
(The EXCO have 
mandated the HR sub-
committee in January 
2012 to review the 
organogram and a 
process of job grading 
exercise be conducted.) 

1.2 Job descriptions and 
advertisements for new 
posts are drafted in line with 
roles and responsibilities

Ensuring job fi t. Attraction 
of suitably qualifi ed and 
experienced candidates via 
advertisements. 
A more effi cient and productive 
workforce 

When the need arises Achieved

1.3 Ensure recruitment 
of qualifi ed, experienced 
candidates

1.4 Ensure that the proper 
interview process is followed 
as per the HR policy.

1.5 Reference Checks and 
risk assessments completed 
for shortlisted candidates. 

A concise report regarding the 
interview process is drafted and 
handed to General Secretary for 
approval after every interview.  

To ensure unnecessary 
exposure to risky candidates in 
terms of black listing, criminal 
records, etc. 

Achieved
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Goal/Objectives
Performance

Indicator
Timeframe Performance Result

2. TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

2.1 Monitor performance 
of staff currently enrolled in 
training and development 
programmes

Submit a report to the General 
Secretary for approval. 
Ensure staffs have suffi ciently 
complied with the desired 
requirements in order to write 
the examination.   

30th June
30 October 

Achieved

2.2 Draft training and    
development plans for all 
departments together with 
managers

A training and development 
plan will enable managers to 
identify and overcome pitfalls 
and shortcomings in their 
departments. This will ensure 
that staffs are then up skilled 
and developed with the skills 
and knowledge required for 
more effi cient service delivery. 

30th September Not Achieved 
(Post of HR manager 
vacant)

2.3 From the needs analysis 
enrol staff on appropriate 
courses to improve their 
productivity.

Training and development 
contracts have been fi nalised 
and signed off by the General 
Secretary. 
Staff have been registered for 
courses and monies paid. 

By the 20th December Achieved

2.4 Create a talent pool of 
staff identifi ed as excelling 
performers

2.5 Design a succession 
plan for the organisation.  

A pool of successors to mentor 
and coach for career pathing 
for future vacancies within 
departments

By the 30th March Not Achieved
(Post of HR manager 
vacant)
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Goal/Objectives
Performance

Indicator
Timeframe Performance Result

3. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

3.1 To ensure all 
performance assessments 
have been fi nalised and 
a moderation committee 
scheduled for the General 
Secretary and senior 
managers 

3.2 Scores of both 
managers and individuals 
are discussed in the 
moderation committee in 
order to submit to EXCO

Managers have forwarded all 
assessment scores to HR to be 
consolidated on a spreadsheet 
for further discussion.
Moderation committee to fi nalise 
scoring and submit to the 
General Secretary, together with 
minutes of the meeting. 

GS to then review scores and 
submit to EXCO for approval. 

By the 1st of April 

By the 2nd week in 
April

Not achieved 
(No HR manager to guide 
the process)

3.3 Performance bonuses to 
be fi nalised and paid out in 
relation to scoring as per the 
HR policy

Performance bonuses paid out 
as per instructions from EXCO

By the last week in 
April

Not Achieved

3.4 Job evaluations exercise 
to be conducted per 
department, in collaboration 
with departmental 
managers.

New job descriptions that is 
market related

By the 30th June Not achieved 
(The EXCO has 
mandated the HR sub-
committee in January 
2012 to review the 
organogram and a 
process of job grading 
exercise be conducted.) 

3.5 A performance workshop 
is conducted for managers 
and staff separately, 
 

To create a better understanding 
of the performance 
management system. Thereby 
enabling managers and staff to 
raise questions both positive 
and negative about the process.  

Last week in October Not achieved
(Post of HR manager 
vacant)

3.6 Job evaluations exercise 
to be conducted per 
department, in collaboration 
with departmental 
managers.

New job descriptions that is 
market related

By the 30th October Not Achieved 
(The EXCO have 
mandated the HR sub-
committee in January 
2012 to review the 
organogram and a 
process of job grading 
exercise be conducted.)

3.7 Bi annual assessments 
have been conducted by all 
managers 

Assessments have been signed 
off by both managers and the 
General Secretary 

By the last week in 
November

Not achieved
(Post of HR manager 
vacant)
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Goal/Objectives
Performance

Indicator
Timeframe Performance Result

3. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.8 A refresher workshop on 
performance management 
to be conducted at the 
strategic planning session in 
relation to departmental and 
organisational performance. 

Managers will have a clearer 
understanding of the impact 
of individual performance on 
departmental performance and 
how the two are interlinked to 
the overall strategic vision of the 
organisation.

Between the 1st 
and 2nd week of 
December

Not Achieved

3.9 Job evaluations exercise 
to be conducted per 
department, in collaboration 
with departmental managers

New job descriptions that is 
market related 

By the 20th December Not Achieved 

3.10 Ensure staff 
performance agreements 
for the new fi nancial year 
are compiled and in line 
with the councils strategic 
operational objectives.

Performance agreements 
signed off by the General 
Secretary

By the 30th March Achieved

3.11 To ensure managers 
and senior managers 
perform bi-annual 
assessments.

Assessments approved by GS. By the 2nd week in 
March 

Not achieved
(Post of HR manager 
vacant)

3.12 Implementation of a 
performance development 
plan (PDP) for poor/non 
performers

Monthly report on improvement 
of performance in relation to 
performance development plan.

Month to Month plan 
up to a maximum of 3 
months

Not achieved
(Post of HR manager 
vacant)

3.13 Identifi ed excelling 
performers for coaching and 
mentoring.  

Design a development plan 
together with managers for 
the coaching and mentoring of 
outstanding performers.  

By the last week in 
March. 

Not achieved
(Post of HR manager 
vacant)

3.14 Consolidation of all new 
job descriptions and a report 
drafted for the General 
Secretary’s approval

Approved job descriptions by 
the GS 

By 30th March Not Achieved
The EXCO have 
mandated the HR sub-
committee in January 
2012 to review the 
organogram and a 
process of job grading 
exercise be conducted.) 
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Goal/Objectives
Performance

Indicator
Timeframe Performance Result

4. EMPLOYEE RELATIONS

4.1 Disputes and grievances 
dealt with in a timely manner 

Grievances and disputes 
conducted within the framework 
of the HR policy in line with 
legislation 

When the need arises Achieved

4.2 To conduct an employee 
relations workshop for 
managers, on how to 
identify and deal with 
disputes and grievances in 
line with legislation and the 
HR policy. 

Managers are equipped with the 
knowledge to handle disputes 
or grievances lodged within the 
legislative frameworks

By the 30th June Not Achieved
(Post of HR manager 
vacant)
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Goal/Objectives
Performance

Indicator
Timeframe Performance Result

5. ORGANISATIONAL BEHAVIOUR AND DEVELOPMENT

5.1 Promotion of Employee 
wellness in order to 
create a healthy working 
environment.

Staff are regularly informed 
about psychosocial factors 
as well as environmental 
constraints such as stress, 
and work life balance which 
may impact on their working 
environment 

By the end of each 
month.

Achieved

5.2 Creating a positive 
awareness of HIV/AIDS in 
the workplace.  

In collaboration with the PCTA 
staffs are made more aware and 
educated around HIV/AIDS and 
how it may impact the working 
environment.

By 30th June Not Achieved
(Post of HR manager 
vacant)

5.3 Maintaining employment 
equity ratios in line with 
legislation in order to 
create a diverse interactive 
workforce

Ensuring that we meet 
equity ratios especially when 
considering recruitment for new 
and vacant posts. 

Monthly Not Achieved
(Post of HR manager 
vacant)

5.4 To ensure important 
events are celebrated with 
all staff members involved.

Commemorated and celebrated 
important days: Women’s Day 
etc

Date of important 
days

Achieved

5.5 To encourage 
departments to engage in 
team building programmes, 
coaching, and mentoring 

To conduct strategic and 
operational plan workshop 
with team building activities 
for all staff.  Organise a year 
end gala dinner 

Participation in team building 
activities to improve and 
promote cooperation and 
communication between staff. 

To ensure staff have a clear 
understanding of where the 
Council has come from and 
going to. Constraints have 
been identifi ed, a plan of action 
formulated and a desired 
outcome anticipated.  

Gala dinner to wind down the 
year and for staff to socialise 
in a casual setting. Awards of 
recognition awarded to staff  

Between the 1st 
and 2nd week of 
December

Achieved
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Goal/Objectives
Performance

Indicator
Timeframe Performance Result

6. PERSONNEL ADMINISTRATION 

To ensure sound and 
effective personnel 
administration.

6.1 Updating of attendance 
registers in order to pick up 
patterns and trends with 
regards to absenteeism, late 
coming, etc. 

Patterns and trends are identifi ed 
with regards to absenteeism, 
late coming, etc. and staffs are 
managed accordingly.

By the Friday of each 
week

Achieved

6.2 Submission of reports on 
productivity e.g. attendance, 
training and development, 
leave, etc 

Approved productivity reports by 
the General Secretary, to ensure 
service delivery is being met. 

By the 30th of each 
month

Not Achieved
(Post of HR manager 
vacant)

6.3 Timely and correct 
processing of salaries, 
performance bonuses, 
medical aids and provident 
funds.

Salaries are paid on time without 
any errors. 

15th of each month or 
Friday closet should 
the 15th fall on a 
weekend

Achieved

6.4 Contract of employment 
and performance agreements 
to be signed before 
commencement of duties for 
all new staff

Contracts of employment and 
performance agreements signed 
off by the General Secretary 
avoiding any unnecessary 
disputes regarding probation and 
performance. 

When the need arises Achieved
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 PROGRAMME 3.4:  MEDIA AND COMMUNICATION SEVICES

Goal / Objectives Performance Indicator Timeframe Performance Result

Compliance with PFMA
To compile quarterly reports in 
compliance with the PFMA. 

To compile an annual report in 
compliance with the PFMA.

Quarterly Report approved 
by the General Secretary, 
Audit Committee, Governing 
Body and submitted to the 
Executive Authority

Annual Report approved by 
the General Secretary and 
Auditor General. Submitted 
to Ministry and National 
Treasury

30 April 2011
29 July 2011
28 Oct 2011
27 Jan 2012

31 August 
2011

Achieved

Achieved

Publications
To compile the Labour Bulletin in 
association with Nelson Mandela 
Metropolitan University (NMMU) and 
UP2SPEED. 

To compile the New Negotiator on current 
developments in collective bargaining in 
the public education sector. 

To ensure staff is kept up to date 
regarding ELRC activities.

Labour Bulletin published 
and approved and 
distributed to dispute 
resolution practitioners

Negotiator published and 
approved and distributed to 
parties and teachers

Newsletter published and 
distributed to all staff

Quarterly

Quarterly

Monthly

Achieved
Management has 
limited the publication 
of the Bulletin to one 
a year.  

Achieved
Management has 
limited the publication 
of the New Negotiator 
to two a year.  

Achieved

Access to information
To comply with the Promotion of Access 
to Information Act (PAIA) be ensuring that 
information is available to stakeholders 
and the public through information 
vehicles like the ELRC Information 
Centre. 

To update the ELRC website.

Information made available  

Website updated

Ongoing

Daily

Achieved

Achieved
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Goal / Objectives Performance Indicator Timeframe Performance Result

Marketing
To market the ELRC by means of 
brochures, marketing material, exhibitions 
etc.

To compile and adopt a marketing and 
communication strategy for the ELRC.

To conduct primary research on the 
awareness of the ELRC services 
amongst educators in the public 
education sector. 

Brochures, marketing 
material, exhibitions 
provided

Strategy adopted and 
implemented

Telephone survey conducted 
(sample of 10 schools in 
each province)

Annually 

Ongoing

March 2012

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved
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EXECUTIVE SERVICES

Mahalingum Govender
General Secretary

Vacant
Executive Support and 

Client Liaison (PA to GS)

Estelle Posthumus
Logistics and 

Event Coordinator

Bernice Davids
Media Offi cer: 

Communications, 
Information, 

Reporting and 
Accounting Services

Pratisha Karamchand
Human Resources 

Manager

Jeff Moshakga
Chief Financial Offi cer





Corporate Services

PROGRAMME 4
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SERVICE DELIVERY PERFORMANCE FOR CORPORATE SERVICES DEPARTMENT

The corporate services department provides support services to all departments within the ELRC.  The department consists 
of two sections namely: fi nance and administration services.  

 PROGRAMME 4.1 FINANCIAL SERVICES

The purpose of the fi nance section is:

• To ensure sound fi nancial and accounting services; 
• To ensure compliance with policies and procedures to enable effective internal control systems;
• To ensure the implementation, maintenance and improvement of controls for effectiveness and effi ciency;
• Ensure sound, complete and accurate reporting; and 
• To identify areas of control that are ineffective and defi cient.  

Objective Performance Indicator Timeframe Performance Result

To ensure sound and 
effi cient accounting 
services

Monthly reports submitted to all 
departments within 7 working days

100% Achieved

Quarterly reports submitted within 7 
working days of the quarter

100% Achieved

Annual fi nancial statements and 
template submitted to Auditor General 
and National Treasury by 31 May 2011

100% Achieved

Strategic and operational documents of 
department submitted by 30 September 
2011

100% Achieved 

To ensure effi cient 
debtors management

7 days to recover outstanding funds 100% Achieved

30 days to follow up for outstanding 
levies and funds/refunds outstanding

100% Achieved

To ensure effi cient 
creditors management

Payment of commitment expenses as 
per deadline

100% Achieved

Payments for claims within 7 days of 
receipt of invoice

100% Achieved 

Payments for SME and panelist within 
14 days of receipt

100% Achieved 

Payments of large business enterprises 
within 30 days of receipt

100% Achieved

To manage income 
received (Levies)

Perform income received reconciliations 
by the 7th working day of each month.

100% Achieved

To ensure timeous 
payment of salaries

Payment made by the 15th for 
permanent staff and 30th for temporary 
staff

100% Achieved
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Objective Performance Indicator Timeframe Performance Result

Ensure fully functional 
payment system

5 days turnover time to process 
authorised payments

100% Achieved

Ledger accounts that 
accurately refl ects the 
fi nancial position

15 days for reviewing ledger accounts 100% Achieved

7 days to complete reconciliation after 
month close

100% Achieved

3 days to capture cashbook after 
payment

100% Achieved

4 days to stamp paid invoices and fi le 100% Achieved

7 days to prepare accurate and complete 
asset register

100% Achieved

Prepare monthly wasteful and fruitless 
expenditure report

100% Achieved 

To ensure effective and 
effi cient internal controls

70% of matters addressed on internal 
audit fi ndings 

70% Achieved

To monitor spending of 
funds.

Monthly variance report presented to 
management by 5th working day of each 
month.

100% Achieved
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 PROGRAMME 4.2 ADMINISTRATION SERVICES

An administration service is responsible for providing effective and effi cient services in regard to resources needed to 
achieve Council objectives.  

The purpose of the administration section is:

• To ensure and maintain procurement and provisioning system which is fair, equitable, transparent, competitive 
and cost effective.

• To manage and regulate supply chain processes.
• To ensure effective utilisation of resources.
• To manage, maintain and safeguard assets.

Objective Performance Indicator Timeframe Performance Result

To ensure sound 
administrative 
management

Monthly reports submitted to 
MANCO.
Quarterly reports submitted within 
7 working days of the quarter

100% Not Achieved

Supply chain document submitted 
to DOE by the 15th of each month

100% Achieved

Strategic and operational 
documents of department 
submitted by 
30 September 2011

100% Achieved

Supply chain committee meeting 
held quarterly

100% 15% 
Not Achieved

To ensure effi cient 
and timeous repairs 
and maintenance of 
equipment and vehicle

Vehicle maintained every 
10000km

100% Achieved

Photocopy and fax machines 
maintained quarterly

100% Achieved

Emergency repairs within 24 
hours

100% Achieved

Small repairs such as lights, 
plumbing within 7 days
Other repairs and maintenance 
within 14 days

100% Achieved

To ensure cost effective 
means to procure goods 
and services
To ensure quality and 
effi cient procurement of 
goods and services

Regular procurement must take 
14 working days to receive goods 
or services
Special procurement must take 20 
working days to receive goods or 
services

100% Achieved

To ensure that assets 
are controlled and 
managed effectively

Register of location and 
movement of assets

100% 10% 
Not Achieved
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Objective Performance Indicator Timeframe Performance Result

To ensure effective 
utilisation of resources 
by monitoring and 
evaluating systems

Monthly reports presented to 
senior manager

100% Achieved 

To ensure security 
and safety of premise, 
equipment and 
staff.  Safe working 
environment

No break in and loss or damage to 
property and vehicles

No incident on premise

100% Achieved  

To ensure a healthy 
and hygienic working 
environment.

Cleaning must be carried out for 
the following categories:
Offi ces within 5 hours and check 3 
times a day
Toilet – 3 times a day
Kitchen – 3 times a day
Boardroom after and during 
meeting breaks
Bins – once a day

100% Achieved 

To ensure IT system 
operates effi cient and 
effectively to improve 
service delivery

To ensure no down time of 
network system

The network is effective to meet 
our operation needs

100% Achieved
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CORPORATE SERVICES

Lorna Padayachee
Senior Manager

Corporate Services

Sarie Meyer 
Manager

Administration

Musa Mahlangu
Manager
Finance

Siphiwe Masombuka
Finance Clerk

David Ramokgopana
Supervisor

Vacant
Security Offi cer

Leah Mokgale
Finance Clerk Mandiya Sijendu

Assistant Manager
Administration

Nomthandazo Mamba
Offi ce Administrator

Phillip Maphutha
Maintenance

Hosia Moitsi
General Assistant

Portia Motha
General Assistant

Steven Tshabalala
General Assistant
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2012

We are pleased to present our report for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2012.

1. AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND ATTENDANCE

The audit committee consists of the members listed hereunder and meets at least 4 times per annum as per its approved 
terms of reference. 

NAME OF MEMBER  MEETINGS MEETINGS 
 Scheduled Attended

Mr. Z Myeza (Chairperson) 4 4
Ms K S Mahlangu  4 2 
Ms N Sondlo 4 3
Ms. M M D Nkomo 4      3
Ms L Motshwane 4 2  

2. AUDIT COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITIES

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 38(1) (a) of the PFMA Act and 
Treasury Regulation 3.1.13 and 27(1) (10). The Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms 
of reference as its audit committee charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter and has discharged its 
responsibilities as contained therein.

3. THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROL

The system of controls is designed to provide cost effective assurance that assets are safeguarded and that liabilities and 
working capital are effi ciently managed. 

In line with the PFMA and the King II Report requirements, Internal Audit provides the Audit Committee and Management 
with assurance that the internal controls are appropriate and effective. This is achieved by means of the risk management 
process, as well as the identifi cation of corrective actions and suggested enhancements to the controls and processes.

From the various reports of the Internal Auditors, the audit report on the Annual Financial Statements and management 
letter of the Auditor-General, it was noted that no signifi cant or material non-compliance with prescribed policies and 
procedures has been reported. Accordingly, we can report that the system of internal control for the period under review 
was suffi ciently effective and effi cient.

4.  THE QUALITY OF THE MANAGEMENT REPORTS SUBMITTED IN TERMS OF 
THE PUBLIC FINANCE MANAGEMENT ACT

The Committee is satisfi ed with the content, quality and suggested recommendations of Quarterly Reports prepared and 
issued by the Accounting Offi cer for Council during the year under review.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2012

5.  EVALUATION OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee has:

• Reviewed and discussed with the Auditor-General and the Accounting Offi cer the audited annual fi nancial 
statements to be included in the annual report;

• Reviewed the accounting policies; and

• Reviewed the Auditor-General’s management letter and the responses of management.

6. CONCLUSION

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the conclusions of the Auditor-General on the annual fi nancial statements and 
is of the opinion that the audited annual fi nancial statements be accepted and read together with the report of the Auditor-
General.

______________________

Chairperson, ELRC

Date: 26 July 2012
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EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

Notice is hereby issued, in terms of Clause 15 of the ELRC Constitution, that the Annual General Meeting of the Council 
has been scheduled as follows:

 DATE : Thursday, 16 August 2012
 TIME:         16H00
 VENUE:      MOUNT GRACE COUNTRY HOUSE
  HOTEL
  RUSTENBURG ROAD
  MAGALIESBURG

Please receive herewith the agenda for the Annual General meeting in terms of clause 15.2 of the ELRC Constitution. 

AGENDA

1.  Welcome

2.  Presentation of credentials of Councillors 

3.  Special Resolution:  Postponement of AGM

4.  Minutes of the previous Annual General Meeting

5.  Matters arising ex-minutes, other than those covered by the agenda

6.    Annual Report of the Council by the Accounting Offi cer in terms of the PFMA, including the fi nancial statements 
of the previous fi nancial year, which fi nancial year shall run from 1 April to 31 March

7.  The independent report of the Auditor-General in respect of the fi nancial statements referred to in clause 15.2.2(e)

8.  The independent report of the Audit Committee, in terms of the PFMA

9.  Adoption of the Annual Report of the Council, including the fi nancial statements

10.  The levies to be imposed on educators

11.  The appointment of members of the Audit Committee

12.  The appointment of a Chairperson of the Audit Committee

13.  The appointment of members of the Executive Committee

14.  The election of the Chairperson and Deputy-Chairpersons

15.  Closure  
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EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

PLEASE NOTE:

(a) That in terms of clause 12.1(b) “The General Secretary  shall request nominations for a new Chairperson  and 
Deputy-chairpersons for the forthcoming term of offi ce, to reach him 30 days  prior to the Annual General Meeting ”, 
parties are therefore requested to kindly forward nominations.  

SPECIAL RESOLUTION: POSTPONEMENT OF AGM

In noting that in terms of Clause 15.2.1 “The Council shall hold its Annual General Meeting 
during the month of July each year.”

The meeting agrees that the Annual General Meeting of the Council be postponed to Thursday, 
16 August 2012.

Mover:                                                          Seconder:
 

 

Kind regards

ACTING GENERAL SECRETARY
M MOSHAKGA
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EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

APPROVAL OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BY THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY FOR 
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

The Annual Financial Statements which appear on pages 159 to 176 were approved by the Accounting Authority on 
16 August 2012.

______________________

Accounting Authority
MS D Sekabate
Chairperson, ELRC

Date: 16 August 2012
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE 
EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Introduction

1. I have audited the fi nancial statements of the Education Labour Relations Council (ELRC) set out on pages 159 to 

176, which comprise the statement of fi nancial position as at 31 March 2012, the statement of fi nancial performance, 

statement of changes in net assets and the cash fl ow statement for the year then ended and the notes, comprising a 

summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the fi nancial statements

2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these fi nancial statements in 

accordance with South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) 

and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No.1 of 1999) (PFMA), and 

for such internal control as the accounting autority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of fi nancial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor-General’s responsibility 

3.  My responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on my audit. I conducted my audit in 

accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the General Notice issued in 

terms thereof and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements 

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are free from 

material misstatement. 

4.  An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 

auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial statements 

in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 

of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the fi nancial statements. 

5.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
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Opinion 

6.  In my opinion, the fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial position of the Education 

Labour Relations Council as at 31 March 2012, and its fi nancial performance and cash fl ows for the year then ended 

in accordance with SA Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

7.  In accordance with the PAA and the General Notice issued in terms thereof, I report the following fi ndings relevant to 

performance against predetermined objectives, compliance with laws and regulations and internal control, but not for 

the purpose of expressing an opinion. 

Predetermined objectives 

8. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the information in the annual 

performance report as set out on pages 26-143 of the annual report. 

9.  The reported performance against predetermined objectives was evaluated against the overall criteria of usefulness 

and reliability. The usefulness of information in the annual performance report relates to whether it is presented 

in accordance with the National Treasury annual reporting principles and whether the reported performance is 

consistent with the planned objectives. The usefulness of information further relates to whether indicators and targets 

are measurable (i.e. well defi ned, verifi able, specifi c, measurable and time bound) and relevant as required by the 

National Treasury Framework for managing programme performance information. 

 The reliability of the information in respect of the selected programmes is assessed to determine whether it adequately 

refl ects the facts (i.e. whether it is valid, accurate and complete). 

10.  There were no material fi ndings on the annual performance report concerning the usefulness and reliability of the 

information. 

Additional matter 

11.  I draw attention to the following matter below. This matter does not have an impact on the predetermined objectives 

audit fi ndings reported above.

Achievement of planned targets 

12.  As disclosed in the annual performance report, of the total number of planned targets, only 227 targets were achieved 

during the year under review. This represents 48% of total planned targets that were not achieved duringt the year 

under review. This was mainly due to the fat that indicators and targets were not suitably developed during the 

strategic planning process and the institution not considering relevant systems and evidential requirements during 

the annual strategic planning process.

Material adjustments to the annual performance report 

13.  Material misstatements in the annual performance report were identifi ed during the audit most of which were corrected 

by management.
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Compliance with laws and regulations 

14. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the entity has complied with applicable laws and regulations regarding 

fi nancial matters, fi nancial management and other related matters. My fi ndings on material non-compliance with 

specifi c matters in key applicable laws and regulations as set out in the General Notice issued in terms of the PAA 

are as follows:

Strategic planning and performance management 

15. The strategic plan of the public entity only included targets for a one-year period and did not include targets for a 

three-year period, which constitutes non-compliance with Treasury Regulation 30.1.3.

Audit committee 

16. The audit committee did not properly monitor the implementation of their recommendations that management should 

perform a regular risk assessment. As a result, such a regular risk assessment was not performed my management, 

which constitutes non-compliance with Treasury Regulation 27.2.1 and 17.1.8.

Procurement and contract management 

17. Goods and services of a transaction value above R500 000 were procured without inviting competitive bids as per 

the requirements of Treasury Regulation 16A.6.4 and Practice Note 8 of 2007/8, resulting in irregular expenditure.

18. Goods and services with a transaction value of between R10 000 and R500 000 were procured without obtaining 

written price quotations from at least three different prospective providers as per the requirements of Treasury 

Regulation 16A.6.1 and Practice Note 8 of 2007/8.

Expenditure management 

19. The public entity did not take effective and appropriate steps to prevent fruitless and wasteful expenditure as required 

by sections 51(1)(b) and 57(1)(c) of the PFMA respectively. 

Revenue management

20. The levy income not collected from the Further Education and Training colleges constitutes non-compliance in terms 

of the Founding Agreement dated 9 June 2009 section 4(11) to (18) and PFMA sections 51(1)(b)(i) and 51(2). 

Internal control 

21. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the fi nancial statements, annual performance report and 

compliance with laws and regulations. The matters reported below under the fundamentals of internal control are 

limited to the signifi cant defi ciencies that resulted in the fi ndings on the annual performance report and the fi ndings 

on compliance with laws and regulations included in this report. 
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Leadership 

22. Due to uncertainty and lack of understanding, management did not exercise suffi cient oversight over the drafting of 

the strategic plan in ocmpliance with the requirements of the PFMA and National Treasury Framework for managing 

programme performance information and has not established a performance information policy. As a result, signifi cant 

instances of inconsistencies between the planned and reported objectives, indicators and targets have occurred, 

which were subsequently corrected.

23. The public entity has not established a separate supply chain management (SCM) unit under the offi ce 

of the chief fi nancial offi cer, with the relevant skills and experience. As a result, numerous instances of 

irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure and non-compliance with SCM legislation have occurred.

Governance 

24.  The audit committee did not properly monitor the implementation of their recommendations that management should 

perform a regular risk assessment. As a result, the risks relating to the SCM and reporting of performance against 

predetermined objectives were not evaluated regularly and subsequently numerous instances of irregular, fruitless 

and wasteful expenditure, non-compliance with SCM regulations and inconsistencies in performance reporting 

against predetermined objectives have occurred. 

Pretoria 

30 July 2012
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EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

The Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No 1 of 1999), as amended, requires the Accounting Authority to ensure
that the Council keeps full and proper records of its fi nancial affairs. The annual fi nancial statements should fairly present 
the state of affairs of the Council, its fi nancial results, its performance against predetermined objectives and its fi nancial 
position at the end of the year in terms of Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP).

The fi nancial statements are the responsibility of the Accounting Authority. The Auditor General is responsible for 
independently auditing and reporting on the fi nancial statements. The Offi ce of the Auditor General has audited the fi nancial 
statements and the report appears on pages 155 to 158.

The fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the South African Statements of Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (GAAP) including any interpretations of such Statements issued by the Accounting Practices Board, 
with the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) issued by the Accounting Standards 
Board replacing the equivalent GAAP Statement. These fi nancial statements are based on appropriate accounting policies, 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Accounting Authority has reviewed the Council’s budget and cash fl ow forecasts for the year ended 31 March 2012. On 
the basis of this review, and in view of the current fi nancial position, the Accounting Authority has every reason to believe 
that the organisation will be a going concern in the year ahead and has continued to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the fi nancial statements.

The Accounting Authority sets standards to enable management to meet the above responsibilities by implementing systems 
of internal control and risk management that are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance against 
material misstatements and losses. The Council maintains internal fi nancial controls to provide assurance regarding:
1.  The safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use or disposition
2.  The maintenance of proper accounting records and the reliability of fi nancial information used within the business or for 

publication.

The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct defi ciencies as they are identifi ed. Even 
an effective system of internal control, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, including the possibility of 
circumvention or the overriding of controls. An effective system of internal control therefore aims to provide reasonable 
assurance with respect to the reliability of fi nancial information and, in particular, fi nancial statements presentation. 
Furthermore, because of change in conditions, the effectiveness of internal controls may vary over time.

The Accounting Authority has reviewed the Council’s system of internal control and risk management for the period 
01 April 2011 to 31 March 2012. The Accounting Authority is of the opinion that the Council’s system of internal control and 
risk management were effective for the period under review.

In the opinion of the Accounting Authority, based on the information available to date, the fi nancial statements fairly present 
the fi nancial position of the Council at 31 March 2012 and the results of its operations and cash fl ow information for 
the year.

The annual fi nancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012, set out on pages 159 to 176, were submitted for 
auditing on 31 May 2012 in terms of section 51 (1) (f) of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) as 
amended and are signed on its behalf by:

M Govender  M J Moshakga
General Secretary  Chief Financial Offi cer
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EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

The Accounting Authority presents its report that forms part of the audited Annual Financial Statements of the ELRC for 
the year ended 31 March 2012.

1.  Principal Activities of the ELRC

The primary business of the Council is to promote the maintenance of labour peace in the public education sector through 
the provisioning of dispute resolution (and prevention) services. To this end grievances and disputes of educators and 
offi cials are resolved through conciliation and / or arbitration. The secondary business of the Council is to promote the 
maintenance of labour peace in the public education sector through the provisioning of consultation and negotiations 
between trade unions and the state as the employer as represented by the Department of Basic Education.

2.  Review of operations

The operating results for the year were pleasing and in line with operational plans.

a) Revenue
Revenue consists of levies received. The amount of revenue disclosed in the annual fi nancial statements is R 49,692,528 
(2011: R 49,421,985). The actual levies received have increased by R 270,543 an increase of 0.6%.

b) Operating Surplus/(Defi cit)
The amount of operating (defi cit) surplus is R 1,755,306 [2011: (R 803,922)].

3.  Events subsequent to Statement of Financial Position date

The Accounting Authority is not aware of any matter or circumstances arising since the end of the fi nancial year, not 
otherwise dealt with in the report or annual fi nancial statements that would affect the results of the operations of the ELRC 
signifi cantly.

4.  Accounting Authority’s interest in contracts

No contracts involving the Accounting Authority’s interest were entered into, on behalf of the council, in the current fi nancial 
year.

5.  Approval by Accounting Authority

The Accounting Offi cer shall present this report to the Accounting Authority at its Annual General Meeting on 16 August 
2012 for its approval.

Accounting Authority  
D Sekabate
(Chairperson) 

Date: 16 August 2012
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EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

Managing Snr Commissioner
Dispute Resolution Services

Mr F Hugo
Level 13
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EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2012
Figures in Rand Notes 2012 2011

ASSETS

Current Assets
Operating lease asset 4 - 44 964
Trade and other receivables 5 537 350 446 536
Cash and cash equivalents 6 95 814 355 81 629 196

96 351 705 82 120 696

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 2 7 071 232 7 505 605
Intangible assets 3 285 948 311 414

7 357 180 7 817 019
Total Assets 103 708 885 89 937 715

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Operating lease liability 4 69 939 -
Trade and other payables 8 46 047 760 39 194 997
Provisions 7 825 021 223 465

46 942 720 39 418 462
Total Liabilities 46 942 720 39 418 462
Net Assets 56 766 165 50 519 253

NET ASSETS
Funds
Building reserve fund 7 185 918 7 185 918
Capital reserve fund 1 376 649 1 376 649
Dispute resolution fund 1 644 530 1 644 530
Training & development and research 3 382 538 3 382 538
Current Funds 43 176 530 36 929 618
Total Net Assets 56 766 165 50 519 253
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EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
Figures in Rand Notes 2012 2011

Levies 9 49 692 528 49 421 985
Operating expenses (25 983 064) (30 007 968)
Arbitration and mediation (6 444 430) (5 592 715)
Staff cost (15 509 728) (14 625 224)
Operating surplus (deficit) 10 1 755 306 (803 922)
Interest income 11 4 491 607 4 365 407
Surplus for the year 6 246 913 3 561 485
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EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
Figures in Rand Notes 2012 2011

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts
Levies 49 684 433 49 421 985
Investment income 4 491 607 4 365 407

54 176 040 53 787 392

Payments
Employee costs (15 127 615) (14 625 224)
Suppliers (24 485 163) (29 586 577)

(39 612 778) (44 211 801)

Net cash flows from operating activities 14 14 563 262 9 575 591

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 2 (338 304) (862 854)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2 21 866 58 782
Purchase of other intangible assets 3 (61 666) (94 176)

Net cash flows from investing activities (378 104) (898 248)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 14 185 158 8 677 343
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 81 629 196 72 951 853

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 6 95 814 354 81 629 196
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EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Presentation of Annual Financial Statements

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards
Board.

These annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with
historical cost convention unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South African Rand.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used during more than
one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity; and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade
discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Useful life
Buildings 25 years
Furniture and fittings 10 years
Motor vehicles 7 years
Office equipment 8 years
Computer equipment 8 years
Other fixed assets 8 years

The residual value, and the useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting
date. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further
economic benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit
when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.2 Intangible assets

An asset is identified as an intangible asset when it:
is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged,
either individually or together with a related contract, assets or liability; or
arises from contractual rights or other legal rights, regardless whether those rights are transferable or separate
from the entity or from other rights and obligations.

An intangible asset is recognised when:
it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset will
flow to the entity; and
the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item Useful life
Computer software 8 years

Intangible assets are derecognised:
on disposal; or
when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss is the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount. It is recognised in the
statement of financial performance when the asset is derecognised.

1.3 Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the ELRC becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

The entity classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial
liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not
determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

Subsequent measurement

Financial instruments at fair value through the statement of financial performance are subsequently measured at fair value,
with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value being included in the statement of financial performance for the
period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.3 Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

At each end of the reporting period the entity assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through the
statement of financial performance, to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the entity, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
and default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of financial performance.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset's recoverable amount can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the financial
asset at the date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in the statement of financial performance except for equity investments
classified as available-for-sale.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the
statement of financial performance when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or
delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The
allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These
are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

1.4 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease
is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

When a lease includes both land and buildings elements, the entity assesses the classification of each element separately.

Operating leases - lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset
or liability.

1.5 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when:
the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to
settle the obligation; and
a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present obligation at
the reporting date.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.5 Provisions  (continued)

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed if it
is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required, to
settle the obligation.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision was originally recognised.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits.

1.6 Revenue

The levy income is recognised when it is probable that future economic benefit will flow to the ELRC and these benefits can
be measured reliably. This occurs when the department of basic education (DBE) either makes a payment to the ELRC or
when the money is due as per collective agreement section 4(1)(b).

Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal outstanding and the effective interest
rate over the period to maturity.

1.7 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable
care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of
the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance. 

1.8 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in
contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, including - 

(a) this Act; or
(b) the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or
(c) any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government.



E
LR

C
 2011/12 A

nnual R
eport

Page 170

EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2012
Figures in Rand 2012 2011

2. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2012 2011
Cost /

Valuation
Accumulated
depreciation

and
accumulated
impairment

Carrying value Cost /
Valuation

Accumulated
depreciation

and
accumulated
impairment

Carrying value

Land 1 000 000 - 1 000 000 1 000 000 - 1 000 000
Buildings 8 729 657 (4 335 792) 4 393 865 8 729 657 (3 982 030) 4 747 627
Furniture and fittings 2 212 059 (2 034 236) 177 823 2 173 975 (1 958 060) 215 915
Motor vehicles 151 421 (151 421) - 151 422 (151 422) -
Office equipment 2 322 538 (1 947 222) 375 316 2 315 236 (1 881 619) 433 617
Computer equipment 3 107 003 (1 999 717) 1 107 286 2 925 270 (1 836 907) 1 088 363
Other fixed assets 167 509 (150 567) 16 942 167 513 (147 430) 20 083
Total 17 690 187 (10 618 955) 7 071 232 17 463 073 (9 957 468) 7 505 605

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2012

Opening
balance

Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Total

Land 1 000 000 - - - - 1 000 000
Buildings 4 747 627 - - - (353 762) 4 393 865
Furniture and fittings 215 915 47 483 - - (85 575) 177 823
Office equipment 433 617 8 998 (422) - (66 877) 375 316
Computer equipment 1 088 363 281 823 (24 134) 10 763 (249 529) 1 107 286
Other fixed assets 20 083 - - - (3 141) 16 942

7 505 605 338 304 (24 556) 10 763 (758 884) 7 071 232

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2011

Opening
balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Land 1 000 000 - - - 1 000 000
Buildings 4 928 932 216 582 (28 603) (369 284) 4 747 627
Furniture and fittings 201 562 82 230 - (67 877) 215 915
Office equipment 190 017 296 376 - (52 776) 433 617
Computer equipment 1 114 583 267 666 (57 401) (236 485) 1 088 363
Other fixed assets 23 221 - - (3 138) 20 083

7 458 315 862 854 (86 004) (729 560) 7 505 605

Land

Erf 62, die Hoewes extension 26 township, Registration Division

J. R., province of Gauteng, in extent 3019 square metres.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2012
Figures in Rand 2012 2011

3. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2012 2011
Cost /

Valuation
Accumulated
amortisation

and
accumulated
impairment

Carrying value Cost /
Valuation

Accumulated
amortisation

and
accumulated
impairment

Carrying value

Computer software 783 495 (497 547) 285 948 734 430 (423 016) 311 414

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2012

Opening
balance

Additions Transfers Amortisation Total

Computer software 311 414 61 666 (10 763) (76 369) 285 948

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2011

Opening
balance

Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software 283 042 94 176 (65 804) 311 414

4. OPERATING LEASES

Current assets - 44 964
Current liabilities (69 939) -

(69 939) 44 964

The Operating lease asset (liability) of (R 69 939) [2011: R 44 964] is the difference between actual payments and straight -
lining as recognised in the statement of financial performance. 

Operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

    Up to 1 year - R 549 268
    2 to 5 years  - R 544 255

The ELRC leases a number of premises for office use under operating leases. The leases typically run for a period of 3 - 5
years, with an option to renew the lease after the expiry date. Lease payments are increased on an annual basis as per the
rental agreement.

During the year an amount of R 998 928 (2011: R 693 092) was recognised as an expense in the statement of financial
perfrmance in respect of operating leases.

5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

Sundry debtors 330 719 244 938
Provision for doubtful debts - Sundry debtors (89 839) (93 549)
Prepayments 225 058 231 878
Rental Deposits 41 590 41 590
Receivable FETC levies 356 020 241 070
Provision for doubtful debts - FETC levies (356 020) (241 070)
Investment interest accrued 29 822 21 679

537 350 446 536

The receivables are unencumbered.

Sundry debtors include amounts which have been impaired and considered irrecoverable. An appropriate allowance for
estimated irrecoverable amounts has been raised under provision for doubtful debts - sundry debtors R 89 838
(2011 : R 93 549).
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2012
Figures in Rand 2012 2011

5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  (continued)

Receivable FETC levies relate to levies not deducted from the contributors salaries and there is no prospect of applying the
deductions retrospectively, these amounts have been impaired and are considered irrecoverable. An appropriate allowance
for estimated irrecoverable amounts has been raised under provision for doubtful debts - FETC levies R 356 020
(2011 : R 241 070).

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Current account and cash 13 226 909 11 195 849
Call deposits 82 587 446 70 433 347

95 814 355 81 629 196

7. PROVISIONS

Reconciliation of provisions - 2012

Opening
Balance

Additions Utilised
during the

year

Total

Other provisions 223 465 605 418 (3 862) 825 021

Reconciliation of provisions - 2011

Opening
Balance

Additions Total

Other provisions - 223 465 223 465

Other provisions comprise of travel and accommodation charges to be claimed for services rendered by a party to council
but for which claims have not been received. A reliable estimate is made based on the number of meetings attended.

8. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Trade payables 14 256 644 4 114 241
Accruals 30 207 106 31 260 496
National Teaching Awards 1 584 010 3 820 260

46 047 760 39 194 997

 ~ Accruals comprise of amounts for which services have been rendered but for which invoices were received after year
end.

9. REVENUE

Levies 49 692 528 49 421 985

Total levies received for the period

Levies 49 692 528 49 421 985

Average number of educators is 414,104 (2011: 411,850). 

Contribution from the employee is R5 per month.
Contribution from the employer is R5 per month.

All levies received bear no credit risk and are paid from salary deductions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2012
Figures in Rand 2012 2011

10. OPERATING SURPLUS (DEFICIT)

Operating surplus (deficit) for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Rentals
Premises

Office buildings 998 928 693 092

Loss on disposal of fixed assets (2 690) (27 222)
Depreciation and amortisation 835 251 795 364
Staff costs 15 509 728 14 625 224

11. INTEREST INCOME

          
Investment interest 4 154 099 4 208 415
Other interest 337 508 156 992

4 491 607 4 365 407

12. TAXATION

The Council is exempt from the payment of income tax in terms of section 10(1) (CA) (I) of the Income Tax Act, No. 58 of
1962. 

13. AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

Fees - Statutory audit 1 047 020 662 099

14. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

Surplus 6 246 913 3 561 485
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 835 251 795 364
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 2 690 27 222
Bad debts written-off 136 256 -
Movements in operating lease 114 903 (70 865)
Movements in provisions 601 556 223 465
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables (90 814) 56 223
Bad debts written-off (136 256) -
Trade and other payables 6 852 763 4 982 697

14 563 262 9 575 591

15. RELATED PARTIES
`

Relationships

Transactions with Public Entities within the national sphere of
government

Telkom

Transactions with Public Entities within the national sphere of
government

South African Revenue Services

Related party transactions

Expenditure from (sales to) related parties
Telkom 523 643 513 903
South African Revenue Services 3 578 366 3 383 323
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2012
Figures in Rand 2012 2011

19. FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE

Non-attendance of training and meetings by Parties 42 235 97 454
  Travel and accommodation not cancelled 7 435 15 985

Arbitration hearings not cancelled 11 500 3 000
Lost access cards - 513
SARS late payment 24 882 -
Unused 3G cards 1 289 -

87 341 116 952

Management continues to review the controls to minimise these costs.

20. IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE

Opening balance 2 505 559 -
Expenditure incurred over R 500 000 882 752 1 096 076
Expenditure incurred whithout required quotations 382 645 1 409 483
Less: Amounts condoned (1 096 076) -
Less: Amounts not recoverable (not condoned) (1 409 483) -

1 265 397 2 505 559

Analysis of expenditure awaiting condonation per age classification

Current year 1 265 397 2 505 559
Prior years 1 409 483 -

2 674 880 2 505 559

Details of irregular expenditure
Disciplinary steps taken/criminal proceedings

Contravention of TR16.A.6.4

Irregular expenditure incurred as a result of
procuring goods or services by means other than
through competitive bids and where reasons for
deviating from inviting competitive bids have not
been recorded and approved by the accounting
officer or accounting authority by 31 March 2012.

None taken to date of report 882 752

Details of irregular expenditure
Contravention of TR16.A.6.1

Goods and services were procured without the
required number of price quotations, as
determined by the National Treasury.

None taken to date of report 382 645

Details of irregular expenditure not recoverable (not condoned)

Expenditure incurred over R 500 000 882 752
Expenditure incurred without required quotations 1 792 128

2 674 880

Subsequent to date of report, irregular expenditure will be submitted to the accounting authority for condonement during the
first quarter of 2012/13 financial year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2012
Figures in Rand 2012 2011

21. RECONCILIATION BETWEEN BUDGET AND STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Reconciliation of budget with the surplus in the statement of financial performance:

Net surplus per the statement of financial performance 6 246 913 3 561 485
Adjusted for:
Increases in Income (2 224 136) (7 227 392)
Decrease in Transfer from Reserve Funds 17 659 187 18 120 332
Increases/ (Decrease) in Dispute Resolution and support services (1 131 039) (1 502 819)
Increases/ (Decrease) in Collective Bargaining (10 604 484) (6 759 289)
Increases/ (Decrease) in Executive Services (8 350 521) (179 200)
Increases/ (Decrease) in Corporate Services (1 595 920) (1 013 117)
Decrease in Capital expenditure - (5 000 000)
Net surplus per approved budget - -

22. STATEMENT OF COMPARATIVE AND ACTUAL INFORMATION

2012

Budgeted
amounts

Actual
amounts

Variances

Financial Performance

Levies 48 960 000 49 692 528 (732 528)
Interest income 3 000 000 4 491 607 (1 491 607)
Total revenue (excluding capital transfers and contributions) 51 960 000 54 184 135 (2 224 135)
Employee costs (23 065 872) (15 509 728) (7 556 144)
Bad Debts written-off - (136 256) 136 256
Depreciation and amortisation (1 070 000) (835 251) (234 749)
Other expenditure (27 824 128) (31 455 987) 3 631 859
Total expenditure (51 960 000) (47 937 222) (4 022 778)
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year - 6 246 913 (6 246 913)



E
LR

C
 2

01
1/

12
 A

nn
ua

l R
ep

or
t

Page 177

EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012
Figures in Rand Note(s) 2012 2011

REVENUE
Levies 49 692 528 49 421 985

Other income
Investment income 11 4 491 607 4 365 407

EXPENDITURE
Advertising & Recruitment 209 154 241 502
Arbitration and mediation 6 444 430 5 592 715
Auditors fees 13 1 047 020 662 099
Bad debts written-off 136 256 -
Bank charges 45 395 45 938
Cleaning and sanitation 89 278 84 449
Dispute Prevention Support 9 366 450 11 654 810
Legal expenses 515 666 337 107
Consulting fees 94 210 732 216
Office expenses 255 185 250 310
Quality Learning and Teaching Campaign 151 011 1 035 886
Teacher Development Summit - 708 752
Fines and penalties 24 882 -
Training and Development Services 3 103 128 1 532 392
Provincial chambers 470 453 277 960
Insurance 294 018 288 144
Meetings 3 207 543 2 968 950
Implementation of Acts and Agreements 213 222 430 681
Electronic media 453 208 346 494
Rental 998 928 693 092
Transcriptions 19 350 42 485
Motor vehicle expenses 54 096 56 112
Teacher Laptop Initiative 199 630 1 499 265
Printing and publications 330 815 370 298
Stationery 167 049 105 897
Internal Audit Fees 350 175 448 308
Repairs and maintenance 332 464 447 442
Research and Development 630 051 1 433 671
Security 384 345 168 176
HR Expenses 34 544 108 284
Subscriptions 128 894 110 217
Telecommunication costs and postal fees 774 556 750 143
Staff training 252 663 135 147
Travelling costs 159 556 385 072
Meals and accommodation 33 909 70 396
Water and electricity 617 886 637 506
Sundry 133 1 544
Skills development levy - 120 419
Relocation costs - 4 218
Staff cost 15 509 728 14 625 224
Depreciation and amortisation 835 251 795 364
Loss on disposal of assets 2 690 27 222

47 937 222 50 225 907

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 6 246 913 3 561 485
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Head offi ce

Physical Address: Postal Address:

ELRC Building  Education Labour Relations Council
261 West Avenue  Private Bag X126
Centurion  Centurion
 0046
Tel: (012) 663 7446
Fax: (012) 663 9604
E-mail: admin.offi ce@elrc.co.za
Website: www.elrc.org.za

Executive Services
General Secretary / Accounting Offi cer  Human Resource Manager 

Tel: (012) 663 0432 Tel:  (012) 663 0462
Fax: (012) 663 9599 Fax:  (012) 663 9604
E-mail: gen.sec@elrc.co.za E-mail: hrm@elrc.co.za

Executive Support and Client Liaison CIRA Media Offi cer

Tel: (012) 663 0432 Tel: (012) 663 0479
Fax:  (012) 663 9599 Fax: (012) 663 9604
E-mail: exe.sclo@elrc.co.za Email: media.pro@elrc.co.za

Chief Financial Offi cer Receptionist

Tel:  (012) 663 0449 Tel:  (012) 663 7446
Fax:  (012) 663 9604 Fax:  (012) 663 9604
E-mail: cfo@elrc.co.za E-mail: admin.offi ce@elrc.co.za
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Collective Bargaining Services 
Senior Manager: Collective Bargaining Services  
Tel: (012) 663 0440
Fax: 086 692 0871
E-mail: hod.neg@elrc.co.za

Manager: FETC Services

Tel: (012) 663 0441
Fax: 086 692 0871
Email: neg.sol@elrc.co.za
 
Manager: Basic Education Services

Tel:  (012) 663 0457
Fax:  086 692 0871
E-mail: neg.amg@elrc.co.za

Dispute Resolution Services 
Managing Senior Commissioner 

Tel:  (012) 663 0433
Fax:  (012) 663 1601
Email: msc@elrc.co.za
 
Registrar

Tel:  (012) 663 0433
Fax:  (012) 663 1601
Email: registrar.drs@elrc.co.za
 
Senior Offi ce Administrator

Tel: (012) 663 0443
Fax: (012) 643 1601
E-mail: cm02.drs@elrc.co.za 
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Corporate Services  

Senior Manager: Corporate Services 

Tel: (012) 663 0448
Fax: (012) 663 9604
E-mail: corporate.hod@elrc.co.za

Manager – Finance 

Tel:  (012) 663 0444
Fax:  (012) 663 9604
E-mail: fi nance.man@elrc.co.za

Manager – Administration 

Tel:  (012) 663 0435
Fax:  (012) 663 9604
E-mail: corporate.amg@elrc.co.za

Assistant Manager – Administration

Tel: (012) 663 0476
Fax: (012) 663 9604
E-mail: admin.services@elrc.co.za
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CONTACT DETAILS OF PROVINCIAL OFFICES 

Eastern Cape 
Address: Bisho Business Village
Block A, Unit 2
Siswani Avenue 
Bisho
5605
Tel: 040 639 3535 
Fax:  040 636 3562

Mpumalanga  
Address: 17 Samora Machel Drive  
Offi ce No. 202
2nd Floor, Old Mutual Building
Nelspruit
1200 
Tel: 013 755 3404
Fax: 013 752 6769

Free State
Address: 131 Zastron Street 
Beljac Building
Offi ce 201
Bloemfontein 
9300
Tel: 051 430 8927
Fax: 051 430 5803

Northern Cape
Address: 95 Du Toit Span Building 
Suite 13  
Du Toit Span Road
Kimberley
8300
Tel: 053 832 0247
Fax: 053 832 0248

Gauteng
Address: No. 32 Von Brandis Street
4th Floor
Johannesburg
2000
Tel: 011 331 0062/4
Fax: 011 331 0061

North West
Address: 134 Beyers Naude Street
1st Floor, Mimosa Building
Protea Park
Rustenburg
0300
Tel: 014 592 0085
Fax: 014 594 0085

KwaZulu-Natal  
Address: Thekwini FET College
1st Floor, 262 Daintree Avenue
Asherville
4091
Tel: 031 208 7065
Fax: 031 208 2372

Western Cape 
Address: 85 Kasselsvlei Road
Bellville
7500 
Tel: 021 951 4704
Fax:  021 951 5878

Limpopo 
Address: 49 Landros Mare Street
Standard Bank Building 
Suite 3005
Polokwane
0700
Tel: 015 291 1460/56
Fax:  015 295 3090
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 GLOSSARY

AATO  All Africa Teachers’ Organisation

ABET  Adult Basic Education and Training

ABCUSD ABC Unifi ed School District 

ACE  Advanced Certifi cate in Education

AFT  African Federation of Teachers

API  Academic Performance Index 

BCEA  Basic Conditions of Employment Act

CA  Collective Agreement

CB  Collective Bargaining

CCMA  Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration

CDC  Centres for Disease Control

CEPD  Centre for Education Policy Development

CFO  Chief Financial Offi cer

CIRA  Communication, Information, Reporting, and Accounting

COSATU Congress of South African Trades Unions

CS  Corporate Services

CSI   Center of School Improvement 

CTPA  Cape Teachers Professional Association

CTU  Combined Trade Unions

DBE  Department of Basic Education

DG  Director General

DR  Dispute Resolution

DHAC  Durban Housing Action Committee

DHET  Department of Higher Education and Training

DoE  Department of Education

DoL  Department of Labour

DTC  Departmental Training Committee

EC  Eastern Cape

ECD  Early Childhood Development

EDSC  Education Development and Support Centre

EE  Employment Equity

EI  Education International

ELRC  Education Labour Relations Council

EMDC  Education Management and Development Centre

EMIS  Education Management Information Systems

ETDP SETA Education, Training and Development Practices Sector Education and Training Authority

ER&D   Educational Research and Dissemination 

EXCO  ELRC Executive Committee

FETC  Further Education and Training Colleges

FETCBU  Further Education and Training Colleges Bargaining Unit
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FET  Further Education and Training

FS  Free State

FTE  Full Time Equivalent

FTSS  Full-time Shop Steward

GDE  Gauteng Department of Education

GET  General Education and Training

GG  Government Gazette

GP  Gauteng Province

GPLS  Gauteng Primary Literacy Strategy

HEIs  Higher Education Institutions

HOD  Head of Department

HOSPERSA Health and Other Service Personnel Trade Union Of South Africa

HSRC  Human Sciences Research Council

IDSO  Institutional Development and Support Offi cials

IEC  Information Education Communication

IIRA  International Industrial Relations Association

IRASA  Industrial Relations Association of South Africa

IQMS  Integrated Quality Management Systems 

ISC  Institution Support Co-ordinators

JSS  Junior Secondary School

KPA  Key Performance Area

KZN  KwaZulu Natal

LP  Limpopo

LRA  Labour Relations Act

LSEN  Learners with Special Education Needs

LTSM  Learning and Teaching Support Material

MEC  Member of the Executive Council 

MoU  Memorandum of Understanding 

MP  Mpumalanga

MTEF  Medium Term Expenditure Framework

NAPTOSA National Professional Teachers Organisation of South Africa

NATU  National Teachers Union

NC  Northern Cape

NCCSR National Conference on Collaborative School Reform 

NCED  Northern Cape Education Department

NCS  National Curriculum Statement

NPDE  National Professional Diploma in Education

NQF  National Qualifi cations Framework

NTA  National Teaching Awards

NTEDC National Teacher Education and Development Committee

NW  North West Province

OSD  Occupation Specifi c Dispensation

PAL  Partnership with Administration and Labor 
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PAM  Personnel Administrative Measures

PASS  Peer Assistance and Support System

PCTA  Prevention, Care, Treatment and Access

PED  Provincial Education Department

PELRC Provincial Education Labour Relations Council

PEPFAR US President’s Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief

PEU  Professional Educators Union 

PFMA  Public Finance Management Act

PM  Primary School

PMDS  Performance Management Development System

PILIR  Policy on Incapacity Leave and Ill-Health Retirement

PPN  Post Provisioning Norms

PSA  Public Servants Association

PSCBC Public Service Coordinating Bargaining Council

PTU  Progressive Teachers Union

QLTC  Quality Learning and Teaching Campaign

RBP  Relationship Building Process

SACE  South African Council of Educators

SADTU South African Democratic Teachers Union

SAOU  Suid-Afrikaanse Onderwysersunie

SATO  Southern Africa Teachers Organisation

SGB  School Governing Body

SME  Small to Medium sized Enterprise

SPS  Senior Primary School

SS  Shop Stewards

SSS  Senior Secondary School

TD  Teacher Development

TLI  Teacher Laptop Initiative 

TSUD  Teacher Supply, Utilisation and Development

UNISA  University of South Africa

VSP  Voluntary Severance Package

WC  Western Cape

WSP  Workplace Skills Plan

WSE  Whole School Evaluation

WCED  Western Cape Education Department
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 Notes
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